

Municipal Secondary Market Disclosure Information Cover Sheet Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (MSRB) Electronic Municipal Market Access System (EMMA)

Additional / Voluntary Disclosure Financial / Operating Data

THIS FILING RELATES TO A SINGLE BOND ISSUE:
Issuer's Name: Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation (COFINA)
Name of bond issue: \$151,582,099.55 RESTRUCTURED SALES TAX BONDS, SERIES 2019B
Nine-digit CUSIP number(s): 74529JQJ7, 74529JQK4, 74529JQL2, 74529JQM0, 74529JQR9, 74529JQS7, 74529JQT5, 74529JQU2, 74529JQV0, 74529JQW8, 74529JQX6, 74529JQN8, 74529JQP3, 74529JQQ1.
THIS FILING RELATES TO ALL OR SEVERAL SECURITIES ISSUED BY THE ISSUER, OR ALL OR SEVERAL SECURITIES OF A SPECIFIC CREDITOR:
Issuer's Name:
Other Obligated Person's Name (if any):
Nine-digit CUSIP number(s):
TYPE OF INFORMATION PROVIDED:
A. Quarterly / Monthly Financial Information
B. Change in Fiscal Year / Timing of Annual Disclosure
C. Change in Accounting Standard
D. Interim / Additional Financial Information / Operating Data
E. Budget
F. Investment / Debt / Financial Policy
G. Information Provided to Rating Agency, Credit / Liquidity Provider or Other Third Party
H. Consultant Reports
I. Other Financial / Operating Data: Information regarding COFINA's Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B
I represent that I am authorized by the issuer, obligor or its agent to distribute this information publicly.
/s/ Sebastián M. Torres Rodríguez
Sebastián M. Torres Rodríguez
Puerto Rico Fiscal Agency and Financial Advisory Authority,
as Fiscal Agent for the Commonwealth
Dated: March 8, 2019





GOVERNMENT OF PUERTO RICO

Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation

\$151,582,099.55 RESTRUCTURED SALES TAX BONDS, SERIES 2019B

consisting of

Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds

	Principal	Interest	
Year	Amount	Rate	CUSIP [†]
2034	\$ 4,743,000	4.500%	74529JQJ7
2040	2,402,000	4.550	74529JQK4
2053	17,619,000	4.750	74529JQL2
2058	44,554,000	5.000	74529JQM0

Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds

	Initial		Accrual/Accretion	
Maturity	Accreted Value	Maturity Value*	Rate	CUSIP†
2024	\$ 2,109,895.26	\$ 2,706,000.00	4.250%	74529JQR9
2027	3,114,981.06	4,582,000.00	4.375	74529JQS7
2029	2,784,372.36	4,466,000.00	4.375	74529JQT5
2031	3,238,971.55	5,755,000.00	4.500	74529JQU2
2033	3,334,877.76	6,477,000.00	4.500	74529JQV0
2046	14,023,070.56	61,648,000.00	5.375	74529JQW8
2051	8,087,931.00	50,220,000.00	5.625	74529JQX6

Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds

Year	Principal Amount	Interest Rate	CUSIP†
2040	\$35,156,000	4.550%	74529JQN8
2053	723,000	4.750	74529JQP3
2058	9,691,000	5.000	74529JQQ1

^{*} Maturity Value" reflects Accreted Value at maturity if no Accreted Value Payments are made prior to stated maturity.

CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein is provided by CUSIP Global Services, managed by S&P Capital IQ on behalf of The American Bankers Association. This information is not intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CUSIP Services Bureau. CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an independent company not affiliated with the Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation (the "Corporation") and are included solely for the convenience of the registered owners of the applicable Bonds. The Corporation is not responsible for the selection or uses of these CUSIP numbers and makes no representation as to their correctness on the applicable Bonds or as included herein. The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject to being changed after the issuance of the Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions including, but not limited to, a refunding in whole or in part or as a result of the procurement of secondary market portfolio insurance or other similar enhancement by investors that is applicable to all or a portion of certain maturities of the Bonds.

Puerto Rico Restructured Sales Tax Bonds Distribution: Series 2019A and Series 2019B

Series	CUSIP	Туре	Tax-Status	Maturity (7/1)	Coupon / Accretion Yield	Initial Par Amount	Maturity Value
Series 2019A-1	74529JPU3	Current Interest Bond	Tax-Exempt	2034	4.500%	\$370,347,000	\$370,347,000
Series 2019A-1	74529JPV1	Current Interest Bond	Tax-Exempt	2040	4.550%	187,553,000	187,553,000
Series 2019A-1	74529JPW9	Current Interest Bond	Tax-Exempt	2053	4.750%	1,375,772,000	1,375,772,000
Series 2019A-1	74529JPX7	Current Interest Bond	Tax-Exempt	2058	5.000%	3,479,051,000	3,479,051,000
Series 2019A-2	74529JPY5	Current Interest Bond	•	2040	4.550%	1,905,085,000	1,905,085,000
Series 2019A-2	74529JQY4	Current Interest Bond	*	2040	4.550%	865,919,000	865,919,000
Series 2019A-2	74529JPZ2	Current Interest Bond	*	2053	4.750%	57,021,000	57,021,000
Series 2019A-2	74529JQA6	Current Interest Bond	*	2058	5.000%	763,784,000	763,784,000
Series 2019A-1	74529JQB4	Capital Appreciation Bond	Tax-Exempt	2024	4.250%	164,709,059	211,244,000
Series 2019A-1	74529JQC2	Capital Appreciation Bond	Tax-Exempt	2027	4.375%	243,231,617	357,783,000
Series 2019A-1	74529JQD0	Capital Appreciation Bond	Tax-Exempt	2029	4.375%	217,406,113	348,709,000
Series 2019A-1	74529JQE8	Capital Appreciation Bond	Tax-Exempt	2031	4.500%	252,924,000	449,395,000
Series 2019A-1	74529JQF5	Capital Appreciation Bond	Tax-Exempt	2033	4.500%	260,417,551	505,783,000
Series 2019A-1	74529JQG3	Capital Appreciation Bond	Tax-Exempt	2046	5.375%	1,094,968,245	4,813,682,000
Series 2019A-1	74529JQH1	Capital Appreciation Bond	Tax-Exempt	2051	5.625%	631,551,133	3,921,460,000
Series 2019B-1	74529JQJ7	Current Interest Bond	Tax-Exempt	2034	4.500%	4,743,000	4,743,000
Series 2019B-1	74529JQK4	Current Interest Bond	Tax-Exempt	2040	4.550%	2,402,000	2,402,000
Series 2019B-1	74529JQL2	Current Interest Bond	Tax-Exempt	2053	4.750%	17,619,000	17,619,000
Series 2019B-1	74529JQM0	Current Interest Bond	Tax-Exempt	2058	5.000%	44,554,000	44,554,000
Series 2019B-2	74529JQN8	Current Interest Bond	*	2040	4.550%	35,156,000	35,156,000
Series 2019B-2	74529JQP3	Current Interest Bond	*	2053	4.750%	723,000	723,000
Series 2019B-2	74529JQQ1	Current Interest Bond	*	2058	5.000%	9,691,000	9,691,000
Series 2019B-1	74529JQR9	Capital Appreciation Bond	Tax-Exempt	2024	4.250%	2,109,895	2,706,000
Series 2019B-1	74529JQS7	Capital Appreciation Bond	Tax-Exempt	2027	4.375%	3,114,981	4,582,000
Series 2019B-1	74529JQT5	Capital Appreciation Bond	Tax-Exempt	2029	4.375%	2,784,372	4,466,000
Series 2019B-1	74529JQU2	Capital Appreciation Bond	Tax-Exempt	2031	4.500%	3,238,972	5,755,000
Series 2019B-1	74529JQV0	Capital Appreciation Bond	Tax-Exempt	2033	4.500%	3,334,878	6,477,000
Series 2019B-1	74529JQW8	Capital Appreciation Bond	Tax-Exempt	2046	5.375%	14,023,071	61,648,000
Series 2019B-1	74529JQX6	Capital Appreciation Bond	Tax-Exempt	2051	5.625%	8,087,931	50,220,000

Summary	Initial Par Amount	Maturity Value
Aggregate	\$12,021,321,817	\$19,863,330,000
Series 2019A	\$11,869,739,718	\$19,612,588,000
Current Interest Bonds	9,004,532,000	9,004,532,000
A-1	5,412,723,000	5,412,723,000
A-2	3,591,809,000	3,591,809,000
Capital Appreciation Bonds	2,865,207,718	10,608,056,000
Series 2019B	\$151,582,100	\$250,742,000
Current Interest Bonds	114,888,000	114,888,000
B-1	69,318,000	69,318,000
B-2	45,570,000	45,570,000
Capital Appreciation Bonds	36,694,100	135,854,000

Source: COFINA First and Second Supplemental Indentures; Citi

^{*} No opinion was delivered on the Effective Date with respect to the treatment for federal income tax purposes with respect to these bonds. A copy of the approving opinion of Nixon Peabody LLP is attached hereto as Exhibit C.

GENERAL

On February 12, 2019, the Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation (the "Corporation") issued (i) \$69,318,000.00 of its Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B-1 as current interest bonds (the "Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds"), (ii) \$36,694,099.55 of its Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B-1 as capital appreciation bonds (the "Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds") and (iii) its \$45,570,000 Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B-2 as current interest bonds (the "Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds" and together with the Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds, the "Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds") pursuant to the Master Indenture of Trust, dated as of February 12, 2019, by and between the Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (the "Trustee") (the "Master Indenture"), as supplemented by the Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 12, 2019, by and between the Corporation and the Trustee (the "Second Supplement Indenture" and, together with the Master Indenture, the "Indentures"). Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Indentures.

The Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds and Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds are initially being held by Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. Pursuant to an agreement to remarket, the Corporation and Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. agreed to remarket the Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds and Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds.

The execution version of the Master Indenture is attached hereto as Exhibit A and the execution version of the Second Supplemental Indenture is attached hereto as Exhibit B. The form of the approving opinion of Nixon Peabody LLP, as transaction counsel, is attached hereto as Exhibit C.

SERIES 2019B-1 CURRENT INTEREST BONDS

Interest Payments.

The Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds shall bear interest from August 1, 2018 until paid (whether at maturity, prior redemption or after maturity following payment default by the Corporation), payable on the Effective Date and semiannually thereafter on each Interest Payment Date, at the rates provided on page 1. Interest on the Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Interest shall accrue on overdue interest and principal at the rates provided on page 1, and shall compound on each Interest Payment Date. All overdue interest and principal (and any interest accruing thereon) shall remain due and payable until paid. The Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds shall be issued as fully registered bonds in Authorized Denominations. If any Interest Payment Date or Principal Payment Date (July 1) is not a Business Day, any action to be taken on such date need not be taken on such date but may be taken on the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as if taken on such date, with no additional interest accruing in respect of such delay.

Redemption Prices and Terms.

The Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity as provided below.

(a) <u>Optional Redemption</u>. The Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds maturing on July 1, 2034 are subject to redemption prior to maturity on and after July 1, 2025, at the election or direction of the Corporation, in whole or in part (and, if in part, in an Authorized Denomination) on any Business Day, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption.

The Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds maturing on July 1, 2040, July 1, 2053 and July 1, 2058 are subject to redemption prior to maturity on and after July 1, 2028, at the election or direction of the Corporation, in whole or in part (and, if in part, in an Authorized Denomination) on any Business Day, at a redemption price equal to the Principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption.

(b) <u>Mandatory Redemption of the Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds</u>. The Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds shall be subject to mandatory redemption, in part, through application of Sinking Fund Installments, as provided in the Indentures, upon notice given as prescribed in Article IV of the Master Indenture, at the Redemption Price of one hundred per centum (100%) of the Principal amount of each Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bond or portion thereof to be redeemed, plus accrued interest, if any, to the date of redemption. Unless none of the Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds of a maturity to be so redeemed shall then be Outstanding and, subject to the provisions of Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture and of paragraph (d) below permitting amounts to be credited to part or all of any one or more Sinking Fund Installments or the payment due at stated maturity, there shall be due and the Corporation shall be required to pay for the retirement of the Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds maturing on July 1 of the years set forth below on July 1 of each of the years set forth in the following table, the amount set forth opposite such year in said table, and the said amount to be paid on each such date is hereby established as and each payment prior to stated maturity shall constitute a Sinking Fund Installment for retirement of such Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds:

\$4,743,000 Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds maturing July 1, 2034

Year	Amount
2033	\$ 670,000
2034 [†]	4,073,000

[†] Stated maturity.

\$2,402,000 Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds maturing July 1, 2040

Year	Amount
2035	\$294,000
2036	333,000
2037	374,000
2038	418,000
2039	466,000
2040^{\dagger}	517,000

[†] Stated maturity.

\$17,619,000 Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds maturing July 1, 2053

Year	Amount
2052	\$8,605,000
2053 [†]	9,014,000

[†] Stated maturity.

\$44,554,000 Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds maturing July 1, 2058

Year	Amount
2054	\$ 8,063,000
2055	8,466,000
2056	8,890,000
2057	9,334,000
2058^{\dagger}	9,801,000

[†] Stated maturity.

(c) <u>Mandatory Redemption of the Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds</u>. The Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds shall be subject to mandatory redemption, in part, through application of Sinking Fund Installments, as provided in the Indentures, upon notice given as prescribed in Article IV of the Master Indenture, at the Redemption Price of one hundred per centum (100%) of the Principal amount of each Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bond or portion thereof to be redeemed, plus accrued interest, if any, to the date of redemption. Unless none of the Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds of a maturity to be so redeemed shall then be Outstanding and, subject to the provisions of Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture and of paragraph (d) below permitting amounts to be credited to part or all of any one or more Sinking Fund Installments or the payment due at stated maturity, there shall be due and the Corporation shall be required to

pay for the retirement of the Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds maturing on July 1 of the years set forth below on July 1 of each of the years set forth in the following table, the amount set forth opposite such year in said table, and the said amount to be paid on each such date is hereby established as and each payment prior to stated maturity shall constitute a Sinking Fund Installment for retirement of such Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds:

\$35,156,000 Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds maturing July 1, 2040

Year	Amount
2035	\$4,305,000
2036	4,870,000
2037	5,476,000
2038	6,125,000
2039	6,819,000
2040^{\dagger}	7,561,000

[†] Stated maturity.

\$723,000 Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds maturing July 1, 2053

Year	Amount
2052	\$353,000
2053 [†]	370,000

[†] Stated maturity.

\$9,691,000 Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds maturing July 1, 2058

Year	Amount
2054	\$1,754,000
2055	1,841,000
2056	1,933,000
2057	2,030,000
2058^{\dagger}	2,133,000

[†] Stated maturity.

(d) <u>Credit Against Sinking Fund Installments</u>. There shall be credited against and in satisfaction of the Sinking Fund Installments or the payment due at stated maturity payable on a

Series 2019B Current Interest Bond entitled, as applicable, to the payment of such Sinking Fund Installments and the payment due at stated maturity an amount equal to the Principal amount of such Series 2019B Current Interest Bond (A) purchased by the Corporation with moneys in the Debt Service Fund pursuant to Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture, (B) redeemed at the option of the Corporation pursuant to paragraph (a) of this Section, (C) purchased by the Corporation and delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, and (D) deemed to have been paid in accordance with Section 12.01 of the Master Indenture. Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds purchased pursuant to Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture shall be applied in satisfaction of a Sinking Fund Installment in accordance with such Section. Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds redeemed at the option of the Corporation, purchased by the Corporation (other than pursuant to Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture), or deemed to have been paid in accordance with Section 12.01 of the Master Indenture shall be applied in satisfaction, in whole or in part, of one or more Sinking Fund Installments payable on such dates as the Corporation shall specify in a written direction of the Corporation delivered to the Trustee at least thirty-five (35) days prior to the earliest date on which notice of redemption of the Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds entitled to such Sinking Fund Installment may be given by the Trustee and the Sinking Fund Installment payable on each date specified in such direction shall be reduced by the Principal amount of the Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds (or portions thereof) so purchased, redeemed or deemed to have been paid in accordance with Section 12.01 of the Master Indenture to be applied in satisfaction of such Sinking Fund Installment as set forth in such direction.

SERIES 2019B-1 CAPITAL APPRECIATION BONDS

Interest Accretion. Interest on the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds shall accrue and accrete from their dated dates until paid (whether at maturity, prior redemption or after maturity following payment default by the Corporation). Interest on the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds will not be paid on a current basis, but will be added to the Principal thereof in the form of accretion on the Effective Date and semiannually thereafter on each Valuation Date, and will be treated as if accruing on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months between Valuation Dates, until paid (whether at stated maturity, prior redemption or after maturity following payment default by the Corporation). See "Exhibit D - Table of Accreted Value for the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds" for the Accreted Values for Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds on each Valuation Date, assuming that no Accreted Value Payments will be made prior to stated maturity.

Redemption Prices and Terms. The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds shall be subject to redemption prior to stated maturity as provided in the Indentures.

(a) <u>Optional Redemption</u>. The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing on July 1, 2024 and on July 1, 2027 are not subject to optional redemption prior to stated maturity.

The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2029 are subject to redemption prior to stated maturity, at the election or direction of the Corporation, in whole or in part (and, if in part, in an Authorized Denomination) on any Business Day from July 1, 2028 through and including June 30, 2029 at a Redemption Price equal to 103% of the Accreted Value thereof on the date fixed for redemption.

The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2031 are subject to redemption prior to stated maturity, at the election or direction of the Corporation, in whole or in part (and, if in part, in an Authorized Denomination) on any Business Day on or after July 1, 2028 during the periods and at the Redemption Prices set forth below:

Redemption Period	Redemption Price
July 1, 2028 through June 30, 2029	105% of Accreted Value
July 1, 2029 through June 30, 2031	103% of Accreted Value

The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2033 are subject to redemption prior to stated maturity, at the election or direction of the Corporation, in whole or in part (and, if in part, in an Authorized Denomination) on any Business Day on or after July 1, 2028 during the periods and at the Redemption Prices set forth below:

Redemption Period	Redemption Price
July 1, 2028 through June 30, 2031	107.5% of Accreted Value
July 1, 2031 through June 30, 2032	105% of Accreted Value
July 1, 2032 through June 30, 2033	103% of Accreted Value

The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2046 and July 1, 2051 are subject to redemption prior to stated maturity, at the election or direction of the Corporation,

in whole or in part (and, if in part, in an Authorized Denomination) on any Business Day on or after July 1, 2028 during the periods and at the Redemption Prices set forth below:

Redemption Period	Redemption Price
July 1, 2028 through June 30, 2033	107.5% of Accreted Value
July 1, 2033 through June 30, 2038	105% of Accreted Value
July 1, 2038 through June 30, 2043	103% of Accreted Value
On or after July 1, 2043	100% of Accreted Value

Mandatory Redemption for the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds. The (b) Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds shall be subject to redemption, in part, through application of Sinking Fund Installments as provided in the Indentures, upon notice given as prescribed in Article IV of the Master Indenture, at the Redemption Price of one hundred per centum (100%) of the Accreted Value calculated to the Redemption Date of each Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bond or portion thereof to be redeemed. Unless none of the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds of a maturity to be so redeemed shall then be Outstanding and, subject to the provisions of Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture and of paragraph (c) below permitting amounts to be credited to part or all of any one or more Accreted Value Payments, there shall be due and the Corporation shall be required to pay for the retirement of the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing on July 1 of the years set forth below on July 1 of each of the years set forth in the following table, the amount set forth opposite such year in said table, and the said amount to be paid on each such date is hereby established as and each payment prior to stated maturity shall constitute a Sinking Fund Installment for retirement of such Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds:

\$2,706,000 Maturity Value Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2024

Year	Initial Accreted Value	Accreted Value at Redemption Date*	Maturity Value**
2019	\$238,591.26	\$247,970.16	\$306,000.00
2020	_	_	_
2021	195,707.21	221,248.97	251,000.00
2022	382,057.90	450,471.70	490,000.00
2023	561,391.20	690,343.20	720,000.00
$2024^{\dagger\dagger}$	732,147.69	939,000.00	939,000.00

^{*} Equals the original principal amount, plus interest accreted to the stated Redemption Date.

^{**} Equals the total Accreted Value that would be represented by the portion of the capital appreciation term bond being redeemed if it were held to maturity.

^{††} Stated Maturity.

\$4,582,000 Maturity Value Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2027

Year	Initial Accreted Value	Accreted Value at Redemption Date*	Maturity Value**
2025	\$ 887,178.15	\$1,196,789.40	\$1,305,000.00
2026	1,040,819.73	1,466,146.84	1,531,000.00
2027††	1,186,983.18	1,746,000.00	1,746,000.00

^{*} Equals the original principal amount, plus interest accreted to the stated Redemption Date.

\$4,466,000 Maturity Value Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2029

Year	Initial Accreted Value	Accreted Value at Redemption Date*	Maturity Value**
2028	\$1,326,099.42	\$2,036,900.28	\$2,127,000.00
2029 ^{††}	1,458,272.94	2,339,000.00	2,339,000.00

^{*} Equals the original principal amount, plus interest accreted to the stated Redemption Date.

\$5,755,000 Maturity Value Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2031

Year	Initial Accreted Value	Accreted Value at Redemption Date*	Maturity Value**
2030	\$1,561,234.94	\$2,653,247.78	\$2,774,000.00
2031 ^{††}	1,677,736.61	2,981,000.00	2,981,000.00

^{*} Equals the original principal amount, plus interest accreted to the stated Redemption Date.

^{**} Equals the total Accreted Value that would be represented by the portion of the capital appreciation term bond being redeemed if it were held to maturity.

^{††} Stated Maturity.

^{**} Equals the total Accreted Value that would be represented by the portion of the capital appreciation term bond being redeemed if it were held to maturity.

^{††} Stated Maturity.

^{**} Equals the total Accreted Value that would be represented by the portion of the capital appreciation term bond being redeemed if it were held to maturity.

^{††} Stated Maturity.

\$6,477,000 Maturity Value Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2033

Year	Initial Accreted Value	Accreted Value at Redemption Date*	Maturity Value**
2032	\$1,787,663.36	\$3,320,863.84	\$3,472,000.00
2033 ^{††}	1,547,214.40	3,005,000.00	3,005,000.00

^{*} Equals the original principal amount, plus interest accreted to the stated Redemption Date.

\$61,648,000 Maturity Value Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2046

Year	Initial Accreted Value	Accreted Value at Redemption Date*	Maturity Value**
2041	\$2,657,532.01	\$8,961,445.15	\$11,683,000.00
2042	2,520,367.60	8,961,836.40	11,080,000.00
2043	2,390,254.76	8,962,168.12	10,508,000.00
2044	2,266,738.55	8,962,022.75	9,965,000.00
2045	2,149,591.50	8,961,813.00	9,450,000.00
$2046^{\dagger\dagger}$	2,038,586.14	8,962,000.00	8,962,000.00

^{*} Equals the original principal amount, plus interest accreted to the stated Redemption Date.

\$50,220,000 Maturity Value Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2051

Year	Initial Accreted Value	Accreted Value at Redemption Date*	Maturity Value**
2047	\$1,801,827.40	\$8,961,588.00	\$11,188,000.00
2048	1,704,553.20	8,961,366.96	10,584,000.00
2049	1,612,593.65	8,961,434.74	10,013,000.00
2050	1,525,626.65	8,961,742.19	9,473,000.00
$2051^{\dagger\dagger}$	1,443,330.10	8,962,000.00	8,962,000.00

^{*} Equals the original principal amount, plus interest accreted to the stated Redemption Date.

^{**} Equals the total Accreted Value that would be represented by the portion of the capital appreciation term bond being redeemed if it were held to maturity.

^{††} Stated Maturity.

^{**} Equals the total Accreted Value that would be represented by the portion of the capital appreciation term bond being redeemed if it were held to maturity.

^{††} Stated Maturity.

^{**} Equals the total Accreted Value that would be represented by the portion of the capital appreciation term bond being redeemed if it were held to maturity.

^{††} Stated Maturity.

(c) <u>Credit Against Sinking Fund Installments</u>. There shall be credited against and in satisfaction of the Accreted Value Payments payable on a Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bond entitled to the payment of such Accreted Value Payments an amount equal to the Accreted Value calculated to the Redemption Date of such Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bond (A) purchased by the Corporation with moneys in the Debt Service Fund pursuant to Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture, (B) redeemed at the option of the Corporation pursuant to paragraph (a) of this Section, (C) purchased by the Corporation and delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, and (D) deemed to have been paid in accordance with Section 12.01 of the Master Indenture. Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds purchased pursuant to Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture shall be applied in satisfaction of a Sinking Fund Installment in accordance with such Section. Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds redeemed at the option of the Corporation, purchased by the Corporation (other than pursuant to Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture) and delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, or deemed to have been paid in accordance with Section 12.01 of the Master Indenture shall be applied in satisfaction, in whole or in part of one or more Accreted Value Payments payable on such dates as the Corporation shall specify in a written direction of the Corporation delivered to the Trustee, together with a revised redemption schedule, which must be certified to as correct by a Qualified Municipal Advisor Firm, for the affected maturity of Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds, at least thirty-five (35) days prior to the earliest date on which notice of redemption of the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds entitled to such Accreted Value Payments may be given by the Trustee and the Accreted Value Payment due on each date specified in such direction shall be reduced by the Accreted Value on the Redemption Date of the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds so purchased, redeemed or deemed to have been paid in accordance with Section 12.01 of the Master Indenture to be applied in satisfaction of such Accreted Value Payments as set forth in such direction.

EXHIBIT A EXECUTION VERSION OF MASTER TRUST INDENTURE

MASTER TRUST INDENTURE

by and between

PUERTO RICO SALES TAX FINANCING CORPORATION

and

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, as Trustee

Dated as of February 12, 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICLE I. DEFINI	TIONS AND INTERPRETATION	6
Section 1.01	Definitions	6
Section 1.02	Rules of Construction	
ARTICLE II. AUTHO	ORIZATION AND ISSUANCE OF BONDS	19
Section 2.01	Authorization of Bonds	19
Section 2.02	Provisions for Issuance of Bonds	
Section 2.03	Supplemental Indentures	21
Section 2.04	Additional Indebtedness	
ARTICLE III. GENE	RAL TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF BONDS	23
Section 3.01	Place and Medium of Payment	23
Section 3.02	Legends	
Section 3.03	CUSIP Numbers	24
Section 3.04	Execution and Authentication	24
Section 3.05	Interchangeability of Bonds	25
Section 3.06	Transfer and Registry	
Section 3.07	Transfer of Bonds	
Section 3.08	Regulations with Respect to Exchanges and Transfers	
Section 3.09	Bonds Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen	
Section 3.10	Book Entry Bonds	
Section 3.11	Preparation of Definitive Bonds; Temporary Bonds	28
ARTICLE IV. REDE	MPTION OF BONDS	28
Section 4.01	Authorization of Redemption	28
Section 4.02	Redemption at the Election of the Corporation	
Section 4.03	Redemption Other Than at Corporation's Election	
Section 4.04	Selection of Bonds to be Redeemed	29
Section 4.05	Notice of Redemption	
Section 4.06	Payment of Redeemed Bonds	31
	TORY LIEN ON TRUST ESTATE; FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS;	
PLEDGED SALES T	AX REVENUES AND APPLICATION THEREOF	31
Section 5.01	Statutory Lien on Trust Estate	31
Section 5.02	Establishment of Funds and Accounts	32
Section 5.03	Application of Bond Proceeds	
Section 5.04	Application of Money in the Costs of Issuance Fund	
Section 5.05	Deposit of COFINA Receipts in the COFINA Revenue Fund	
Section 5.06	Application of COFINA Receipts	
Section 5.07	Debt Service Fund	
Section 5.08	Arbitrage Rebate Fund	
Section 5.09	Debt Retirement Fund	
Section 5.10	Remainder Fund	
Section 5.11	Application of Money in Certain Funds for Retirement of Bonds	
Section 5.12	Transfer of Investments	38

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

		Page
ARTICLE VI. SECUE	RITY FOR DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENT OF FUNDS	38
Section 6.01 Security for Deposits		
Section 6.02 Investment of Funds and Accounts Held by the Trustee		
Section 6.02	Liability for Investments	
	ICULAR COVENANTS	
Section 7.01	Payment of Principal and Interest	
Section 7.02	Extension of Payment of Bonds	
Section 7.03	Powers as to Bonds.	
Section 7.04	Further Assurance	
Section 7.05	Accounts and Audits	
Section 7.06	Creation of Liens	
Section 7.07	Restricted Payments	
Section 7.08	Offices for Payment and Registration of Bonds	
Section 7.09	Budget of Corporation Expenses.	
Section 7.10	Payment of Lawful Charges	
Section 7.11	General	
Section 7.12	Tax Exemption Covenant	
Section 7.13	Rating On Substituted Collateral	
Section 7.14	Covenants of the Commonwealth	
Section 7.15	Corporate Existence	
Section 7.16	Separateness	
Section 7.17	Corporate Governance	
Section 7.18	Resignation of a Director	
Section 7.19	Amendments to the Instructions Agreement	
	CERNING THE TRUSTEE AND THE PAYING AGENT	
Section 8.01	Appointment and Acceptance of Trustee	
Section 8.02	Appointment and Acceptance of Paying Agents	
Section 8.03	Responsibilities of Trustee and Paying Agents	
Section 8.04	Property Held in Trust	
Section 8.05	Rights of the Trustee and the Paying Agent	
Section 8.06	Compensation	
Section 8.07	Permitted Acts	
Section 8.08	Resignation of Trustee	
Section 8.09	Removal of Trustee	
Section 8.10	Successor Trustee and/or Paying Agent	49
Section 8.11	Transfer of Rights and Property to Successor Trustee	
Section 8.12	Merger or Consolidation of the Trustee	
Section 8.13	Ancillary Agreements	50
ARTICLE IX. SUPPL	EMENTAL INDENTURES	50
Section 9.01	Modification and Amendment without Consent	50
Section 9.02	Supplemental Indentures Effective with Consent of Bondholders	52
Section 9.03	General Provisions Relating to Supplemental Indentures	

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

		Page
ARTICLE X. AMEND	MENTS OF INDENTURE	53
Section 10.01	Powers of Amendment	53
Section 10.02	Consent of Bondholders	
Section 10.03	Modifications by Unanimous Consent	
Section 10.04	Mailing	
Section 10.05	Exclusion of Bonds	55
Section 10.06	Notation on Bonds	
ARTICLE XI. DEFAU	JLTS AND REMEDIES	55
Section 11.01	Events of Default	55
Section 11.02	No Acceleration with Respect to the Bonds	
Section 11.03	Enforcement of Remedies	57
Section 11.04	Priority of Payments after Default	58
Section 11.05	Termination of Proceedings	
Section 11.06	Bondholders' Direction of Proceedings	
Section 11.07	Control by Holders of Bonds; Limitations	59
Section 11.08	Actions by Trustee; Possession of Bonds by Trustee Not Required.	
Section 11.09	Waiver and Non-Waiver of Default	60
Section 11.10	Notice of Event of Default	60
Section 11.11	Remedies Not Exclusive	60
ARTICLE XII. DEFEA	ASANCE	61
Section 12.01	Defeasance	61
	CUTION OF INSTRUMENTS BY BOND HOLDERS AND PROOF	
OWNERSHIP OF BOY	NDS	63
Section 13.01	Evidence of Signatures of Bondholders and Ownership of Bonds	63
ARTICLE XIV. MISC	ELLANEOUS	63
Section 14.01	Preservation and Inspection of Documents	63
Section 14.02	Money and Funds Held for Particular Bonds	
Section 14.03	Cancellation of Bonds	64
Section 14.04	No Recourse under Indenture or on the Bonds	
Section 14.05	Severability of Invalid Provision	64
Section 14.06	Parties of Interest.	
Section 14.07	Certain Provisions Relating to Capital Appreciation Bonds	65
Section 14.08	Notices	65
Section 14.09	Headings	65
Section 14.10	Governing Laws	65
Section 14.11	Retention of Jurisdiction of Title III Court	66
Section 14.12	Signatures and Counterparts	66
Section 14.13	Successors and Assigns	66
Section 14.14	Conflicts.	66

MASTER TRUST INDENTURE

THIS MASTER TRUST INDENTURE, dated as of February 12, 2019, by and between PUERTO RICO SALES TAX FINANCING CORPORATION, a public corporation and instrumentality of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, constituting a corporate and political entity independent and separate from the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (together with any successors thereto, the "Corporation"), and THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, as trustee (the "Trustee").

The Corporation recites and represents to the Trustee for the benefit of the Bondholders that it has authorized this Indenture.

RECITALS

On June 30, 2016, the United States of America enacted the Puerto Rico Oversight, Management and Economic Stability Act, Pub. L. No. 114–187, 130 Stat. 549 (2016), 48 U.S.C. 2101 et. seq. ("**PROMESA**"); pursuant to section 4 of PROMESA, the provisions thereof prevail over any general or specific provisions of territory law, State law, or regulation that is inconsistent therewith.

On May 3, 2017 and May 5, 2017, respectively, the Financial Oversight and Management Board (together with any successors thereto, the "Oversight Board"), established by the United States of America pursuant to section 101(b) of PROMESA, filed petitions for relief for the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and the Corporation pursuant to section 304(a) of PROMESA in the United States District Court for the District of Puerto Rico (the "Title III Court"), commencing debt adjustment cases under title III of PROMESA (the "Title III Cases").

Pursuant to section 306(b) of PROMESA, upon commencement of the Title III Cases, the Title III Court exercises exclusive jurisdiction over all property of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and the Corporation, wherever located.

By entry of the order attached hereto as Exhibit A (as amended or modified, the "Confirmation Order"), the Title III Court confirmed the Corporation's Plan of Adjustment (as defined below), the material components of which were the quieting of title to certain sales and use tax revenues pursuant to the final settlement between the Corporation and the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (the "Settlement") and the restructuring of all claims against the Corporation and the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico relating to pre-existing indebtedness of the Corporation through, among other things, the issuance of Bonds (as defined below) pursuant to this Indenture.

On October 19, 2018, the Corporation and the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico entered into an agreement embodying the Settlement (the "**Settlement Agreement**"); contemporaneously with entry of the Confirmation Order, the Title III Court entered an order approving the Settlement in the Title III Case of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico.

On November 15, 2018, in furtherance of the Settlement, the Commonwealth (as defined below) enacted Act 241-2018, amending Act 91-2006 (collectively, as so amended by Act 241-2018, the "Act"), which originally created the Corporation.

Pursuant to PROMESA, and in accordance with the Confirmation Order, the Settlement, the Plan of Adjustment, and the Act, the Title III Court made a binding determination that the Bonds are legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligations of the Corporation benefiting from the following protections, each of which is legal, valid, binding and enforceable against the Corporation, the Commonwealth, and other persons and entities, as applicable, under Puerto Rico law and federal law:

- a. The Confirmation Order is full, final, complete, conclusive, and binding and shall not be subject to collateral attack or other challenge in any court or other forum, except as permitted under applicable law. Confirmation of the Plan of Adjustment constitutes a judicial determination, pursuant to Section 4 of PROMESA, that the terms of the Confirmation Order shall prevail over any general or specific provisions of the territory law, State law or regulation that is inconsistent therewith.
- b. The Title III Court shall retain jurisdiction to enforce the terms of the Confirmation Order and the Plan of Adjustment.
- c. Subject to the occurrence of and upon the Effective Date, the Corporation shall be an independent public corporation and instrumentality of the Commonwealth, separate from the Commonwealth and any other instrumentality of the Commonwealth.
- d. Subject to the occurrence of and upon the Effective Date, ownership of the COFINA Revenues¹ shall have been legally and validly transferred to the Corporation, and such transfer of ownership shall have been an absolute transfer of all legal and equitable right, title, and interest in the COFINA Revenues, free and clear of all liens, claims, encumbrances, and other interests of any party (except for the statutory lien that arises automatically, pursuant to the terms of the Act, to secure the Bonds);
- e. Subject to the occurrence of and upon the Effective Date, the COFINA Revenues shall not constitute, and shall not be deemed to be, "available resources" or "available revenues" of the Commonwealth, as that term is used in the Puerto Rico Constitution (whether construed pursuant to the Spanish or English version of the Puerto Rico Constitution).
- f. Subject to the "Quarterly Installment" funding construct described herein, to the extent certain conditions described herein are satisfied, each Fiscal Year until the Initial Bonds are paid in full or otherwise satisfied in accordance with their terms, the first funds comprising the Pledged Sales Taxes shall be transferred to and deposited with the Corporation until such time that the Corporation has received an amount equal to the COFINA Revenues for such Fiscal Year.

¹ References in clauses (d), (e), (f), (g) and (m) to "COFINA Revenues" are used to maintain consistent terminology with the Act and shall have the same meaning as the term "COFINA Portion" as defined and used in the Plan of Adjustment, and shall include any collateral that may be substituted for the COFINA Revenues in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Plan of Adjustment and the Act.

- g. The Corporation's sole and exclusive ownership of the COFINA Revenues shall not be affected in any way by the manner of or control over collection, any person who collects or holds the COFINA Revenues shall do so on behalf of the Corporation, and no person or entity that collects or holds the COFINA Revenues shall have any legal or equitable right, title, or interest to the COFINA Revenues other than the Corporation, for the benefit of Holders of the Initial Bonds.
- h. The statutory first lien against the Pledged Sales Taxes (including any Substituted Collateral substituted for the Pledged Sales Taxes in accordance with the terms of the Plan of Adjustment and the Act) arising by operation of the Act in favor of Holders of Initial Bonds is legal, valid, binding and enforceable and shall remain in full force and effect and shall be "closed" until, in each case, the Initial Bonds have been paid or satisfied in full in accordance with their terms.
- i. Pursuant to the Act, the Bonds have been granted and are secured by a statutory first lien as described in Section 16.2 of the Plan of Adjustment, which lien shall remain in full force and effect until the Bonds have been paid or satisfied in full in accordance with their terms.
- j. The statutory lien on the Pledged Sales Taxes as provided in the Act and all other provisions made to pay or secure payment of the Bonds are legal, valid, binding, and enforceable, including, without limitation, covenants not to impair such property, and provide for the conditions regarding substitution of Substituted Collateral as adequate protection for the property rights conferred under the Plan of Adjustment and the Confirmation Order.
- k. At the time of issuance and delivery of the Initial Bonds, the Corporation is hereby authorized and directed to have stamped or written on each of the Initial Bonds a legend substantially as follows:

DETERMINED BY THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO TO BE VALID, LEGALLY BINDING, AND ENFORCEABLE PURSUANT TO THE JUDGMENT AND CONFIRMATION ORDER, ENTERED ON THE 5TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2019

Pursuant to the Settlement Order and the Confirmation Order, the transfer of the COFINA Revenues (and any substitution of Substituted Collateral on the terms and conditions provided for in the Plan of Adjustment) pursuant to the Plan of Adjustment is appropriate and binding and specifically enforceable against the Corporation and the Commonwealth, their respective creditors and all parties in interest in accordance with the Plan of Adjustment, including, without limitation, because the transfer of the COFINA Revenues created in the Corporation an ownership interest in such property (and any substitution of Substituted Collateral on the terms and conditions provided for in the Plan of Adjustment) and is a valid provision made to pay or secure payment of the Initial Bonds.

- m. The Commonwealth's agreement, on behalf of itself and its governmental entities, not to take any action that would, among other things, (a) impair the Corporation's right to receive the COFINA Revenues, (b) limit or alter the rights vested in the Corporation in accordance with the Plan of Adjustment to fulfill the terms of the Initial Bonds, (c) materially adversely impair the collection of the Pledged Sales Taxes in any Fiscal Year, or (d) impair the rights and remedies of the holders of the Initial Bonds or the statutory lien established pursuant to Article 3.2 of the Act, each as provided in the Act and the Indenture, serve as adequate protection for the property interests of the Corporation and the Holders of the Initial Bonds in the Pledged Sales Taxes under all applicable law and constitute valid, binding, legal and enforceable obligations of the Corporation and the Commonwealth, as applicable, and are an integral part of the settlements set forth in the Plan of Adjustment.
- n. The covenants described in Sections16.6 and 16.7 of the Plan of Adjustment (including, but not limited to, the rating agency covenant, the tax exemption covenant, the substitution covenant, the non-impairment covenant and the sales tax covenant), to be provided by the Corporation and the Commonwealth, as the case may be, to the Holder of the Initial Bonds, shall constitute adequate protection for the property interests of the Corporation and the Holders of the Initial Bonds in the Pledged Sales Taxes under all applicable law.

All things have been done which are necessary to make the Bonds, when executed by the Corporation and authenticated and delivered by the Trustee hereunder, the valid obligations of the Corporation, and to constitute this Indenture a valid trust indenture for the security of the Bonds, in accordance with the terms of this Indenture.

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS INDENTURE WITNESSETH:

It is hereby covenanted and declared that all the Bonds are to be authenticated and delivered and the property subject to this Indenture is to be held and applied by the Trustee, subject to the covenants, conditions and trusts hereinafter set forth, and the Corporation does hereby covenant and agree to and with the Trustee, for the equal and proportionate benefit of all Bonds as follows:

This Indenture provides for the following transactions:

- (a) Issuance by the Corporation of its obligations to settle certain claims made by the Corporation's creditors, including claims relating to indebtedness previously issued by the Corporation under its Sales Tax Revenue Bond Resolution, adopted on July 13, 2007, as amended and restated on June 19, 2009, and to refund, refinance or defease any obligations issued hereunder which obligations, in accordance with the Act, are secured by a statutory first lien on the following (the "Statutory Lien"):
 - (i) All right, title and interest of the Corporation in and to the Pledged Sales Taxes, including, without limitation, any moneys, income, revenues, accounts, contract rights or general intangibles derived therefrom; and

(ii) Except for the Remainder Fund, the Operating Reserve Fund and the Arbitrage Rebate Fund, all of the Corporation's right, title and interest in money, securities and other assets on deposit with the Trustee in the funds and accounts created pursuant to this Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture

(collectively, the "Trust Estate");

- (b) Application of proceeds of such obligations, if any; and
- (c) The rights and remedies of the holders from time to time of the Corporation's obligations.

IN TRUST NEVERTHELESS, upon the terms and trusts herein set forth, the Trust Estate shall be held and applied for the equal and *pro rata* benefit and security of each and every owner of the Bonds issued and to be issued hereunder, without preference, priority or distinction as to participation in the Statutory Lien, and the benefit and protection thereof of one Bond over or from the others, by reason of priority in the issue or negotiation or maturity thereof, or for any other reason whatsoever, except as herein otherwise expressly provided, so that each of such Bonds shall have the same right, lien and privilege under the Statutory Lien and shall be equally secured thereby with the same effect as if the same shall have been made, issued and negotiated simultaneously with the delivery hereof and were expressed to mature on one and the same date;

IN TRUST NEVERTHELESS, that these presents are upon the express condition that if the Corporation or its successors or assigns shall well and truly pay or cause to be paid the Principal of Bonds with interest, according to the provisions set forth in the Bonds, respectively and each of them or shall provide for the payment of Bonds by depositing or causing to be deposited with the Trustee the funds and/or securities required by Section 12.01 of this Indenture, when and as authorized by the provisions of Section 12.01 of this Indenture and shall also pay or cause to be paid all other sums payable hereunder by the Corporation, then, provided no Bonds remain Outstanding hereunder, these presents and the estate and rights granted hereby and by the Act shall cease and be terminated, and thereupon the Trustee, on payment of its lawful charges and disbursements then unpaid, on demand of the Corporation and upon the payment of the cost and expenses thereof, shall duly execute, acknowledge and deliver to the Corporation such instruments of satisfaction or release as may be specified by the Corporation as necessary or proper to discharge this Indenture, including, if appropriate, any required discharge of record, and, subject to the provisions of the Act and the Plan of Adjustment, if necessary shall grant, reassign and deliver to the Corporation, its successors or assigns, all and singular the property, rights, privileges and interest by it granted, conveyed and assigned by the Act, and all substitutes therefor, or any part thereof, not previously disposed of or released as herein provided; otherwise this Indenture shall be and remain in full force.

IT IS HEREBY COVENANTED, DECLARED AND AGREED by and between the parties hereto that all Bonds are to be issued, authenticated and delivered, and that the Trust Estate and any other property or amounts subject to the Statutory Lien and pledged to the payment of the Bonds are to be held and applied, subject to the further covenants, conditions, releases, uses and

trusts hereinafter set forth, and the Corporation, for itself and its successors, does hereby covenant and agree to and with the Trustee and its respective successors in said trust as follows:

ARTICLE I.

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

- **Section 1.01 Definitions.** As used in this Indenture the following terms have the following meanings, unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context:
- "AAFAF" means the Puerto Rico Fiscal Agency and Financial Advisory Authority and any successors thereto.
- "Accreted Value" means, with respect to the Capital Appreciation Bonds, as of the date of calculation, the principal amount at initial issuance thereof, plus interest thereon to such date of calculation, capitalized semiannually on each Valuation Date at the accretion rate stated within the applicable Supplemental Indenture until paid at stated maturity, or prior redemption permitted by the terms of the applicable Supplemental Indenture or after stated maturity following payment default by the Corporation, assuming that between Valuation Dates such Accreted Value increases in equal daily amounts on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months; *provided, however*, that Accreted Value shall be, as of the time of the Corporation actually makes a Sinking Fund Installment payment or other payment required or permitted to be made on such Capital Appreciation Bond, reduced by the amount, if any, that such payment exceeds accrued interest on such Capital Appreciation Bond from the prior Valuation Date.
 - "Act" has the meaning given to such term in the Recitals.
 - "Additional Bonds Test" has the meaning given to such term in Section 2.04 hereof.
- "Ancillary Agreements" means the Indenture, the Confirmation Order, the Settlement Agreement, the Instructions Agreement, the Plan of Adjustment and any other agreement or instrument entered into by the Corporation or the Trustee in connection with, or in furtherance of, the Restructuring Transaction and in accordance with, or in furtherance of, the Plan of Adjustment.
- "Arbitrage Rebate Fund" means the fund so designated, created and established pursuant to Section 5.02 hereof.
- "Authorized Officer" means (a) in the case of the Corporation, the Executive Director, and when used with reference to any act or document also means any other person authorized by a resolution or the Corporation By-Laws to perform such act or execute such document, (b) in the case of the Trustee, any vice president, assistant vice president, senior associate, associate or other officer of the Trustee customarily performing functions similar to those performed by the persons who at the time shall be such officers, respectively, or to whom any corporate trust matter is referred because of such person's knowledge of and familiarity with the particular subject and having direct responsibility for the administration of this Indenture, and when used with reference to any act or document also means any other person authorized to perform any act or sign any document by or pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Trustee or the by-laws of the Trustee and (c) in the case of the Oversight Board, the Executive Director and any person

authorized by a resolution of the Oversight Board or the Oversight Board's by-laws to act as an authorized officer of the Oversight Board for purposes of this Indenture.

"Bankruptcy Laws" has the meaning given to such term in Section 11.01(d).

- **"Bond"** means any bond of the Corporation authorized and issued pursuant to Section 2.01 hereof and the applicable Supplemental Indenture.
- "Bondholder", "Holder of Bonds" or "Holder" or any similar term, when used with reference to a Bond or Bonds, means the registered owner thereof; *provided, however*, that for purposes of this Indenture, in the case of any Insured Bonds, the applicable Bond Insurer shall be treated as (i) the sole Holder of the Insured Bonds insured by such Bond Insurer for the purpose of consenting to any modification or amendment, exercising any voting right or privilege, giving any consent or direction, or taking any action that the Holders of such Insured Bonds are entitled to take pursuant to the provisions of this Indenture pertaining to defaults and remedies and the duties and obligations of the Trustee, and (ii) an additional Holder of the Insured Bonds insured by such Bond Insurer for purposes of receiving any notices or exercising any rights to inspect documents provided for under this Indenture.
- **"Bond Insurance Policy"** means a municipal bond insurance policy, if any, issued by a Bond Insurer that guarantees payment of Principal of and interest on Insured Bonds.
- **"Bond Insurer"** means the provider of a Bond Insurance Policy, if any, specified in a Supplemental Indenture.
- **"Book Entry Bond"** means a Bond issued to and registered in the name of a Depository for the participants in such Depository.
- **"Business Day"** means any day other than (a) a Saturday or a Sunday or a legal holiday or (b) a day on which banking institutions in San Juan, Puerto Rico or New York, New York, are required or authorized by law, regulation or executive order to be closed.
- "Capital Appreciation Bond" means any Bond as to which interest is capitalized on each Valuation Date therefor and is stated to be payable only at the maturity or prior redemption thereof.
- "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the applicable regulations thereunder.
- "COFINA Receipts" means the proceeds of the COFINA Revenues and the interest thereon received by the Corporation or the Trustee in accordance with the Act, Instructions Agreement or this Indenture.
- **"COFINA Revenue Fund"** means the fund so designated, created and established pursuant to Section 5.02 hereof.
- "COFINA Revenues" means the Pledged Sales Taxes payable to the Corporation in accordance with Article 4.1 of the Act (First Dollars Funding of COFINA Revenues), in each

Fiscal Year in the following amounts (which amounts are equal to fifty-three and sixty-five one hundredths percent (53.65%) of the Fixed Income for each Fiscal Year):

Fiscal Year	COFINA Revenues	Fiscal Year	COFINA Revenues
2019	\$420,185,325	2039	\$920,677,791
2020	436,992,738	2040	957,504,902
2021	454,472,448	2041	992,525,000
2022	472,651,346	2042	992,525,000
2023	491,557,399	2043	992,525,000
2024	511,219,696	2044	992,525,000
2025	531,668,483	2045	992,525,000
2026	552,935,223	2046	992,525,000
2027	575,052,631	2047	992,525,000
2028	598,054,737	2048	992,525,000
2029	621,976,926	2049	992,525,000
2030	646,856,003	2050	992,525,000
2031	672,730,244	2051	992,525,000
2032	699,639,453	2052	992,525,000
2033	727,625,032	2053	992,525,000
2034	756,730,033	2054	992,525,000
2035	786,999,234	2055	992,525,000
2036	818,479,203	2056	992,525,000
2037	851,218,371	2057	992,525,000
2038	885,267,106	2058	992,525,000

For each Fiscal Year following 2058 and until all Principal of, interest on, and any other amounts due on the Bonds have been paid in full or defeased in accordance with Section 12.01 below, "COFINA Revenues" shall include an amount equal to fifty-three and sixty-five one hundredths percent (53.65%) of the Fixed Income for such Fiscal Year. Regardless of the location of the proceeds of the COFINA Revenues while interest accrues thereon, the Corporation owns all such interest. Such interest when determined shall be transferred along with the proceeds of the COFINA Revenues upon which it accrues, and such interest shall never be considered for purposes of the Fiscal Year limitations provided above.

[&]quot;Commonwealth" means the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico.

[&]quot;Confirmation Order" has the meaning given to such term in the Recitals.

[&]quot;Corporation" has the meaning given to such term in the Recitals.

[&]quot;Corporation By-Laws" means the by-laws adopted by the Corporation's board of directors and in effect on the Effective Date of the Plan of Adjustment.

"Corporation Expenses" means all lawfully permitted costs, fees and expenses of the Corporation of any kind arising out of or incurred in connection with carrying out and administering its corporate purposes, powers and duties, including, without limitation: salaries, insurance premiums, fees, charges, expenses, regularly scheduled payments, indemnities and other similar charges payable to or for (a) auditing, legal, financial and investment advisory and other professional and consulting services, (b) fiduciaries, paying agents, transfer agents and other agents, (c) printing, advertisements and publication or other distribution of notices, (d) the governing body of the Corporation, and (e) any and all other fees, charges and expenses required or permitted to be incurred by the Corporation or required to be paid by the Corporation.

"Costs of Issuance" means the items of expense to be paid by the Corporation which are incurred prior to, upon and during a reasonable period of time after issuance of the Bonds of a Series, in each case in connection with the authorization, sale and issuance of the Bonds, which items of expense may include, but not be limited to, underwriting discount or fees, structuring fees, placement fees, document printing and reproduction costs, filing and recording fees, costs of credit ratings, initial fees and charges of a Depository or the Trustee and its counsel, other legal fees and charges, professional consultants' fees, fees and charges for execution, transportation and safekeeping of the Bonds, premiums, fees and charges for insurance on the Bonds, and other costs, charges and fees in connection with the foregoing.

"Costs of Issuance Fund" means the fund so designated, created and established pursuant to Section 5.02 hereof.

"Debt Retirement Fund" means the fund so designated, created and established pursuant to Section 5.02 hereof.

"Debt Service Fund" means the fund so designated, created and established pursuant to Section 5.02 hereof.

"Debt Service Savings" means for each Fiscal Year, the difference between (a) Principal and interest due on Bonds immediately prior to the issuance of Refunding Bonds and/or the purchase by the Corporation of Bonds in the open market and (b) Principal and interest due on Bonds that will remain Outstanding immediately after the issuance of such Refunding Bonds and/or the purchase by the Corporation of Bonds in the open market.

"Defeasance Security" means:

- (a) a direct obligation of, or any obligation the timely payment of the principal of and interest on which is guaranteed by, the United States of America;
- (b) any other US Government Obligation (including the interest component of Resolution Funding Corporation bonds for which the separation of principal and interest is made by request of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York in book-entry form), that is not subject to redemption prior to maturity other than at the option of the holder thereof or that has been irrevocably called for redemption on a stated future date; **provided** that at the time an investment therein is made such US Government Obligation is rated in the highest senior unsecured rating category by at least two Rating Services; and

- (c) a Municipal Obligation (i) that is not subject to redemption prior to maturity other than at the option of the holder thereof or as to which irrevocable instructions have been given to the trustee or paying agent of such Municipal Obligation by the obligor thereof to give due notice of redemption and to call such Municipal Obligation for redemption on the date or dates specified in such instructions and such Municipal Obligation is not otherwise subject to redemption prior to such specified date other than at the option of the holder thereof, (ii) the timely payment of the principal or redemption price thereof and interest thereon is fully secured by a fund consisting only of cash or obligations described in clause (a) above, which fund may be applied only to the payment of such principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on such Municipal Obligation on the maturity date thereof or the redemption date specified in the irrevocable instructions referred to in clause (i) above, and (iii) that at the time an investment therein is made is rated in the highest senior unsecured rating category by at least two Rating Services; *provided*, *however*, that such term shall not mean any interest in a unit investment trust or mutual fund or in "CATS," "TIGRS" or "TRS".
- **"Depository"** means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, a limited purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York (or its nominee), any other person, firm, association or corporation designated in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing a Series of Bonds to serve as securities depository for Bonds of such Series, or any successor of any of the foregoing, as applicable.
- **"Effective Date"** means the date that the Plan of Adjustment becomes effective in accordance with its terms and the Confirmation Order.
- **"Electronic Means"** means facsimile transmission, email transmission, secure electronic transmission containing applicable authorization codes, passwords and/or authentication keys issued by the Trustee, or another electronic method or system specified by the Trustee as available for use in connection with its services hereunder.
- **"Eligible Investments"** means any of the following obligations or securities that the Corporation is permitted to hold as an investment under the laws of the Commonwealth:
 - (a) Defeasance Securities;
 - (b) interest-bearing general obligations of the United States of America;
- (c) United States treasury bills and other non-interest bearing general obligations of the United States of America when offered for sale in the open market at a price below the face value of same, so as to afford the Corporation a return on such investment in lieu of interest;
 - (d) short-term discount US Government Obligations;
- (e) certificates of deposit of a Qualified Financial Institution which are (i) fully collateralized at least one hundred and ten percent (110%) by marketable US Government Obligations marked to market at least monthly, or (ii) insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation;

- (f) banker's acceptances of banks whose senior obligations are rated in one of the top two short-term rating categories by at least two Rating Services and maintaining such rating during the term of such investment;
- (g) commercial paper of banks whose senior obligations are rated in one of the top two short-term rating categories by at least two Rating Services and maintaining such rating during the term of such investment;
- (h) tax-exempt securities exempt from federal arbitrage provisions applicable to investments of proceeds of the Corporation's tax-exempt debt obligations, provided that such securities must be rated by at least two Rating Services (with one such Rating Service being S&P or Moody's) no less than AA (or equivalent) and no less than the rating on the Bonds, and provided, further, that any such securities must be in book-entry form through The Depository Trust Company or a comparable depository;
- (i) domestic money market mutual funds regulated by and in good standing with the Securities and Exchange Commission and rated in one of the highest two short-term rating categories by at least two Rating Services, including any such fund for which the Trustee or any of its affiliates provides any service including any service for which a fee may be paid;
 - (j) Investment Agreements that are fully collateralized by Eligible Investments; and
- (k) domestic money market mutual funds regulated by and in good standing with the Securities and Exchange Commission that invest solely in investments of the types described in clauses (a), (b), (c) and/or (d) of this definition.
- **"EMMA"** means the Electronic Municipal Market Access system operated by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board or any successor nationally recognized municipal securities information repositories recognized by the Securities and Exchange Commission for the purposes referred to in Rule 15c2-12, as promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 - "Event of Default" has the meaning given to such term in Section 11.01 hereof.
- **"Fiscal Year"** means a period of twelve (12) consecutive months beginning July 1 of a calendar year and ending on June 30 of the next subsequent calendar year.
 - "Fitch" means Fitch Ratings and its successors.
- **"Fixed Income"** means, for Fiscal Year 2019, seven hundred eighty-three million, one hundred ninety-seven thousand, two hundred and fifty-one dollars (\$783,197,251) and, for each subsequent Fiscal Year, the Fixed Income for the prior Fiscal Year plus four percent (4%) of such Fixed Income, up to the Maximum Amount. The Fixed Income for each Fiscal Year shall be funded from the first revenues collected from the Pledged Sales Taxes.
- "Government Entity" means any agency, department, office, public corporation, trust, fund, system, instrumentality, political subdivision, taxing authority or municipality of the Commonwealth

"Indenture" means this Master Trust Indenture as amended or supplemented from time to time by Supplemental Indentures in accordance with the terms and provisions hereof.

"Initial Bonds" means collectively (i) the Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019A, as authorized to be issued by the First Supplemental Trust Indenture, dated as of even date herewith, by and between the Corporation and the Trustee and (ii) the Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B, as authorized to be issued by the Second Supplemental Trust Indenture, dated as of even date herewith, by and between the Corporation and the Trustee.

"Instructions" has the meaning given to such term in Section 8.05.

"Instructions Agreement" means that certain Instruction Agreement Regarding Certain Sales and Use Tax Revenues of the Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation, dated as of February 12, 2019, by and among the Corporation and the Department of Treasury and for the limited purposes set forth therein the Trustee and the Government Development Bank for Puerto Rico, as the same may be modified pursuant to the terms thereof. If a Modification occurs without complying with Section 7.19 below, then such Modification shall not be effective and all references herein to the Instructions Agreement shall imply an obligation to transfer all proceeds of the COFINA Revenues, plus the accrued interest thereon, in accordance with the most recently effective Instructions Agreement.

"Insured Bond" means a Bond issued hereunder and designated as an Insured Bond in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance thereof.

"Interest Account" means the account within the Debt Service Fund so designated, created and established pursuant to Section 5.02 hereof.

"Interest Funding Requirement" means, for each Fiscal Year, an amount equal to 100% of the interest due and payable on all Outstanding Bonds in such Fiscal Year and on the next succeeding July 1, excluding interest actually paid on the first day of such Fiscal Year and including any interest unpaid in prior Fiscal Years (and, for the avoidance of doubt, interest on any overdue interest) calculated based on a 360-day year consisting of twelve (12) 30-day months.

"Interest Payment Date" means each January 1 and July 1; provided, however, that with respect to the Initial Bonds that are not issued as Capital Appreciation Bonds, such term also includes the Effective Date.

"Investment Agreement" means a repurchase agreement or other agreement for the investment of money with a Qualified Financial Institution.

"KBRA" means Kroll Bond Rating Agency Inc. and its successors.

"Majority in Interest" means as of any particular date of calculation, the Holders of a majority of the Outstanding Bonds eligible to act on a matter, measured by (a) with respect to Bonds other than Capital Appreciation Bonds, the Principal amount thereof and (b) with respect to Capital Appreciation Bonds, the Accreted Value of such Bonds as of such date.

- **"Maximum Amount"** means one billion eight hundred and fifty million dollars (\$1,850,000,000.00).
- "Modification" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the Instructions Agreement.
 - "Monthly Disbursement Date" means the last Business Day of each calendar month.
 - "Moody's" means Moody's Investor Service, Inc. and its successors.
- "Municipal Obligation" means an obligation of any state or territory of the United States of America, any political subdivision of any state or territory of the United States of America, or any agency, authority, public benefit corporation or instrumentality of such state, territory or political subdivision.
- "Operating Reserve Fund" means the fund so designated, created and established pursuant to Section 5.02 hereof.
 - "Operating Reserve Fund Cap" means an amount not to exceed \$15,000,000.
- **"Outstanding"**, when used in reference to Bonds, means, as of a particular date, all such Bonds authenticated and delivered hereunder and under any applicable Supplemental Indenture except:
 - (a) any Bonds canceled by the Trustee at or before such date;
 - (b) any Bonds deemed to have been paid in accordance with Section 12.01 hereof;
- (c) any Bond canceled or paid pursuant to Section 3.09 and Section 4.06 hereof or any Bond in lieu of or in substitution for which another Bond, as applicable, shall have been authenticated and delivered pursuant to Article III, Section 4.06 or Section 10.06 hereof; and
- (d) for the purpose of calculating a Majority in Interest or a Quarter in Interest of Outstanding Bonds hereunder, any Bond deemed to not be Outstanding in accordance with Section 10.05 hereof.
 - "Oversight Board" has the meaning given to such term in the Recitals.
- "Paying Agent" means, with respect to the Bonds of any Series, the Trustee and any other bank or trust company and its successor or successors, appointed pursuant to the provisions hereof or of a Supplemental Indenture.
- "Plan of Adjustment" means the plan of adjustment consummated in connection with the Corporation's case under Title III of PROMESA, including the Confirmation Order entered by the Title III Court.
- "Pledged Sales Taxes" means (a) the present and future revenues and collections generated by that portion of the Sales and Use Tax that corresponds, initially, to a tax rate of five

and one-half percent (5.5%), subject to the right of the Commonwealth to reduce the rate of the Pledged Sales Taxes in accordance with Section 7.14(b) of this Indenture and the right of the Commonwealth to provide Substituted Collateral in accordance with the Substitution Requirements, and (b) the Substituted Collateral, if any, provided by the Commonwealth in accordance with the Substitution Requirements.

"Principal" means collectively, the principal payment required to be made on a Bond on its final maturity date and each Sinking Fund Installment of a Bond due on a Principal Payment Date.

"Principal Account" means the account within the Debt Service Fund so designated, created and established pursuant to Section 5.02 hereof.

"Principal Funding Requirement" means for each Fiscal Year, an amount equal to the sum of the Principal due on all Outstanding Bonds in such Fiscal Year and on the next succeeding Principal Payment Date, excluding Principal actually paid on the first day of such Fiscal Year and including any Principal unpaid in prior Fiscal Years.

"Principal Payment Date" means each July 1.

"Proceeding" means any suit in equity, action at law or other judicial or administrative proceeding.

"Projected Pledged Sales Taxes" means, with respect to proposed Subordinated Lien Bonds pursuant to Section 2.04 of this Indenture: (A) in the event that Subordinated Lien Bonds are being issued prior to Fiscal Year 2024, the projected amount of Pledged Sales Taxes calculated assuming the preceding Fiscal Year's collection of the Pledged Sales Taxes grow annually thereafter at the "sales and use tax" growth rates set forth for those subsequent years in the Commonwealth's certified fiscal plan, dated April 18, 2018, and (B) in the event that Subordinated Lien Bonds are being issued during Fiscal Year 2024 or thereafter, the projected amount of Pledged Sales Taxes calculated assuming the preceding Fiscal Year's collection of the Pledged Sales Taxes grow annually thereafter at a rate equal to the average annual "sales and use tax" growth rate for the preceding five (5) Fiscal Years.

"PROMESA" has the meaning given to such term in the Recitals.

"Qualified Financial Institution" means any of the following entities that has an equity capital of at least \$125,000,000 or whose obligations are unconditionally guaranteed by an affiliate or parent having an equity capital of at least \$125,000,000:

(a) a securities dealer, the liquidation of which is subject to the Securities Investors Protection Corporation or other similar corporation, and (i) that is on the Federal Reserve Bank of New York list of primary government securities dealers and (ii) whose senior unsecured long term debt is at the time an investment with it made rated by at least one Rating Service no lower than in the second highest rating category, or, in the absence of a rating on long term debt, whose short term debt is rated by at least one Rating Service no lower than in the highest rating category for such short term debt;

- (b) a bank, a trust company, a national banking association, a corporation subject to registration with the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 or any successor provisions of law, a federal branch pursuant to the International Banking Act of 1978 or any successor provisions of law, a domestic branch or agency of a foreign bank which branch or agency is duly licensed or authorized to do business under the laws of any state or territory of the United States of America, a savings bank, a savings and loan association, an insurance company or association chartered or organized under the laws of any state of the United States of America, whose senior unsecured long term debt is at the time an investment with it made rated by at least one Rating Service no lower than in the second highest rating category, or, in the absence of a rating on long term debt, whose short term debt is rated by at least one Rating Service no lower than in the highest rating category for such short term debt;
- (c) a corporation affiliated with or which is a subsidiary of any entity described in (a) or (b) above or which is affiliated with or a subsidiary of a corporation which controls or wholly owns any such entity, whose senior unsecured long term debt is at the time an investment with it made rated by at least one Rating Service no lower than in the second highest rating category, or, in the absence of a rating on long term debt, whose short term debt is rated by at least one Rating Service no lower than in the highest rating category for such short term debt;
- (d) the Government National Mortgage Association or any successor thereto, the Federal National Mortgage Association or any successor thereto, or any other federal agency or instrumentality approved by the Corporation; or
- (e) a corporation whose obligations, including any investments of any money held hereunder purchased from such corporation, are insured by an insurer that meet the applicable rating requirements set forth above.

"Qualified Municipal Advisor Firm" means a firm of registered municipal advisors that is ranked in the top ten financial advisory firms in total volume of municipal bonds with respect to which they served as financial advisor in the prior calendar year by Thomson Reuters/SDC or any successor ranking service thereto.

"Quarter in Interest" means as of any particular date of calculation, the Holders of no less than twenty-five percent (25%) of the Outstanding Bonds eligible to act on a matter, measured by (a) with respect to Bonds other than Capital Appreciation Bonds, the Principal amount thereof and (b) with respect to Capital Appreciation Bonds, the Accreted Value of such Bonds as of such date. In the event that two or more groups of Holders satisfy the percentage requirement set forth in the immediately preceding sentence and act (or direct the Trustee to act) in a conflicting manner, only the group of Holders with the greatest percentage of Outstanding Bonds (as measured in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence) shall, to the extent of such conflict, be deemed to satisfy such requirement.

"Quarterly Funding Requirements" has the meaning given to such term in Section 5.05(b) hereof.

- "Quarterly Installment" has the meaning given to such term in Section 5.05(b) hereof.
- "Rating Confirmation" means the written confirmation of each Rating Service to the effect that the rating assigned, without regard to any insurance or other credit enhancement, to each of the Bonds rated by such Rating Service will remain unchanged and will not be withdrawn, suspended or reduced as a consequence of some act or occurrence.
- "Rating Service" means as of any particular date of determination each of Fitch, KBRA, Moody's and S&P, or their respective successors, or any other nationally recognized statistical rating organization identified as such by the Securities and Exchange Commission.
- "Record Date" means, when used in relation to the Bonds of a Series, the date specified as the record date for such Bonds in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Bonds.
- **"Redemption Price"** when used with respect to a Bond, means the Principal amount of such Bond plus the applicable premium, if any, payable upon redemption prior to maturity thereof pursuant hereto or to the applicable Supplemental Indenture.
- "**Refunding Bonds**" means any of the Bonds issued to refund, refinance or defease other Bonds in compliance with the provisions of Section 2.02 hereof.
- **"Remainder Fund"** means the fund so designated, created and established pursuant to Section 5.02 hereof.
- "Restructuring Transaction" means the transactions contemplated by, or in furtherance of, the Plan of Adjustment.
 - "S&P" means S&P Global Ratings and its successors.
- **"Sales and Use Tax"** means the sales and use taxes imposed by the Commonwealth pursuant to Sections 4020.01 and 4020.02 of Subchapter D of Act No. 1-2011, as amended, known as the Internal Revenue Code for a New Puerto Rico.
- **"Secretary of Treasury"** means the Secretary of Treasury of the Puerto Rico Department of Treasury.
 - "Serial Bonds" means the Bonds so designated in a Supplemental Indenture.
- "Series" means with respect to Bonds, all of the Bonds authenticated and delivered on original issuance and pursuant hereto and to the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Bonds as a separate Series of Bonds, and any Bonds thereafter authenticated and delivered in lieu of or in substitution for such Bonds pursuant to Article III, Section 4.06 or Section 10.06 hereof, regardless of variations in maturity, interest rate, Sinking Fund Installments or other provisions.
 - "Settlement" has the meaning given to such term in the Recitals.
 - "Settlement Agreement" has the meaning given to such term in the Recitals.

"Sinking Fund Installment" means, as of any date of computation, the amount of money required to be paid on a single future July 1 for the retirement of any Bonds which mature after said future July 1, but does not include any amount payable by the Corporation by reason only of the maturity of a Bond.

"Statutory Lien" means the statutory first lien on the Trust Estate, as described in the recitals hereof, created under and imposed by Article 3.2 of the Act.

"Subordinated Lien Bonds" has the meaning given to such term in Section 2.04.

"Substituted Collateral" means all or a portion of a tax of general applicability throughout the Commonwealth that is enacted in accordance with the Act and this Indenture in full substitution of the Pledged Sales Tax or otherwise constitutes like or comparable security for the Bonds.

"Substitution Requirements" means (a) the enactment of legislation providing for Substituted Collateral that also provides (i) that the Substituted Collateral in an amount equal to the COFINA Revenues has been irrevocably transferred to and is owned solely and exclusively by the Corporation to the full extent provided under Article 2.2 of the Act, (ii) that on and after such transfer, such Substituted Collateral in an amount equal to the COFINA Revenues is not, and shall not constitute, "available resources" or "available revenues" of the Commonwealth as that term is used in Section 8 of Article VI of the Puerto Rico Constitution or as otherwise used in the Puerto Rico Constitution (whether construed pursuant to the Spanish or English version of the Puerto Rico Constitution), (iii) for a lien on such Substituted Collateral in favor of the Trustee (for the benefit of the Holders of Bonds) to the full extent provided for under Article 3.2 of the Act, and (iv) that the Commonwealth and the Government Entities, if any, shall provide with respect to the Substituted Collateral the covenants set forth in Article 3.3 of the Act with respect to the COFINA Revenues, (b) prior to the substitution of the Substituted Collateral, at least two Rating Services (with one such Rating Service being S&P or Moody's) shall confirm in writing that the ratings on the Bonds (without regard to bond insurance or other credit enhancement) will not be downgraded and will be rated no lower than A2/A (or equivalent) following the substitution of the Substituted Collateral, (c) an opinion of Transaction Counsel delivered to the Trustee to the effect that (i) the substitution of the Substituted Collateral will not cause interest on the Tax Exempt Bonds to become includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes and (ii) the legislation providing for the provision of Substituted Collateral creates a valid pledge and a valid lien upon the right, title and interest of the Corporation in the Substituted Collateral in favor of the Trustee (for the benefit of the Holders of the Bonds) which it purports to create, subject only to the provisions of this Indenture permitting the withdrawal, payment, setting apart or appropriation thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture and each applicable Supplemental Indenture; and (d) such other documents, if any, required by applicable law.

"Supplemental Indenture" means any indenture of the Corporation amending or supplementing this Indenture or any prior Supplemental Indenture executed and becoming effective in accordance with the terms and provisions of Article IX hereof.

- "Tax Exempt Bond" means any Bond as to which Transaction Counsel has rendered an opinion to the effect that interest on it is excluded from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation
- **"Term Bond"** means a Bond so designated in a Supplemental Indenture and payable from Sinking Fund Installments.
 - "Title III Cases" has the meaning given to such term in the Recitals.
 - "Title III Court" has the meaning given to such term in the Recitals.
- **"Transaction Counsel"** means a nationally recognized bond counsel as may be selected by the Corporation for a specific purpose hereunder.
- "Trust Estate" has the meaning given to such term in the granting clause of this Indenture; *provided, however*, that if Substituted Collateral is provided in compliance with the Substitution Requirements, then from and after the provision of such Substituted Collateral, clause (i) of the definition of Trust Estate in the granting clause of this Indenture shall be deemed to be references to such Substituted Collateral.
- "Trustee" means the bank or trust company appointed as Trustee for the Bonds pursuant to Section 8.01 hereof and having the duties, responsibilities and rights provided for herein, and its successor or successors and any other bank or trust company which may at any time be substituted in its place pursuant hereto.
- "Trustee Expenses" means the permitted costs, fees and expenses of the Trustee arising out of or incurred in connection with carrying out and administering its duties hereunder, but excludes the Trustee's rights to indemnification, including the fees and expenses incurred in connection with any indemnified claim.
- "**Trustee Expenses Account**" means the account within the Operating Reserve Fund so designated, created and established pursuant to Section 5.02 hereof.
 - "Trustee Expenses Cap" means an amount not to exceed \$250,000.00.
- **"US Government Obligation"** means (a) a direct obligation of, or an obligation the timely payment of the principal of and interest on which is guaranteed by, the United States of America, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Federal National Mortgage Association, Federal Home Loan Banks, the Government National Mortgage Association, or the Federal Farm Credit System and (b) an obligation of the United States of America which has been stripped by the United States Department of the Treasury itself or by any Federal Reserve Bank (not including "CATS," "TIGRS" and "TRS").
- **"Valuation Date"** means with respect to any Capital Appreciation Bond, each January 1 and July 1; provided, however, that with respect to the Initial Bonds that are issued as Capital Appreciation Bonds, such term also includes the Effective Date.

Section 1.02 Rules of Construction. Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders. Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, words importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa, and words importing persons shall include firms, associations and corporations, including public bodies as well as natural persons.

The words "include", "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without limitation". The terms "hereby," "hereof," "hereto," "herein," "hereunder," and any similar terms, as used in the Indenture, refer to the Indenture. All references to Articles and Sections in this Indenture refer to the Articles and Sections hereof unless otherwise expressly stated. All references to articles and sections of other documents or statutes shall use the numbers of the applicable articles or sections in effect as of the date hereof.

"\$" and "dollars" each refer to United States dollars, or such other money of the United States of America that at the time of payment is legal tender for payment of public and private debts.

ARTICLE II.

AUTHORIZATION AND ISSUANCE OF BONDS

Section 2.01 Authorization of Bonds. There are hereby authorized to be issued Bonds of the Corporation to be designated as "Restructured Sales Tax Bonds," which, in accordance with, and as provided by, Article 3.2 of the Act (and with respect to the Substituted Collateral, if any, pursuant to the legislation providing therefor in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Act and this Indenture) are secured by the Statutory Lien on the Trust Estate to secure the payment of the Principal and Redemption Price of and interest on all Outstanding Bonds. The Bonds shall be special obligations of the Corporation payable solely from the Trust Estate in the manner more particularly provided herein. The aggregate principal amount of Bonds which may be executed, authenticated and delivered is not limited except as provided hereby and in the Plan of Adjustment and the terms and conditions authorized by the Corporation and set forth in the Ancillary Agreements.

The Bonds may, if and when authorized by the Corporation pursuant hereto and to one or more Supplemental Indentures, be issued in one or more Series and the Bonds of each Series shall contain an appropriate Series designation.

The Bonds shall not constitute a debt of the Commonwealth or of any Government Entity other than the Corporation. The Bonds shall not constitute indebtedness or an obligation of the Commonwealth or any subdivision thereof within the purview of any constitutional or statutory limitation or provision or a charge against the general credit or taxing powers, if any, of any of them but shall be payable solely from the Trust Estate, including, particularly, the COFINA Revenues. The Corporation has no taxing power.

Section 2.02 Provisions for Issuance of Bonds. The Corporation shall issue Bonds under this Indenture in accordance with, and upon receipt of, the written direction of the Secretary of Treasury; provided, however, that such direction may not conflict with the terms of this

Indenture. The issuance of the Initial Bonds and any Series of Refunding Bonds permitted to be issued hereunder shall be authorized by a Supplemental Indenture or Supplemental Indentures. The Bonds of a Series authorized to be issued shall be executed by the Corporation and delivered to the Trustee. Such Bonds shall from time to time and in such amounts as directed by the Corporation be authenticated by the Trustee and by it delivered to or upon the order of the Corporation upon receipt of the consideration therefor and upon delivery to the Trustee of:

- (a) A copy of the Indenture and the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Bonds, certified by an Authorized Officer of the Corporation;
- (b) A written order as to the delivery of such Bonds, signed by an Authorized Officer of the Corporation, describing the Bonds to be delivered, designating the person(s) to whom such Bonds are to be delivered and stating the consideration for such Bonds;
- (c) A certificate of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation stating that the Corporation is not, and, as a result of the issuance of such Bonds, will not:
 - (i) be, in default in the performance of any of the covenants, conditions, agreements or provisions contained herein or in the Ancillary Agreements (to the extent affecting the issuance of the Bonds), or stating that after the issuance thereof the Corporation shall no longer be in default in the performance of any of the covenants, conditions, agreements or provisions contained herein; and
 - (ii) violate the restrictions on the issuance of Bonds contained in the Ancillary Agreements;
- (d) For each issuance of Bonds (i) the written direction of the Secretary of Treasury to issue such Bonds and (ii) a certificate of the Secretary of Treasury stating that (A) the Commonwealth is not, and, as a result of the issuance of such Bonds, shall not be, in default in the performance of any of the covenants of the Commonwealth contained herein and in the Act or (B) after the issuance of such Bonds, the Commonwealth shall no longer be in default in the performance of any of the covenants of the Commonwealth contained herein and in the Act;
- (e) For each issuance of Refunding Bonds, a certificate of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation demonstrating that upon the issuance of such Series of Refunding Bonds:
 - (A) the Corporation is not entitled to an increase in the COFINA Revenues;
 - (B) the final maturity date of the Refunding Bonds is not later than July 1, 2058; and
 - (C) upon the issuance of any Refunding Bonds:
 - (1) Principal and interest due on Outstanding Bonds in the then-current and each future Fiscal Year immediately after the issuance of the Refunding Bonds shall be equal to or less than the Principal and interest due on Outstanding Bonds in the then-current and each future Fiscal Year immediately prior to such issuance; and

- (2) Debt Service Savings shall only be realized in the same Fiscal Years in which Principal of the Bonds and the interest thereon were refunded and/or purchased;
- (f) A certified copy of the resolution of the board of AAFAF approving the issuance of the Series of Bonds by the Corporation; provided, however, that if AAFAF is no longer in existence and has no successor, or if its successor is not required to approve the issuance of the applicable Series of Bonds, then no such resolution shall be required; and
- An opinion of Transaction Counsel to the effect that (i) the Indenture and the applicable Supplemental Indenture authorizing the Series of Bonds have been duly and lawfully authorized, executed and delivered by the Corporation; (ii) the Indenture and the applicable Supplemental Indenture are in full force and effect and are valid and binding upon the Corporation and enforceable in accordance with their terms; (iii) (a) if Substituted Collateral has not been provided in accordance with the Substitution Requirements and Section 3.3 of the Act, the Statutory Lien creates the valid pledge and the valid lien upon the right, title and interest of the Corporation in the Trust Estate in favor of the Trustee (for the benefit of the Holders of Bonds) which it purports to create, subject only to the provisions of the Indenture permitting the withdrawal, payment, setting apart or appropriation thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture and each applicable Supplemental Indenture or (b) if Substituted Collateral has been provided in accordance with the Substitution Requirements and Section 3.3 of the Act, the legislation providing for the provision of Substituted Collateral creates a valid pledge and a valid lien upon the right, title and interest of the Corporation in the Substituted Collateral in favor of the Trustee (for the benefit of the Holders of the Bonds) which it purports to create, subject only to the provisions of the Indenture permitting the withdrawal, payment, setting apart or appropriation thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture and each applicable Supplemental Indenture; and (iv) the Corporation is duly authorized and entitled to issue such Series of Bonds and, upon the execution and delivery thereof and upon authentication by the Trustee, such Series of Bonds will be duly and validly issued and will constitute valid and binding special obligations of the Corporation entitled to the benefits of the Indenture; provided, however, that such opinion of Transaction Counsel may rely on the determinations of the Title III Court as set forth in the Confirmation Order; provided, further, that such opinion of Transaction Counsel may be qualified to the extent that enforceability of rights and remedies may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally or as to the availability of any particular remedy.

Section 2.03 Supplemental Indentures. Each Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of a Series of Bonds shall specify the following:

- (a) The authorized principal amount of such Series of Bonds;
- (b) The date or dates of the Bonds, the maturity date or dates and principal amounts of each maturity of the Bonds of such Series, the amount and date of each Sinking Fund Installment, as applicable, and which Bonds of such Series are Serial Bonds or Term Bonds, if any, and the Record Date or Record Dates of the Bonds of such Series;
- (c) The interest rate or rates, if any, on the Bonds of such Series and the first date on which interest on the Bonds of such Series shall be payable; *provided, however,* in no event shall

a Holder of Bonds be entitled to the payment of a penalty for a payment default (including, without limitation, penalty interest and any interest or other amounts due thereon) other than overdue interest that accrues at the regular non-penalty rate of the applicable Bond or interest accruing on such overdue interest at the regular non-penalty rate of the applicable Bond;

- (d) If all or a portion of the Bonds of such Series are Capital Appreciation Bonds, the Valuation Dates for such Bonds and the Accreted Value on each such Valuation Date;
- (e) The denomination or denominations of and the manner of numbering and lettering of the Bonds of such Series;
- (f) The Redemption Price or Redemption Prices, if any, and, subject to Article IV hereof, the redemption terms, if any, for the Bonds of such Series;
- (g) Provisions for the sale or exchange of the Bonds of such Series and for the delivery thereof:
- (h) The form of the Bonds of such Series and the form of the Trustee's certificate of authentication thereon, and whether any Bonds of such Series are to be issued as Book Entry Bonds and the Depository therefor;
 - (i) Directions for the application of the proceeds of the Bonds of such Series;
- (j) If all or a portion of such Bonds will be issued as Insured Bonds, the terms and conditions for payment of such Insured Bonds under the applicable Bond Insurance Policy; *provided, however,* in no event shall the Holder of Insured Bonds or the Bond Insurer be entitled to the payment of a penalty for a payment default (including, without limitation, penalty interest and any interest or other amounts due thereon); and
- (k) Any other provisions deemed advisable by an Authorized Officer of the Corporation not in conflict with the provisions hereof or of any Ancillary Agreement.
- **Section 2.04** Additional Indebtedness. Following the issuance of the Initial Bonds, the Corporation may not incur any additional indebtedness except that the Corporation may issue or incur:
- (a) Refunding Bonds under and in compliance with the provisions hereof, including, particularly, Section 2.02(e); and
- (b) obligations under and in accordance with the requirements contained in Section 16.3 of the Plan of Adjustment ("Subordinated Lien Bonds"), which requirements are described in the next following paragraph (the "Additional Bonds Test").

The Corporation may issue Subordinated Lien Bonds for the benefit of, and with the consent of, the Commonwealth and for any lawful purpose of the Commonwealth, provided that (x) repayment of such Subordinated Lien Bonds shall be secured by a second lien that is subordinated in all respects, including, without limitation, in respect of payment, funding and remedies to the Bonds, with repayment of Subordinated Lien Bonds being secured by a

subordinated second or more junior lien on the Pledged Sales Taxes; *provided, however*, that repayment of the Subordinated Lien Bonds shall not be payable from the COFINA Revenues and (y) prior to the issuance thereof, the Secretary of Treasury and an Authorized Officer of the Corporation shall deliver a jointly executed certificate to the Trustee certifying that the following conditions are each satisfied: (i) the Projected Pledged Sales Taxes equal or exceed one and one-half times (1.5x), in any succeeding Fiscal Year, the annual aggregate debt service due on the Bonds and Subordinated Lien Bonds to remain outstanding after the issuance of such Subordinated Lien Bonds (including the Subordinated Lien Bonds to be issued); (ii) the preceding Fiscal Year's collections from the Pledged Sales Taxes is equal to or greater than one and one-tenth times (1.10x) coverage of the maximum annual aggregate debt service due in any succeeding Fiscal Year on all Bonds and Subordinated Lien Bonds to remain outstanding after the issuance of such Subordinated Lien Bonds (including the Subordinated Lien Bonds to be issued); and (iii) the Subordinated Lien Bonds have a maturity not later than Fiscal Year 2058; *provided, however*, that, subsequent to June 30, 2028, and subject to compliance with the foregoing Additional Bonds Test, final maturity beyond Fiscal Year 2058 shall be permissible for future Subordinated Lien Bonds.

Any Subordinated Lien Bonds permitted to be issued by the Corporation hereunder and under the Act shall be issued pursuant to a separate bond resolution or bond indenture provided that the issuance thereof is authorized by the Additional Bonds Test set forth above and by the Commonwealth Legislature, which legislation shall establish, or provide for the establishment of, the terms of such Subordinated Lien Bonds and the purposes for which the proceeds of such Subordinated Lien Bonds may be used. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, any such Subordinated Lien Bonds issued by the Corporation shall not be secured by nor shall such Subordinated Lien Bonds be payable from the Trust Estate.

ARTICLE III.

GENERAL TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF BONDS

Section 3.01 Place and Medium of Payment. The Bonds shall be payable, with respect to interest, Principal and Redemption Price, in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts. Except as otherwise provided in Section 4.06 hereof, upon presentation and surrender of Bonds, the Principal or Redemption Price of such Bonds shall be payable at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee. Interest on the Bonds shall be paid by check mailed to the registered owner thereof at the address thereof as it appears on the registry books of the Corporation or if authorized by the Supplemental Indenture authorizing a Series of Bonds by wire transfer to such registered owner of the Bonds of such Series. For purposes of this Section, interest is payable on an Interest Payment Date to the registered owner of a Bond at the close of business on the Record Date for such Bond. All payments of Principal or Redemption Price of or interest on Bonds shall specify the CUSIP number or numbers of the Bonds in connection with which such payment is made.

The Bonds of each Series shall be issued in the form of fully registered Bonds without coupons.

Bonds of each Series issued prior to the first Interest Payment Date thereof shall be dated as of the date specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance thereof. Bonds of

each Series issued on or subsequent to the first Interest Payment Date thereof shall be dated as of the Interest Payment Date immediately preceding the date of authentication thereof by the Trustee, unless such date of authentication shall be an Interest Payment Date, in which case they shall be dated as of such date of authentication; *provided*, *however*, that if, as shown by the records of the Trustee, interest on the Bonds of any Series has not been paid as of the Interest Payment Date immediately preceding the date of authentication thereof by the Trustee, the Bonds of such Series issued in lieu of Bonds surrendered for transfer or exchange shall be dated as of the date through which interest has been paid in full on the Bonds surrendered or, if no interest has been paid on the Bonds surrendered since their authentication, as of the date of authentication of the surrendered Bonds. Bonds of each Series shall bear interest from their date and shall bear interest on overdue interest at the interest rate of such Bonds, which shall capitalize on each Interest Payment Date. For the avoidance of doubt, if any Principal of, or accrued interest on, a Bond is not paid when due, such Principal and interest shall remain due and payable until paid.

All Bonds of each Series shall mature and/or have Sinking Fund Installments on July 1 of the year or years fixed by the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Bonds. Interest on all Bonds (other than Capital Appreciation Bonds) shall be payable on each Interest Payment Date of each year. The first installment of interest due on the Bonds of a Series may be for such period as the Corporation shall fix in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance thereof.

Section 3.02 Legends. The Bonds may contain, or have endorsed thereon, such provisions, specifications and descriptive words not inconsistent herewith or with any Supplemental Indenture authorizing the same, as may be necessary or desirable and as may be determined by the Corporation prior to their delivery. The Initial Bonds shall distinctively bear the following legend: "DETERMINED BY THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO TO BE VALID, LEGALLY BINDING, AND ENFORCEABLE PURSUANT TO THE JUDGEMENT AND CONFIRMATION ORDER, ENTERED ON THE 5TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2019."

Section 3.03 CUSIP Numbers. The Corporation shall provide for the assignment of CUSIP numbers for all Bonds and cause such CUSIP numbers to be printed thereon, and the Trustee shall use such CUSIP numbers in notices of redemption and on all checks payable to Bondholders as a convenience to Bondholders; *provided, however*, that any such notice may state that no representation is made as to the correctness of such number either as printed on such Bonds or as contained in any notice of redemption, and that an error in a CUSIP number as printed on such Bond or as contained in any notice of redemption shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for redemption. The Corporation shall promptly notify the Trustee of any change in the CUSIP numbers assigned to any Bond of which the Corporation has knowledge. The Trustee shall deliver a copy of the foregoing notice to the Holders promptly following its receipt thereof.

Section 3.04 Execution and Authentication. The Bonds shall be executed in the name of the Corporation by the manual or facsimile signature of an Authorized Officer thereof, and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the board of the Corporation or other Authorized Officer of the Corporation, or in such other manner as may be permitted by law. In case any one or more of the officers or employees who shall have signed any of the Bonds shall cease to be such officer or employee before the Bonds so signed shall have

been actually authenticated and delivered by the Trustee, such Bonds may, nevertheless, be delivered as provided herein, and may be issued as if the persons who signed such Bonds had not ceased to hold such offices or be so employed. Any Bond may be signed on behalf of the Corporation by such persons as at the actual time of the execution of such Bond shall be duly authorized or hold the proper office in or be employed by, the Corporation, although at the date of the Bonds such persons may not have been so authorized or have held such office or employment.

The Bonds of each Series shall bear thereon a certificate of authentication, in the form set forth in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Bonds, executed manually by the Trustee. Only such Bonds as shall bear thereon such executed certificate of authentication shall be entitled to any right or benefit hereunder and no Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose until such certificate of authentication shall have been duly executed by the Trustee. Such certificate of the Trustee upon any Bond executed on behalf of the Corporation shall be conclusive evidence that the Bond so authenticated has been duly authenticated and delivered hereunder and that the Holder thereof is entitled to the benefits hereof.

Section 3.05 Interchangeability of Bonds. Bonds, upon surrender thereof at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee with a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Trustee, duly executed by the registered owner or his attorney duly authorized in writing, may, at the option of the registered owner thereof, be exchanged for an equal aggregate principal amount of Bonds of the same Series, maturity and tenor of any other authorized denominations.

Section 3.06 Transfer and Registry. So long as any of the Bonds remain Outstanding, the Corporation shall maintain and keep, or cause to be maintained and kept, at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee, books for the registration and transfer of Bonds; and, upon presentation thereof for such purpose at said office, the Corporation shall register or cause to be registered therein, and permit to be transferred thereon, under such reasonable regulations as it or the Trustee may prescribe, any Bond entitled to registration or transfer. So long as any of the Bonds remain Outstanding, the Corporation shall make all necessary provisions to permit the exchange of Bonds at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee.

Section 3.07 Transfer of Bonds. Each Bond shall be transferable only upon the books of the Corporation, which shall be kept for that purpose at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee, by the registered owner thereof in person or by his attorney duly authorized in writing, upon surrender thereof together with a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Trustee duly executed by the registered owner or his duly authorized attorney and the payment of a charge sufficient to reimburse the Corporation or the Trustee for any tax, fee or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such transfer. Upon the transfer of any such Bond, the Corporation shall cause to be issued in the name of the transferee a new Bond or Bonds of the same aggregate principal amount, Series, maturity and tenor as the surrendered Bond.

The transferor shall provide or cause to be provided to the Trustee all information necessary to allow the Trustee to comply with any applicable tax reporting obligations, including without limitation any cost basis reporting obligations under Section 6045 of the Code. The Trustee may rely on the information provided to it and shall have no responsibility to verify or ensure the accuracy of such information.

The Corporation and the Trustee may deem and treat the person in whose name any Outstanding Bond shall be registered upon the books of the Corporation as the absolute owner of such Bond, whether such Bond shall be overdue or not, for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the Principal or Redemption Price of and, subject to the provisions of Section 3.01 hereof with respect to Record Dates, interest on such Bond and for all other purposes whatsoever, and all such payments so made to any such registered owner or upon his order shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Bond to the extent of the sum or sums paid, and neither the Corporation nor the Trustee shall be affected by any notice to the contrary. The Corporation agrees to indemnify and save the Trustee harmless from and against any and all loss, cost, charge, expense, judgment or liability incurred by it, acting in good faith and without negligence hereunder, in so treating such registered owner.

Section 3.08 Regulations with Respect to Exchanges and Transfers. In all cases in which the privilege of exchanging Bonds or transferring Bonds is exercised, the Corporation shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver Bonds in accordance with the provisions hereof. All Bonds surrendered in any such exchanges or transfers shall forthwith be canceled by the Trustee. For every such exchange or transfer of Bonds, whether temporary or definitive, the Corporation or the Trustee may make a charge sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer, which sum or sums shall be paid by the person requesting such exchange or transfer as a condition precedent to the exercise of the privilege of making such exchange or transfer. Notwithstanding any other provisions hereof, the cost of preparing each new Bond upon each exchange or transfer, and any other expenses of the Corporation or the Trustee incurred in connection therewith, shall be paid by the person requesting such exchange or transfer. The Corporation shall not be obliged to make, or cause to be made, any exchange or transfer of Bonds of any Series during the period beginning on the Record Date for such Bonds immediately preceding an Interest Payment Date on such Bonds and ending on such Interest Payment Date, or, in the case of any proposed redemption of Bonds of such Series, after the date immediately preceding the date notice of redemption has been mailed.

Section 3.09 Bonds Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen. In case any Bond shall become mutilated or be destroyed, lost or stolen, the Corporation in its discretion may execute, and upon its request the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, a new Bond of like Series, maturity, tenor and principal amount as the Bond so mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen, in exchange and substitution for the mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Bond, upon surrender and cancellation of such mutilated Bond or in lieu of and substitution for such Bond so destroyed, lost or stolen, upon filing with the Corporation evidence satisfactory to the Corporation and the Trustee that such Bond has been destroyed, lost or stolen and proof of ownership thereof, and upon furnishing the Corporation and the Trustee with indemnity satisfactory to them and complying with such other reasonable regulations as the Corporation and the Trustee may prescribe and paying such expenses as the Corporation and the Trustee may incur in connection therewith. All Bonds so surrendered to the Trustee shall be canceled by it and evidence of such cancellation shall be given to the Corporation. In case any Bond which has matured or is about to mature shall have become mutilated or have been destroyed, lost or stolen, the Corporation may, instead of issuing a Bond in exchange or substitution therefor, pay or authorize the payment of such mutilated Bond upon the surrender on or after the maturity date thereof, or authorize the payment of such destroyed, lost or stolen Bond, upon the Holder thereof filing evidence satisfactory to the Corporation and the Trustee that such Bond has been destroyed, lost or stolen and proof of ownership thereof, and upon furnishing the Corporation and the Trustee with indemnity satisfactory to them and complying with such other reasonable regulations as the Corporation and the Trustee may prescribe and paying such expenses as the Corporation and the Trustee may incur in connection therewith.

Section 3.10 Book Entry Bonds. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, Bonds may be authorized and issued as Book Entry Bonds in accordance with the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Bonds.

For all purposes of the Indenture the Holder of a Book Entry Bond shall be the Depository therefor and neither the Corporation nor the Trustee shall have responsibility or any obligation to the beneficial owner of such Bond or to any direct or indirect participant in such Depository. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, neither the Corporation nor the Trustee shall have any responsibility or obligation to any such participant or to the beneficial owner of a Book Entry Bond with respect to (a) the accuracy of the records of the Depository or any participant with respect to any beneficial ownership interest in such Bond, (b) the delivery to any participant of the Depository, the beneficial owner of such Bond or any other person, other than the Depository, of any notice with respect to such Bond, including any notice of the redemption thereof, or (c) the payment to any participant of the Depository, the beneficial owner of such Bond or any other person, other than the Depository, of any amount with respect to the Principal or Redemption Price of, or interest on, such Bond. The Corporation and the Trustee may treat the Depository therefor as the absolute owner of a Book Entry Bond for the purpose of (x) payment of the Principal or Redemption Price of and interest on such Bond, (y) giving notices of redemption and of other matters with respect to such Bond, (z) registering transfers with respect to such Bond, and for all other purposes whatsoever. The Trustee shall pay all Principal or Redemption Price of and interest on such Bond only to or upon the order of the Depository, and all such payments shall be valid and effective to fully satisfy and discharge the Corporation's obligations with respect to such Principal or Redemption Price and interest to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. No person other than the Depository shall receive a Bond or other instrument evidencing the Corporation's obligation to make payments of the principal or Redemption Price thereof and interest thereon.

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, payment of the Redemption Price of a Book Entry Bond which is redeemed in part prior to maturity may be paid to the Depository by wire transfer without surrender of such Bond to the Trustee; *provided, however*, that the Trustee shall maintain records as to each such payment and of the principal amount of such Bond Outstanding, which shall be binding on the Corporation and the Holders from time to time of such Bond.

The Corporation, without the consent of the Trustee, the beneficial owner of a Book Entry Bond or any other person, may terminate the services of the Depository with respect to a Book Entry Bond if the Corporation reasonably determines in good faith following consultation with the Trustee that (a) the Depository is unable to discharge its responsibilities with respect to such Bonds or (b) a continuation of the requirement that all of the Outstanding Bonds of like Series issued in book entry form be registered in the registration books of the Corporation in the name of the Depository, is not in the best interest of the beneficial owners of such Bonds, and the Corporation shall terminate the services of the Depository upon receipt by the Corporation and the Trustee of written notice from the Depository that it has received written requests that such Depository be removed from its participants having beneficial interests, as shown in the records of the

Depository, in an aggregate amount of not less than a Majority in Interest of the then Outstanding Bonds for which the Depository is serving as Depository.

Upon the termination of the services of a Depository with respect to a Book Entry Bond, or upon the resignation of a Depository with respect to a Book Entry Bond, after which no substitute securities depository willing to undertake the functions of such Depository can be found which, in the reasonable opinion of the Corporation following consultation with the Trustee, is able to undertake such functions upon reasonable and customary terms, such Bonds shall no longer be registered in the registration books kept by the Trustee in the name of a Depository, but shall be registered in the name or names of the Bondholders transferring or exchanging such Bonds shall designate, in accordance with the provisions of Article III hereof.

In connection with any proposed transfer outside the book-entry system, the Corporation or the Depository shall provide or cause to be provided to the Trustee all information necessary to allow the Trustee to comply with any applicable tax reporting obligations, including without limitation any cost basis reporting obligations under Section 6045 of the Code. The Trustee may rely on the information provided to it and shall have no responsibility to verify or ensure the accuracy of such information.

Section 3.11 Preparation of Definitive Bonds; Temporary Bonds. The definitive Bonds of each Series shall be lithographed or printed on steel engraved borders, except that Book Entry Bonds may be typewritten. Until the definitive Bonds of any Series are prepared, the Corporation may execute, in the same manner as is provided in Section 3.04 hereof, and deliver, in lieu of definitive Bonds, but subject to the same provisions, limitations and conditions as the definitive Bonds, except as to the denominations thereof and as to exchangeability for registered Bonds, one or more temporary Bonds, substantially of the tenor of the definitive Bonds in lieu of which such temporary Bond or Bonds are issued, in authorized denominations or any whole multiples thereof authorized by the Corporation, and with such omissions, insertions and variations as may be appropriate to such temporary Bonds. The Corporation at its own expense shall prepare and execute and, upon the surrender at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee of such temporary Bonds for exchange and the cancellation of such surrendered temporary Bonds the Trustee shall authenticate and, without charge to the Holder thereof, deliver in exchange therefor, at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee, definitive Bonds of the same aggregate principal amount, Series and maturity as the temporary Bonds surrendered. Until so exchanged, the temporary Bonds shall in all respects be entitled to the same benefits and security as definitive Bonds issued pursuant hereto.

All temporary Bonds surrendered in exchange for a definitive Bond or Bonds shall be forthwith canceled by the Trustee.

ARTICLE IV.

REDEMPTION OF BONDS

Section 4.01 Authorization of Redemption. Bonds subject to redemption prior to maturity pursuant hereto or to a Supplemental Indenture shall be redeemable, in accordance with

this Article IV, at such times, at such Redemption Prices and upon such terms as may otherwise be specified herein or in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series.

Section 4.02 Redemption at the Election of the Corporation. In the case of any redemption of Bonds other than as provided in Section 4.03 hereof, the Corporation shall give written notice to the Trustee of its election to redeem, of the Series and of the principal amounts and Redemption Prices of the Bonds of each maturity of such Series to be redeemed. Such notice shall be given not less than thirty-five (35) days prior to the redemption date. The Series, maturities and principal amounts thereof to be so redeemed shall be determined by the Corporation in its sole discretion, subject to any limitations with respect thereto contained herein (including, without limitation, Section 4.04 below) or in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series. The Corporation shall pay to the Trustee on or prior to the redemption date an amount which, in addition to other amounts available therefor held by the Trustee in the Debt Retirement Fund, is sufficient to redeem on the redemption date at the Redemption Price thereof, together with interest accrued and unpaid thereon to the redemption date, all of the Bonds to be so redeemed.

Section 4.03 Redemption Other Than at Corporation's Election. Whenever by the terms hereof or of a Supplemental Indenture the Trustee is required to redeem Bonds through the application of mandatory Sinking Fund Installments, the Trustee shall select the Bonds of the Series and maturities to be redeemed in the manner provided in Section 4.04 hereof, give the notice of redemption and pay out of money available therefor the Redemption Price thereof, together with interest accrued and unpaid thereon to the redemption date, to the appropriate Paying Agents in accordance with the terms of this Article IV.

Section 4.04 Selection of Bonds to be Redeemed. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of Bonds of a Series, in the event of redemption of less than all of the Outstanding Bonds of like Series, maturity and tenor, the Trustee shall assign to each Outstanding Bond of the Series, maturity and tenor to be redeemed a distinctive number for each unit of the principal amount of such Bond equal to the lowest denomination in which the Bonds of such Series are authorized to be issued and shall select by lot, using such method of selection as it shall deem proper in its discretion, from the numbers assigned to such Bonds as many numbers as, at such unit amount equal to the lowest denomination in which the Bonds of such Series are authorized to be issued for each number, shall equal the principal amount of such Bonds to be redeemed. In making such selections the Trustee may draw the Bonds by lot (i) individually or (ii) by one or more groups, the grouping for the purpose of such drawing to be by serial numbers (or, in the case of Bonds of a denomination of more than the lowest denomination in which the Bonds of such Series are authorized to be issued, by the numbers assigned thereto as in this Section 4.04 provided) which end in the same digit or in the same two digits. In case, upon any drawing by groups, the total principal amount of Bonds drawn shall exceed the amount to be redeemed, the excess may be deducted from any group or groups so drawn in such manner as the Trustee may reasonably determine. The Trustee may in its discretion assign numbers to aliquot portions of Bonds and select part of any Bond for redemption. The Bonds to be redeemed shall be the Bonds to which were assigned numbers so selected; provided, however, that only so much of the principal amount of each such Bond of a denomination of more than the lowest denomination in which the Bonds of such Series are authorized to be issued shall be redeemed as shall equal the lowest denomination in which the Bonds of such Series are authorized to be issued for each number assigned to it and so selected.

For purposes of this Section 4.04, the lowest denomination in which a Capital Appreciation Bond is authorized to be issued shall be the lowest Accreted Value authorized to be due at maturity on such Bonds

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that a Depository shall be the registered owner of all of such Bonds of the Series being redeemed, if less than all of the Bonds of a particular Series are called for redemption, the Corporation shall select the maturity or maturities of such Series to be redeemed and the Depository, on behalf of the Trustee, shall select the Bonds within the same maturity of such Series to be redeemed by means of a random lottery and in any event in accordance with the applicable practices of the Depository.

Section 4.05 Notice of Redemption. Whenever Bonds are to be redeemed, the Trustee shall give notice of the redemption of the Bonds in the name of the Corporation which notice shall specify: (a) the Bonds to be redeemed which shall be identified by the designation of the Bonds given in accordance with Article II hereof; (b) the maturity dates and interest rates or accretion rates of the Bonds to be redeemed and the date of such Bonds; (c) the numbers and other distinguishing marks of the Bonds to be redeemed, including CUSIP numbers; (d) the redemption date; (e) the Redemption Price, if then known; (f) with respect to each such Bond, the principal amount thereof to be redeemed; (g) that, except in the case of Book Entry Bonds, such Bonds will be redeemed at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee giving the address thereof and the telephone number of the Trustee to which inquiries may be directed; (h) that no representation is made as to the correctness of the CUSIP number either as printed on the Bonds or as contained in such notice and that an error in a CUSIP number as printed on a Bond or as contained in such notice shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for redemption; and (i) if the Corporation's obligation to redeem the Bonds is subject to conditions, a statement to that effect and of the conditions to such redemption. Such notice shall further state that, if on such date all conditions to redemption have been satisfied, there shall become due and payable on such date upon each Bond to be redeemed the Redemption Price thereof, together with interest accrued and unpaid thereon to the redemption date, and that, from and after such date, payment having been made or provided for, interest thereon shall cease to accrue. Such notice shall be given by mailing a copy of such notice not less than thirty (30) days nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the redemption date. Such notice shall be sent by first class mail, postage prepaid (i) to the registered owners of the Bonds which are to be redeemed, at their last known addresses, if any, appearing on the registration books, and (ii) to the Bond Insurer (if any) insuring the Bonds to be redeemed, at the Bond Insurer's last known address, not more than ten (10) Business Days prior to the date such notice is given. Upon giving such notice, the Trustee shall promptly certify to the Corporation that it has mailed or caused to be mailed such notice to the Holders of the Bonds to be redeemed in the manner provided herein. Such certificate shall be conclusive evidence that such notice was given in the manner required hereby. The failure of any Holder of a Bond to be redeemed to receive such notice shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for the redemption of the Bonds.

The Trustee shall, if any of the Bonds to be redeemed are Book Entry Bonds, transmit a copy of the notice of redemption to the Depository for such Book Entry Bonds not less than thirty (30) days nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the redemption at the most recent address therefor, or to any successor thereof (or, if the Bonds are held by the Depository, such notice shall be given in accordance with the procedures of the Depository). Transmittal of such copy to the Depository in accordance with the foregoing sentence shall be conclusive evidence of delivery thereof to the

holders of beneficial interests in a Book Entry Bond and no such notice shall be required to be transmitted by the Corporation directly to any such beneficial holder nor shall transmittal to a beneficial holder by the Corporation be a condition precedent to such redemption or affect the validity of the proceedings for redemption of the Bonds. This paragraph shall not alter the Trustee's obligation to transmit a notice of redemption to the Bond Insurer as provided in the preceding paragraph.

Section 4.06 Payment of Redeemed Bonds. Notice having been given in the manner provided in Section 4.05 hereof, the Bonds or portions thereof so called for redemption shall become due and payable on the redemption date so designated at the Redemption Price, plus interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date, except as otherwise provided in Section 3.10 hereof upon presentation and surrender of such Bonds, at the office or offices specified in such notice, and, in the case of Bonds presented by other than the registered owner, together with a written instrument of transfer duly executed by the registered owner or his duly authorized attorney, such Bonds, or portions thereof, shall be paid at the Redemption Price plus interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date; *provided, however,* that payment of the Redemption Price may be paid by wire transfer to such registered owner if so authorized in the Supplemental Indenture that authorized the Bonds of the Series to be redeemed. If there shall be called for redemption less than all of the principal amount of a registered Bond, the Corporation shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, upon the surrender of such Bond, without charge to the owner thereof, for the unredeemed balance of the principal amount of the registered Bond so surrendered, Bonds of like Series, maturity and tenor in any of the authorized denominations. If, on the redemption date, money for the redemption of all Bonds or portions thereof of any like Series, maturity and tenor to be redeemed, together with interest accrued and unpaid thereon to the redemption date, shall be held by the Trustee and Paying Agents so as to be available therefor on such date and if notice of redemption shall have been mailed as aforesaid, then, from and after the redemption date, interest on the Bonds or portions thereof so called for redemption shall cease to accrue and such Bonds shall no longer be considered to be Outstanding hereunder. If such money shall not be so available on the redemption date, such Bonds or portions thereof shall continue to bear interest until paid at the same rate as they would have borne had they not been called for redemption.

ARTICLE V.

STATUTORY LIEN ON TRUST ESTATE; FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS; PLEDGED SALES TAX REVENUES AND APPLICATION THEREOF

Section 5.01 Statutory Lien on Trust Estate. To secure the payment of the Principal and Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds, the Act grants, automatically, upon the issuance of the Bonds, the Statutory Lien on the Trust Estate in favor of the Trustee for the benefit of the Holders of the Bonds. The Bonds shall be special obligations of the Corporation payable solely from and secured by the Statutory Lien on the Trust Estate.

Pursuant to the terms of Article 3.2 of the Act, no commingling of the Pledged Sales Taxes with any property of the Commonwealth, any Government Entity or any other Person shall limit, defeat, impair or interfere with the Statutory Lien. The Statutory Lien shall be valid, binding, perfected and enforceable against all Persons having claims of any kind in tort, contract or

otherwise against the Corporation or its assets irrespective of whether such Persons have notice of the Statutory Lien.

Section 5.02 Establishment of Funds and Accounts. (a) The following funds and separate accounts within funds constituting a portion of the Trust Estate are hereby established and shall be held, in trust, and maintained by the Trustee:

Costs of Issuance Fund;
COFINA Revenue Fund;
Debt Service Fund;
Interest Account; and
Principal Account; and
Debt Retirement Fund

- (b) The Operating Reserve Fund is hereby established and shall be held by the Corporation, to be applied to the payment of Corporation Expenses. The Operating Reserve Fund shall be initially funded in accordance with the terms of the Plan of Adjustment. The Trustee Expenses Account is hereby established as an account within the Operating Reserve Fund and shall be held by the Corporation, to be applied to the payment of the Trustee Expenses and the total amount on deposit in the Trustee Expenses Account in any Fiscal Year is capped at \$250,000.00. If at any period during a Fiscal Year, the balance of the Trustee Expenses Account is below \$125,000.00, the Corporation will deposit to the Trustee Expenses Account from the Operating Reserve Fund the necessary amount such that the total amount in the Trustee Expenses Account equals the Trustee Expenses Cap. The Operating Reserve Fund is not subject to the Statutory Lien and is not part of the Trust Estate.
- (c) The Arbitrage Rebate Fund is hereby established and created and shall be held by the Trustee for the benefit of the Corporation. The Arbitrage Rebate Fund is not subject to the Statutory Lien and is not part of the Trust Estate.
- (d) The Remainder Fund is hereby established and created and shall be held by the Trustee for the benefit of the Commonwealth or the Commonwealth's assignee or other designee. The Remainder Fund is not subject to the Statutory Lien and is not part of the Trust Estate.
- (e) Each such fund (other than the Remainder Fund) may contain one or more accounts or subaccounts, for purposes of internal accounting, as necessary for arbitrage calculations or as the Corporation may otherwise deem proper. All money at any time deposited in any fund, account or subaccount created hereby or by any Supplemental Indenture or required hereby or thereby (other than the Remainder Fund, the Operating Reserve Fund and the Arbitrage Rebate Fund) to be created shall be held in trust for the benefit of the Holders of Bonds, but shall nevertheless be disbursed, allocated and applied solely for the uses and purposes provided herein.
- **Section 5.03 Application of Bond Proceeds.** Upon the receipt of proceeds from the sale of a Series of Bonds, the Corporation shall apply such proceeds as specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series.

Accrued interest, if any, received upon the delivery of a Series of Bonds shall be deposited in the Debt Service Fund unless all or any portion of such amount is to be otherwise applied as specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series.

- **Section 5.04 Application of Money in the Costs of Issuance Fund.** (a) As soon as practicable after the delivery of each Series of Bonds, there shall be deposited into each account within the Costs of Issuance Fund the amount, if any, required to be deposited therein pursuant to the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series.
- (b) Except as otherwise provided in this Article V and in any applicable Supplemental Indenture, money in the Costs of Issuance Fund shall be used only to pay the Costs of Issuance of the Bonds payable by the Corporation. Such payments shall be made by the Trustee upon the direction of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation that sets forth in reasonable detail the purpose of the payment, the amount of such payment and the name of the payee. If such payment is to be made by bank wire, such direction shall include the routing and account numbers of the payee. If such payment is to be made by check, such direction shall include the address of the payee. The Trustee shall rely fully on any such written direction delivered pursuant to this Section and shall not be required to make any investigation in connection therewith.
- (c) The money remaining in the Costs of Issuance Fund after paying or making provision in accordance with the direction of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation for the payments required to be made pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section, including any Costs of Issuance then unpaid, shall be applied by the Trustee in the following order of priority:

First, to the Arbitrage Rebate Fund, the amount determined by the Corporation to be required to be deposited therein; and

Second, to the Debt Service Fund, any balance remaining therein.

- Section 5.05 Deposit of COFINA Receipts in the COFINA Revenue Fund. (a) Effective on the date of issuance of the Initial Bonds, subject to Sections 5.05(b) and (d) hereof and consistent with the terms of the Instructions Agreement, the Corporation has directed that all proceeds of the COFINA Revenues and any interest thereon be deposited with the Trustee on behalf of the Corporation, in accordance with Article 4.1 of the Act (*First Dollars Funding of COFINA Revenues*) until all Bonds are fully paid or defeased in accordance with Section 12.01 below. The Corporation shall take all necessary actions to cause the prompt deposit of the proceeds of the COFINA Revenues, plus the accrued interest thereon, with the Trustee.
- (b) If, for any Fiscal Year commencing after June 30, 2024, the Trustee certifies to the Corporation and the Secretary of Treasury that the Quarterly Funding Requirements set forth below are satisfied, then for each Fiscal Year thereafter (i) the proceeds of the COFINA Revenues shall be deposited with the Trustee in four installments (each, a "Quarterly Installment"), plus any interest thereon, commencing on July 1, October 1, January 1 and April 1 of the applicable Fiscal Year, which Quarterly Installments shall, subject to Section 5.05(d) below, be of an equal amount, and (ii) in each such quarter, until the Trustee has received the full Quarterly Installment for such quarter, the proceeds of all COFINA Revenues and the interest thereon shall be deposited, on a daily basis, with the Trustee on behalf of the Corporation in accordance with Article 4.1 of

the Act (*First Dollars Funding of COFINA Revenues*). The Corporation shall take all necessary actions to cause the prompt deposit of the proceeds of the COFINA Revenues, plus the accrued interest thereon, with the Trustee. For any Fiscal Year commencing after June 30, 2024, if within fifteen days of the commencement of such Fiscal Year the Trustee receives each of the following certificates (the "Quarterly Funding Requirements"), the Trustee shall certify to the Corporation and the Secretary of Treasury that the Quarterly Funding Requirements have been satisfied for such Fiscal Year:

- (A) certification of an Authorized Officer of the Oversight Board, or if the Oversight Board is no longer in effect, of the Secretary of Treasury, that the budgets of the Commonwealth for the current Fiscal Year and for the immediately preceding Fiscal Year are balanced;
- (B) certification of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation that (I) the Corporation is in compliance with its obligation to file its audited financial statements in accordance with its continuing disclosure obligations and (II) the Corporation is not in default in the performance of any of the covenants of the Corporation contained herein; and
- (C) certification of the Secretary of Treasury that (I) quarterly-funding of the COFINA Revenues is necessary to avoid the issuance of intra-Fiscal Year tax revenue anticipation notes by the Commonwealth, (II) the amount of Pledged Sales Taxes collected in the prior Fiscal Year was at least two times (2x) the COFINA Revenues for such Fiscal Year and (III) the Commonwealth is in compliance with its obligation to file its audited financial statements in accordance with its continuing disclosure obligations.
- (c) In the event that the Corporation receives any COFINA Receipts from the Secretary of Treasury, the Corporation shall promptly (and in no event later than two Business Days) following the receipt thereof transfer all such COFINA Receipts to the Trustee for deposit in the COFINA Revenue Fund. All COFINA Receipts received by the Trustee shall be deposited no less frequently than required by the Instructions Agreement, if practicable, but in no event more than two (2) Business Days after receipt thereof by the Trustee, into the COFINA Revenue Fund and such amounts shall be applied by the Trustee to fund the deposits in the priority set forth in Section 5.06 below.
- (d) In the event that the Corporation or the Trustee receives Pledged Sales Taxes in a given Fiscal Year that exceed the COFINA Revenues for such Fiscal Year or if any time amounts are deposited that are not COFINA Revenues or interest thereon, the Secretary of Treasury shall notify the Corporation and the Trustee, the Corporation shall instruct the Trustee to return such excess Pledged Sales Taxes to the Secretary of Treasury and the Trustee shall promptly return such excess Pledged Sales Taxes as instructed by the Corporation to the Secretary of Treasury. In the event that such excess Pledged Sales Taxes are not returned to the Secretary of Treasury within five (5) Business Days after delivery of notice to the Trustee and the Corporation of such excess Pledged Sales Taxes (i) the Corporation shall be liable to the Secretary of Treasury for the accrued interest on such excess Pledged Sales Taxes from the date of initial receipt by the Trustee of such excess and (ii) the Trustee or the Corporation, as applicable, shall return to the Secretary of

Treasury, the amount of the excess Pledged Sales Taxes and accrued interest as directed in writing and determined by the Secretary of Treasury.

- (e) If the Quarterly Funding Requirements have been satisfied and the Corporation or the Trustee receives Pledged Sales Taxes for a given Quarterly Installment in excess of the Quarterly Installment of the COFINA Revenues or interest thereon, the Secretary of Treasury shall notify the Corporation and the Trustee, the Corporation shall instruct the Trustee to return such excess of the Quarterly Installment of the COFINA Revenues to the Secretary of Treasury and the Trustee shall promptly return such excess of the Quarterly Installment of the COFINA Revenues as instructed by the Corporation to the Secretary of Treasury. In the event such excess of the Quarterly Installment of the COFINA Revenues are not returned to the Secretary of the Treasury within five (5) Business Days after delivery of notice to the Trustee and the Corporation of such excess Pledged Sales Taxes (i) the Corporation shall be liable to the Secretary of Treasury for the accrued interest on such excess Pledged Sales Taxes from the date of initial receipt of such excess by the Trustee and (ii) the Trustee or the Corporation, as applicable, shall return to the Secretary of Treasury, the amount of the excess Pledged Sales Taxes and accrued interest as directed in writing and determined by the Secretary of Treasury.
- (f) Once the Quarterly Funding Requirements have been satisfied, if the COFINA Receipts received in a quarter are insufficient to fully fund the Quarterly Installment for such quarter, then the Quarterly Installment for the next succeeding quarter shall be increased by an amount equal to such shortfall plus any shortfall in any prior Quarterly Installments.

Section 5.06 Application of COFINA Receipts. (a) On each Monthly Disbursement Date, the Trustee shall withdraw from the COFINA Revenue Fund and transfer and apply such amounts as follows and in the following order of priority:

First: To the following accounts on a *pro rata* basis:

- (i) the Interest Account of the Debt Service Fund, in each Fiscal Year, COFINA Receipts until the amount on deposit therein equals the Interest Funding Requirement for such Fiscal Year; and
- (ii) the Principal Account of the Debt Service Fund, in each Fiscal Year, COFINA Receipts until the amount on deposit therein equals the Principal Funding Requirement for such Fiscal Year;

Second: Upon the written direction of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation, to the Arbitrage Rebate Fund COFINA Receipts in the amount set forth in such direction;

Third: To the Operating Reserve Fund, in each Fiscal Year, COFINA Receipts in the amount certified in writing to the Trustee by an Authorized Officer of the Corporation as being necessary to deposit to the Operating Reserve Fund such that the total amount on deposit in the Operating Reserve Fund in such Fiscal Year equals the Operating Reserve Fund Cap; provided, however, that if the Trustee has not received such certification prior to the time that such transfer is required, the amount of \$15,000,000 shall remain in the COFINA Revenue Fund until the Trustee receives such certification; provided, further, within two (2) Business Days of receiving such certification, the Trustee shall transfer from the COFINA Revenue Fund to the Operating

Reserve Fund, an amount such that the total amount on deposit in the Operating Reserve Fund in such Fiscal Year equals the Operating Reserve Fund Cap;

Fourth: Upon the written direction of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation and with the consent of the Secretary of Treasury, to the Debt Retirement Fund, COFINA Receipts in the amount set forth in such direction; and

Fifth: To the Remainder Fund, any remaining balance.

- **Section 5.07 Debt Service Fund.** (a) The Trustee shall pay out of the Debt Service Fund the Principal of and interest on all Outstanding Bonds as the same is due and payable. Amounts paid to a Paying Agent for payments pursuant to this Section shall be irrevocably pledged to and applied to such payments.
- Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section, the Corporation may, at any time but in no event less than thirty-five (35) days prior to the succeeding date on which a Sinking Fund Installment is scheduled to be due, direct the Trustee to purchase, with money on deposit in the Debt Service Fund, at a price equal to the Principal amount (with respect to Bonds that are not Capital Appreciation Bonds) or the Accreted Value (with respect to Capital Appreciation Bonds) thereof plus interest accrued and unpaid to the date of such purchase, Term Bonds to be redeemed from such Sinking Fund Installment; provided that the portion of such purchase price funded from the Principal Account shall not exceed the amount of the upcoming Sinking Fund Installment due on such purchased bond and the portion of such purchase price funded from the Interest Account shall not exceed the amount of interest accrued and unpaid on such purchased bond to the date of such purchase; provided further that in the case of Capital Appreciation Bonds, no portion of the purchase price may be funded from the Interest Account. Any Term Bond so purchased or otherwise purchased and delivered to the Trustee shall be canceled upon receipt thereof by the Trustee and evidence of such cancellation shall be given to the Corporation. The Principal amount or Accreted Value, as applicable, of each Term Bond so canceled shall be credited against the Sinking Fund Installment due on such date.
- (c) If at the time the Trustee is required to make a withdrawal from the Debt Service Fund the moneys therein shall not be sufficient for such purpose, the Trustee shall withdraw the amount of such deficiency first, from the COFINA Revenue Fund and second, from the moneys on deposit in the Debt Retirement Fund and, in both instances, transfer the same to the Debt Service Fund.
- (d) Money in the Debt Service Fund on the last day of each Fiscal Year in excess of the Interest Funding Requirement and the Principal Funding Requirement for such Fiscal Year (which, for the avoidance of doubt, includes all amounts required to be paid on the next succeeding Principal Payment Date), including the income or interest earned on investment of money in the Debt Service Fund, shall at the written direction of the Corporation, be withdrawn and transferred first, to the Operating Reserve Fund, such amount, if any, as may be necessary to make the amount on deposit in such fund equal to the Operating Reserve Fund Cap for the next succeeding Fiscal Year and second, any excess remaining may at the written direction of the Corporation either be retained therein or transferred to any other fund or account established pursuant hereto; *provided*,

however, that if no written direction has been given by the Corporation, the excess on the last day of each Fiscal Year shall be transferred to the Remainder Fund.

Section 5.08 Arbitrage Rebate Fund. The Trustee shall deposit to the Arbitrage Rebate Fund any money delivered to it by the Corporation for deposit therein and, notwithstanding any other provisions of this Article V, shall transfer to the Arbitrage Rebate Fund, in accordance with written directions of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation, money on deposit in any other funds or accounts held by the Trustee hereunder at such times and in such amounts as shall be set forth in such written directions of the Corporation.

Money on deposit in the Arbitrage Rebate Fund shall be applied by the Trustee in accordance with the direction of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation only for the purpose of making payments to the Department of the Treasury of the United States of America at such times and in such amounts as the Corporation shall determine, based on an opinion of Transaction Counsel, to be required by the Code to be rebated to the Department of the Treasury of the United States of America. Money which an Authorized Officer of the Corporation determines to be in excess of the amount required to be so rebated, shall be transferred (a) to the Debt Service Fund, if the amount then on deposit therein is less than the sum of the Interest Funding Requirement for the then current Fiscal Year and the Principal Funding Requirement for the then current Fiscal Year, and (b) to the extent not required to be deposited in the Debt Service Fund, may at the direction of the Corporation, either be retained therein or transferred to any other fund or account established pursuant hereto.

If and to the extent required by the Code, the Corporation shall periodically, at such times as may be required to comply with the Code, determine the amount required by the Code to be rebated to the Department of the Treasury of the United States of America with respect to Tax Exempt Bonds and (a) transfer or direct the Trustee to transfer from any other of the funds and accounts held hereunder and deposit to the Arbitrage Rebate Fund, such amount as the Corporation shall have determined to be necessary in order to enable it to comply with its obligation to rebate money to the Department of the Treasury of the United States of America with respect to Tax Exempt Bonds and (b) pay out of the Arbitrage Rebate Fund to the Department of the Treasury of the United States of America the amount, if any, required by the Code to be rebated thereto.

Section 5.09 Debt Retirement Fund. Money deposited in the Debt Retirement Fund in accordance with Section 5.06 above shall be applied, at the direction of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation, with the prior written consent of the Secretary of Treasury, in any subsequent Fiscal Year, to the purchase or redemption of Outstanding Bonds or to pay or make provision for payment of Outstanding Bonds in accordance with Section 12.01 of this Indenture. In no event, however, may the Corporation call for redemption, contract to purchase or make provision for payment of Outstanding Bonds in accordance with Section 12.01 of this Indenture if at such time the amount on deposit in the Debt Service Fund is less than the sum of the Principal Funding Requirement and the Interest Funding Requirement for the then current Fiscal Year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, money in the Debt Retirement Fund not required to pay the Redemption Price or purchase price of Bonds theretofore called for redemption or contracted to be purchased, together with interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date, shall, at the direction of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation, be withdrawn from the Debt Retirement

Fund and transferred to the Debt Service Fund or the Arbitrage Rebate Fund at any time money is required for the purposes of such funds.

Section 5.10 Remainder Fund. Amounts deposited in the Remainder Fund shall be free and clear of the Statutory Lien and shall promptly be paid to or upon the order of the Secretary of Treasury; *provided, however*, in accordance with Section 3.2 of the Act, any amounts deposited into the Remainder Fund in contravention of the priority of deposits set forth in Section 5.06 above shall remain subject to the Statutory Lien and all such amounts shall immediately be deposited into the COFINA Revenue Fund and applied by the Trustee to fund the deposits in the priority set forth in Section 5.06 above.

Section 5.11 Application of Money in Certain Funds for Retirement of Bonds. Notwithstanding any other provisions hereof, if at any time the amounts held in the COFINA Revenue Funds, the Debt Service Fund and the Debt Retirement Fund are sufficient to pay the Principal or Redemption Price of all Outstanding Bonds and the interest accrued and unpaid and to accrue on such Bonds to the next date of redemption when all such Bonds are redeemable, or to make provision pursuant to Section 12.01(b) hereof for the payment of the Outstanding Bonds at the maturity or redemption dates thereof, the Corporation may (a) direct the Trustee to redeem all such Outstanding Bonds, whereupon the Trustee shall proceed to redeem or provide for the redemption of such Outstanding Bonds in the manner provided for redemption of such Bonds hereby and by each Supplemental Indenture as provided in Article IV hereof, or (b) give the Trustee irrevocable instructions in accordance with Section 12.01(b) hereof and make provision for the payment of the Outstanding Bonds at the maturity or redemption dates thereof in accordance therewith.

Section 5.12 Transfer of Investments. Whenever money in any fund or account established hereunder is to be paid in accordance herewith to another such fund or account, such payment may be made, in whole or in part, by transferring to such other fund or account investments held as part of the fund or account from which such payment is to be made, whose value, together with the money, if any, to be transferred, is equal to the amount of the payment then to be made; *provided*, *however*, that no such transfer of investments would result in a violation of any investment standard or guideline applicable to such fund.

ARTICLE VI.

SECURITY FOR DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENT OF FUNDS

Section 6.01 Security for Deposits. All moneys held hereunder by the Trustee shall be continuously and fully secured, for the benefit of the Corporation and the Holders of the Bonds in such manner as may then be required by applicable federal or state laws and regulations regarding security, by Eligible Investments of a market value at least equal at all times to the amount of the deposit so held by the Trustee. The Trustee shall have no obligation for the payment of interest on moneys properly held by it that are uninvested hereunder.

Section 6.02 Investment of Funds and Accounts Held by the Trustee. (a) Subject to the limitations set forth in this paragraph, money held hereunder, if permitted by law, shall, as nearly as may be practicable, be invested by the Trustee in any Eligible Investments in accordance

with the direction of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation given in writing. Money in the COFINA Revenue Fund shall only be invested in Eligible Investments of the type described in clause (a), (b), (c) or (d) of the definition of the term "Eligible Investments" set forth in Section 1.01 hereof and such investments shall mature no later than the next succeeding Monthly Disbursement Date. Money in the Debt Service Fund shall only be invested in Eligible Investments of the type described in clause (a), (b), (c) or (d) of the definition of the term "Eligible Investments" set forth in Section 1.01 hereof and such investments shall mature no later than the date on which such moneys are required to be used to pay Principal of and interest on Bonds when due.

- (b) The Trustee may conclusively rely upon the Corporation's written instructions as to both the suitability and legality of the directed investments. Ratings of permitted investments shall be determined at the time of purchase of such permitted investments. The Trustee may make any and all such investments through its own investment department or that of its affiliates or subsidiaries, and may charge its ordinary and customary fees for such trades, including investment maintenance fees.
- (c) Obligations purchased or other investments made as an investment of money in any fund or account held under the provisions hereof shall be deemed at all times to be a part of such fund or account and the income or interest earned, profits realized or losses suffered by a fund or account due to the investment thereof shall be credited or charged, as the case may be, to such fund or account.
- (d) In computing the amount in any fund or account held by the Trustee under the provisions hereof, obligations purchased as an investment of money therein or held therein shall be valued at the market value thereof, inclusive of accrued interest to the date of valuation.
- Subject to the provisions hereof, the Corporation, in its discretion, may, and the Trustee at the direction of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation, shall sell, present for redemption or exchange any investment held pursuant hereto and the proceeds thereof may be reinvested as provided in this Section. Except as otherwise provided herein, such investments shall be sold by the Corporation or by the Trustee at the direction of the Corporation at the best price reasonably obtainable by it, or presented for redemption or exchange, whenever it shall be necessary in order to provide money to meet any payment or transfer from the fund or account in which such investment is held. The Trustee shall advise the Corporation in writing, on or before the fifteenth (15th) day of each calendar month, of the amounts required to be on deposit in each fund and account hereunder and of the details of all investments held for the credit of each fund and account in its custody under the provisions hereof as of the end of the preceding month and as to whether such investments comply with the provisions of paragraphs (a) and (b) of this Section. The details of such investments shall include the par value, if any, the cost and the current market value of such investments as of the end of the preceding month. The Trustee shall also describe all withdrawals, substitutions and other transactions occurring in each such fund and account in the previous month.
- (f) Although the Corporation recognizes that it may obtain a broker confirmation or written statement containing comparable information at no additional cost, the Corporation hereby agrees that confirmations of Eligible Investments are not required to be issued by the Trustee for each month in which a monthly statement is rendered.

Section 6.03 Liability for Investments. Neither the Corporation nor the Trustee shall have any liability arising out of or in connection with the making of any investment authorized by the provisions of this Article VI, in the manner provided in this Article VI, for any depreciation in value of any such investment, or for any loss, fee, tax or other charge, direct or indirect, resulting from any such investment, reinvestment or liquidation of an investment.

ARTICLE VII.

PARTICULAR COVENANTS

The Corporation (and, as authorized by the Act, the Commonwealth with respect to Section 7.14 hereof) covenants and agrees with the Holders of the Bonds as follows:

Section 7.01 Payment of Principal and Interest. The Corporation shall pay or cause to be paid every Bond, including interest thereon, on the dates and at the places and in the manner provided in the Bonds according to the true intent and meaning thereof.

Section 7.02 Extension of Payment of Bonds. The Corporation shall not directly or indirectly extend or assent to the extension of the maturity of any of the Bonds or claims for interest by the purchase or funding of such Bonds or claims for interest or by any other arrangement and, in case the maturity of any of such Bonds or the time for payment of any such claims for interest shall be extended with the written consent of the Holders of such Bonds or claims, such Bonds, or claims for interest shall not be entitled, in case of any default hereunder, to the benefit hereof or of any Supplemental Indenture or to any payment out of any assets of the Corporation or the funds (except funds held in trust for the payment of particular Bonds or claims for interest pursuant hereto and to any Supplemental Indenture) held by the Trustee, except subject to the prior payment of the principal of all Outstanding Bonds the maturity of which has not been extended and of such portion of the interest on such Bonds as shall not be represented by such extended claims for interest.

Section 7.03 Powers as to Bonds. Pursuant to the Act, the Corporation is duly authorized to create and issue the Bonds and to execute the Indenture and each Supplemental Indenture. The Corporation further covenants that, except for the Statutory Lien granted under the Act, the Trust Estate is and shall be free and clear of any pledge, lien, charge or encumbrance thereon or with respect thereto, prior to, or of equal rank with, or junior to, the Statutory Lien. The Corporation further covenants that all corporate action on the part of the Corporation to that end has been duly and validly taken. The Corporation further covenants that the Bonds and the provisions hereof and of each Supplemental Indenture are and shall be the valid and legally enforceable obligations of the Corporation in accordance with their terms and the terms hereof and of each Supplemental Indenture. The Corporation further covenants that it shall not fail to at all times, to the extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect, or cause to be defended, preserved and protected, the Statutory Lien and all of the rights of the Trustee for the benefit of the Holders of Bonds under the Indenture and each Supplemental Indenture against all claims and demands of all persons whomsoever.

Section 7.04 Further Assurance. The Corporation, at any and all times, shall, so far as it may be authorized by law, pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver all and every such

further resolutions, acts, deeds, conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary or desirable for the better assuring, conveying, granting, assigning and confirming all and singular the Statutory Lien, or which the Corporation may hereafter become bound to pledge or assign.

Section 7.05 Accounts and Audits. The Corporation shall keep proper books of records and accounts (separate from all other records and accounts of the Commonwealth and other Government Entities), which may be kept on behalf of the Corporation by the Trustee, in which complete and correct entries shall be made of the accounts and its transactions relating to each Series of Bonds, which books and accounts, at reasonable hours and subject to the reasonable rules and regulations of the Corporation, shall be subject to the inspection of the Secretary of Treasury, the Trustee or of any Holder of a Bond or a representative of any of the foregoing duly authorized in writing. The Corporation shall cause such books and accounts to be audited annually after the end of each Fiscal Year by a nationally recognized independent certified public accounting firm selected by the Corporation. Annually within thirty (30) days after receipt by the Corporation of the report of such audit, a signed copy of such report shall be furnished to the Trustee, the Oversight Board, and the Commonwealth and posted with EMMA, cross-referenced to each original issuance CUSIP number applicable to the Bonds of which the Corporation has knowledge.

Section 7.06 Creation of Liens. The Corporation shall not create or cause to be created any lien or charge on the Trust Estate; *provided, however*, that nothing contained herein shall prevent the Corporation from issuing Subordinated Lien Bonds in accordance with the Section 2.04(b) of this Indenture. Further, except for Subordinated Lien Bonds and the Bonds, the Corporation shall not incur any other secured or unsecured indebtedness.

Section 7.07 Restricted Payments. The Corporation shall not, directly or indirectly, make any payments or distributions of the COFINA Receipts or money in the funds and accounts established hereunder except in accordance with this Indenture.

Section 7.08 Offices for Payment and Registration of Bonds. Unless all of the Bonds are Book Entry Bonds, the Corporation shall at all times maintain an office or agency in the Borough of Manhattan, in The City of New York where Bonds may be presented for payment, which office or agency may be at or through the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee. The Corporation may, pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture, designate an additional Paying Agent or Paying Agents where Bonds of the Series authorized thereby or referred to therein may be presented for payment. The Corporation shall at all times maintain an office or agency in the Borough of Manhattan in The City of New York where Bonds may be presented for registration, transfer or exchange and the Trustee is hereby appointed as its agent to maintain such office or agency for the registration, transfer or exchange of Bonds. The provisions of this Section shall be subject to the provisions of Section 3.01 hereof.

Section 7.09 Budget of Corporation Expenses. Annually, the Corporation's board shall adopt a budget prior to the start of each Fiscal Year of Corporation Expenses made or to be made for such Fiscal Year. The budget of the Corporation Expenses may be amended by the Corporation, with the approval of the Corporation's board, from time to time. Each such budget of the Corporation Expenses or amendment thereto shall be filed by the Corporation with the Trustee and shall be accompanied by a certificate signed by an Authorized Officer of the

Corporation stating that such budget has been prepared and is filed in accordance with the provisions of this Section.

Section 7.10 Payment of Lawful Charges. The Corporation shall pay all taxes and assessments or other municipal or governmental charges, if any, lawfully levied or assessed upon the Trust Estate, when the same shall become due. The Corporation shall not create or suffer to be created any lien or charge upon any portion of the Trust Estate, except the Statutory Lien imposed by Article 3.2 of the Act and the statutory lien imposed on any Substituted Collateral.

Section 7.11 General. The Corporation shall do and perform or cause to be done and performed all acts and things required to be done or performed by or on behalf of the Corporation under the provisions hereof in accordance with the terms of such provisions.

Upon the date of issuance of Bonds, all conditions, acts and things required by the Plan of Adjustment and the statutes of the Commonwealth and hereby to exist, to have happened and to have been performed precedent to and in the issuance of such Bonds, shall exist, have happened and have been performed.

Section 7.12 Tax Exemption Covenant. The Corporation covenants that it shall not take any action that would, or fail to take any action, if such failure would, (a) cause the Corporation to either lose its status as an issuer of municipal obligations for federal income tax purposes or (b) cause interest on the Tax Exempt Bonds to become includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes and that it will do and perform all acts and things permitted by law and reasonably necessary or desirable to assure that interest paid to the Holders of any Tax Exempt Bonds shall be and remain excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes.

Section 7.13 Rating On Substituted Collateral. In the event that, as permitted pursuant to Section 3.3 of the Act, the Commonwealth elects to provide Substituted Collateral, the Corporation covenants to use its reasonable best efforts and to work in good faith to obtain best ratings on the then Outstanding Bonds (which ratings shall, in any event, also comply with the Substitution Requirements), including but not limited to, promptly responding to requests for documents.

Section 7.14 Covenants of the Commonwealth. The Commonwealth, with the intent to be contractually bound, has authorized the Corporation to include the following covenants in this Indenture for the benefit of the Holders of Bonds:

The Commonwealth shall not, and no Government Entity shall be authorized to, until all Bonds, together with the interest thereon, and all amounts and obligations hereunder and under the Ancillary Agreements, have been completely paid in cash in full or defeased in accordance with Section 12.01 hereof:

(a) take any action that would (i) impair the Corporation's right to receive the COFINA Revenues, (ii) limit or alter the rights vested in the Corporation in accordance with the Plan of Adjustment to fulfill the terms of any agreements with the Holders of Bonds, (iii) materially and adversely impair the collection of the Pledged Sales Taxes in any Fiscal Year, or (iv) impair the rights and remedies of the Holders of the Bonds or the collateral security established under Article 3.2 of the Act;

- (b) reduce the Pledged Sales Taxes to a rate less than five and one-half percent (5.5%) unless, in connection with such reduction, the Corporation shall have received a Rating Confirmation from each of at least two of the Rating Services then providing a credit rating on the Outstanding Bonds at the request of the Corporation, with at least one such Rating Confirmation being provided by S&P or Moody's, that the rating of such Rating Service on the Bonds (without regard to bond insurance or other credit enhancement) will not be downgraded and will be at least A2/A category or higher following such reduction; provided, however, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, if the rate of the Pledged Sales Taxes is reduced below three percent (3%), then, in connection with such reduction, the Commonwealth shall comply with the Substitution Requirements;
- (c) impair, limit, restrict, rescind, delay or modify the rights or powers of the Corporation, the Trustee or the Holders under the Act or relating to the COFINA Revenues, or the Corporation's ability to meet its obligations to the Holders;
- (d) amend the Act to impair, limit, restrict, rescind, delay or modify any obligation or commitment of the Corporation to the Holders; or
- (e) limit or restrict the rights or powers of the appropriate officers of the Commonwealth to impose, maintain, charge or collect the Pledged Sales Taxes;

provided that the foregoing shall not preclude the Commonwealth from exercising its power, through a change in law, to replace the portion of the Sales and Use Tax that corresponds to a tax rate of five and one-half percent (5.5%) with Substituted Collateral in accordance with the Substitution Requirements.

Section 7.15 Corporate Existence. To the extent permitted by law, the Corporation shall not take any action, or fail to take any action, the result of which would be the Corporation failing to keep in full effect its existence, rights, duties, obligations and franchises as a public corporation and governmental instrumentality of the Commonwealth under the laws of the Commonwealth, including, without limitation, the Act. Without limiting the generality of the immediately preceding sentence, the Corporation shall not merge or consolidate, directly or indirectly, with any other legal person.

Section 7.16 Separateness. The Corporation shall operate as a legally separate entity from the Commonwealth (including all public corporations, agencies, and instrumentalities thereof) and all other legal persons and as a bankruptcy remote, single purpose entity (limited to the activities authorized in the Act). The Corporation shall (a) avoid commingling the COFINA Revenues and other assets of the Corporation with those of the Commonwealth or any other legal person; (b) keep the Corporation By-Laws separate and in full force and effect; (c) maintain separate financial statements, bank accounts, and books and records; (d) observe separate corporate governance, management and other formalities of the Corporation; (e) otherwise operate as an entity that is separate and distinct from all other legal persons, including, without limitation, the Commonwealth and its other public corporations, agencies and instrumentalities; and (f) comply with the separateness covenants contained in the Corporation By-Laws.

- **Section 7.17 Corporate Governance**. The Corporation's board of directors shall consist of three (3) members appointed by the Governor of the Commonwealth, each of whom shall meet the fiduciary, independence and qualification standards set forth in the Act and the Corporation By-Laws, including, without limitation, that no director may be an officer, employee or director of the Commonwealth or any instrumentality thereof (other than the Corporation) and shall otherwise be qualified to serve on the board of directors.
- **Section 7.18 Resignation of a Director.** The Corporation shall provide written notice to the Trustee of the resignation of any member of the Corporation's board of directors within five (5) Business Days of receipt by the Corporation of written notice by such member of his or her resignation. The Trustee shall deliver a copy of the foregoing notice to the Holders promptly following its receipt thereof.
- **Section 7.19 Amendments to the Instructions Agreement.** For the avoidance of doubt, this Section does not apply to Modifications to the Instruction Agreement or the Contract (as such term is defined in the Instruction Agreement) specified in Section 6(f)(ii) (*Exempt Modifications*) of the Instructions Agreement. Except as provided in the preceding sentence, the Corporation shall not execute or consent to any Modification and no such Modification shall be effective without the prior written approval of the Trustee, which written approval shall be delivered by the Trustee, without unreasonable delay, upon receipt by the Trustee of evidence of satisfaction of any one of the following conditions:
- (a) (i) an opinion of Transaction Counsel to the effect that the Modification will not materially adversely affect the interests of the Holders in any respect, and (ii) an opinion of a Qualified Municipal Advisor Firm to the effect that the Modification will not materially adversely affect the interests of the Holders in any respect, **provided**, **however**, that if the Outstanding Bonds are rated higher than Baa3/BBB- (or equivalent) by at least two Rating Services (with one such Rating Service being S&P or Moody's), then this clause (a) shall not be a permitted option; or
- (b) if the Outstanding Bonds are rated at least Baa3/BBB- (or equivalent) by at least two Rating Services (with one such Rating Service being S&P or Moody's), (i) an opinion of Transaction Counsel to the effect that the Modification will not materially adversely affect the interests of the Holders in any respect, and (ii) Rating Confirmations on the Outstanding Bonds; or
- (c) (i) an opinion of Transaction Counsel to the effect that the Modification will not materially adversely affect the interests of the Holders in any respect and (ii) entry of an order that is unstayed and in full force and effect of the Title III Court or any appellate court therefrom (or, in the event such court does not have or accept jurisdiction, in any federal district court sitting in Puerto Rico or any appellate court therefrom, or, in the event such federal district court does not have or accept jurisdiction, a Commonwealth court or any appellate court therefrom) determining that such Modification will not materially adversely affect the interests of the Holders in any respect, **provided** that notice of the Modification (including a copy thereof) has been posted on EMMA at least thirty (30) days prior to the filing of the motion seeking approval of such Modification and the Corporation shall not seek to shorten time on the time for objection to such motion; and **provided**, **further**, that such order shall not be required and the Trustee's written approval shall be deemed given, if subclause (i) of this clause (c) has been satisfied and after sixty

(60) days' prior written notice of any proposed Modification to the Trustee and to the Holders by posting the notice on EMMA (which notice included a copy thereof), the Trustee has not objected in writing to the Corporation on the basis that entry into such Modification would materially adversely affect the rights and interests of the Holders in any respect.

ARTICLE VIII.

CONCERNING THE TRUSTEE AND THE PAYING AGENT

Section 8.01 Appointment and Acceptance of Trustee. The Trustee, by its execution and delivery of this Indenture, does signify its acceptance of its appointment as and of the duties and obligations of Trustee and Paying Agent imposed upon it hereby.

Section 8.02 Appointment and Acceptance of Paying Agents. In addition to the Trustee, the Corporation may appoint one or more Paying Agents for the Bonds of any Series in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Bonds or in the manner provided herein or in such Supplemental Indenture or shall appoint such Paying Agent or Paying Agents prior to the authentication and delivery of the Bonds so long as any such Paying Agents satisfy the requirements set forth in Section 8.10 hereof, and may at any time or from time to time appoint one or more other Paying Agents in the manner and subject to the conditions set forth in Section 8.10 hereof for the appointment of a successor Paying Agent. Each Paying Agent shall signify its acceptance of the duties and obligations imposed upon it hereby by written instrument of acceptance deposited with the Corporation and the Trustee.

Section 8.03 Responsibilities of Trustee and Paying Agents. The recitals of fact contained herein and in each Supplemental Indenture and in the Bonds shall be taken as the statements of the Corporation and neither the Trustee nor any Paying Agent assumes any responsibility for the correctness of the same. Neither the Trustee nor any Paying Agent makes any representations as to the validity or sufficiency hereof, of any Supplemental Indenture or of any Bonds, or in respect of the security afforded hereby or by each Supplemental Indenture, and neither the Trustee nor any Paying Agent shall incur any responsibility in respect thereof. Neither the Trustee nor any Paying Agent shall be under any responsibility or duty with respect to: (i) the issuance of the Bonds for value; (ii) the application of the proceeds thereof except to the extent that such proceeds are received by it in its capacity as Trustee or Paying Agent; or (iii) the application of any money paid to the Corporation or others in accordance herewith and with each Supplemental Indenture except as to the application of any money paid to it in its capacity as Trustee or Paying Agent. Neither the Trustee nor any Paying Agent shall be liable in connection with the performance of or failure to perform its duties hereunder and under each Supplemental Indenture except for its own negligence or willful misconduct.

The duties and obligations of the Trustee and any Paying Agent shall be determined by the express provisions hereof and of each Supplemental Indenture and neither the Trustee nor any Paying Agent shall be liable except for the performance of or failure to perform such duties and obligations as are specifically set forth herein and in each Supplemental Indenture, and no implied covenants or obligations should be read into this Indenture against the Trustee. If any Event of Default under this Indenture shall have occurred and be continuing, the Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it by this Indenture and shall use the same degree of care as a

prudent person would exercise or use in the circumstances in the conduct of such prudent person's own affairs.

Section 8.04 Property Held in Trust. All money and securities conveyed to or held by the Trustee at any time pursuant to the terms hereof and of each Supplemental Indenture shall be and hereby are assigned, transferred and set over unto the Trustee in trust for the purposes and under the terms and conditions hereof and of each Supplemental Indenture.

Section 8.05 Rights of the Trustee and the Paying Agent. The Trustee and any Paying Agent shall be protected in acting upon any notice, resolution, request, consent, order, certificate, report, opinion, bond or other paper or document reasonably believed by it in good faith to be genuine, and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties. The Trustee and any Paying Agent may consult with counsel of its selection, who may or may not be of counsel to the Corporation, and the opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken or suffered by it in good faith and in accordance therewith.

Whenever the Trustee or any Paying Agent shall deem it necessary or desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to taking or suffering any action hereunder and under any Supplemental Indenture, such matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof be specifically prescribed hereby) may be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by a certificate signed by an Authorized Officer of the Corporation. Such certificate shall be full warrant for any action taken or suffered in good faith under the provisions hereof and of the Supplemental Indenture upon the faith thereof, but in its discretion the Trustee or any Paying Agent may in lieu thereof accept other evidence of such fact or matter or may require such further or additional evidence as it may deem reasonable. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein and in each Supplemental Indenture, any request, order, notice or other direction required or permitted to be furnished pursuant to any provision hereof and of any Supplemental Indenture by the Corporation to the Trustee or any Paying Agent shall be sufficiently executed if executed in the name of the Corporation by an Authorized Officer thereof.

The Trustee shall not be deemed to have notice of any Event of Default hereunder unless an Authorized Officer of the Trustee has actual knowledge thereof or unless written notice of any event which is in fact such an Event of Default is received by the Trustee at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee and such notice references the Bonds relative to which an Event of Default has occurred.

The Trustee may request that the Corporation deliver a certificate of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation setting forth the names of individuals and their respective titles of officers authorized at such time to take specified actions pursuant to this Indenture, which certificate may be signed by any person authorized to sign an officer's certificate, including any person specified as so authorized in any such certificate previously delivered and not superseded.

Neither the Trustee nor any Paying Agent shall be under any liability for interest on any moneys received hereunder except as may be otherwise agreed upon.

Notwithstanding the effective date of this Indenture or anything to the contrary in this Indenture, the Trustee shall have no liability or responsibility for any act or event relating to this

Indenture which occurs prior to the date the Trustee formally executes this Indenture and commences acting as Trustee hereunder.

The Trustee shall have no responsibility with respect to any information, statement or recital in any official statement, offering memorandum or any other disclosure material prepared or distributed with respect to the Bonds, except for any information provided by the Trustee, and shall have no responsibility for compliance with any state or federal securities laws in connection with the Bonds.

The Trustee shall have no liability for any action or failure to act in good faith in accordance with a direction of the Holders of a Quarter in Interest of Outstanding Bonds or Majority in Interest of Outstanding Bonds, as applicable, pursuant to the terms hereof in respect of such action or failure to act, except to the extent of its negligence or willful misconduct in connection therewith.

The Trustee and any Paying Agent shall have the right to accept and act upon instructions, including funds transfer instructions given pursuant to this Indenture and delivered using Electronic Means ("Instructions"); provided, however, that the Corporation shall provide to the Trustee and each Paying Agent an incumbency certificate listing officers with the authority to provide such Instructions and containing specimen signatures of such officers, which incumbency certificate shall be amended by the Corporation whenever a person is to be added or deleted from the listing. If the Corporation elects to give the Trustee or a Paying Agent Instructions using Electronic Means and the Trustee or such Paying Agent in its discretion elects to act upon such Instructions, the Trustee's or such Paying Agent's understanding of such Instructions shall be deemed controlling. The Corporation understands and agrees that the Trustee or a Paying Agent cannot determine the identity of the actual sender of such Instructions and that the Trustee and such Paying Agent shall conclusively presume that directions that purport to have been sent by an Authorized Officer of the Corporation listed on the incumbency certificate provided to the Trustee or such Paying Agent have been sent by such Authorized Officer. The Corporation shall be responsible for ensuring that only Authorized Officers thereof transmit such Instructions to the Trustee or any Paying Agent and that the Corporation and all Authorized Officers are solely responsible to safeguard the use and confidentiality of applicable user and authorization codes, passwords or authentication keys upon receipt by the Corporation. Neither the Trustee nor any Paying Agent shall be liable for any losses, costs or expenses arising directly or indirectly from the Trustee's or such Paying Agent's reliance upon and compliance with such Instructions notwithstanding such directions conflict or are inconsistent with a subsequent written instruction. The Corporation agrees: (i) to assume all risks arising out of the use of Electronic Means to submit Instructions to the Trustee or any Paying Agent, including without limitation the risk of the Trustee or such Paying Agent acting on unauthorized Instructions, and the risk of interception and misuse by third parties; (ii) that it is fully informed of the protections and risks associated with the various methods of transmitting Instructions to the Trustee or any Paying Agent and that there may be more secure methods of transmitting Instructions than the method(s) selected by the Corporation; (iii) that the security procedures (if any) to be followed in connection with its transmission of Instructions provide to it a commercially reasonable degree of protection in light of its particular needs and circumstances; and (iv) to notify the Trustee and any Paying Agent immediately upon learning of any breach, compromise or unauthorized use of the security procedures.

Section 8.06 Compensation and Indemnification. Unless otherwise provided, the Corporation shall pay to the Trustee and to each Paying Agent, from time to time, such compensation as shall be agreed in writing for all services rendered by it hereunder and under the applicable Supplemental Indenture, and also all reasonable and necessary expenses, charges, counsel fees and expenses and other disbursements, including those of their attorneys, agents and employees, required to be incurred in the performance of their powers and duties hereunder and under the applicable Supplemental Indenture. The Corporation shall indemnify and save the Trustee and each Paying Agent harmless against any liabilities which it may incur in the acceptance, exercise and performance of its powers and duties hereunder and under the applicable Supplemental Indenture and which are not due to its negligence or willful misconduct. None of the provisions contained herein or in any Supplemental Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur financial liability in the performance of any of its duties or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers, if there is reasonable ground for believing that the repayment of such funds or liability is not reasonably assured to it. The Trustee Expenses Cap does not apply to or limit the Corporation's liability under this section for the fees, expense and indemnification of the Trustee and each Paying Agent.

The rights, privileges, protections, immunities and benefits given to the Trustee, including, without limitation, its right to be indemnified, are extended to, and shall be enforceable by, the Trustee in each of its capacities hereunder, and to each agent, custodian and other person employed to act hereunder.

The provisions of this Section shall survive termination of this Indenture and the resignation and removal of the Trustee.

Section 8.07 Permitted Acts. The Trustee may become the owner of or may deal in Bonds as fully and with the same rights as if it were not such Trustee or a Paying Agent. The Trustee may act as depository for, and permit any of its officers or directors to act as a member of, or in any other capacity with respect to, the Corporation or any committee formed to protect the rights of Holders of Bonds or to effect or aid in any reorganization growing out of the enforcement hereof or of the Bonds or any Supplemental Indenture whether or not such committee shall represent the Holders of a Majority in Interest of the then Outstanding Bonds in respect of which any such action is taken.

The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereunder or perform any duties hereunder either directly or by or through agents or attorneys appointed with due care.

The permissive rights of the Trustee to do things enumerated in this Indenture shall not be constructed as a duty unless so specified herein.

Section 8.08 Resignation of Trustee. The Trustee, or any successor thereof, may at any time resign and be discharged of its duties and obligations hereunder and under each Supplemental Indenture by giving not less than sixty (60) days' written notice to: (a) the Corporation, and (b) the Holders of the Bonds by first class mail, postage prepaid, at their last known addresses, if any, appearing on the registration books or, in the case of a Bond Insurer, at such Bond Insurer's last known address, Such resignation shall take effect upon the date specified in such notice (which shall be no sooner than the date specified in the immediately preceding sentence) unless previously

a successor shall have been appointed as provided in Section 8.10 hereof, in which event such resignation shall take effect immediately on the appointment of such successor; *provided*, *however*, that such resignation shall not take effect until a successor Trustee has been appointed and has accepted such appointment pursuant to Section 8.10 hereof.

Section 8.09 Removal of Trustee. The Trustee and/or Paying Agent, or any successor thereof, may be removed at any time upon 30 day's written notice by the Holders of a Quarter in Interest of the Outstanding Bonds, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing signed and acknowledged by such Bondholders or by their attorneys-in-fact duly authorized and delivered to the Corporation. The Trustee and/or Paying Agent, or any successor thereof, may also be removed at any time for cause or any breach of trust or for acting or proceeding in violation of, or failing to act or proceed in accordance with, any provisions hereof or of any Supplemental Indenture with respect to the duties and obligations of the Trustee, as applicable, by any court of competent jurisdiction upon application by the Holders of a Quarter in Interest of the Outstanding Bonds. No removal hereunder shall take effect until a successor Trustee has been appointed and has accepted such appointment. A copy of each instrument or order providing for the removal of the Trustee, or any successor thereof, shall be delivered by the applicable Holders to the Trustee or such successor thereof and to the Corporation.

Section 8.10 Successor Trustee and/or Paying Agent. In case the Trustee and/or Paying Agent, or any successor thereof, shall resign or shall be removed or shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent, or if a receiver, liquidator or conservator of the Trustee and/or Paying Agent or of its property shall be appointed, or if any public officer shall take charge or control of the Trustee and/or Paying Agent or of its property or affairs, a successor may be appointed by the Holders of a Quarter in Interest of the Outstanding Bonds, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing signed and acknowledged by such Holders or by their attorneys-in-fact duly authorized and delivered to such successor Trustee and/or Paying Agent, notification thereof being given to the Corporation and the predecessor Trustee and/or Paying Agent; provided, nevertheless, that unless a successor Trustee and/or Paying Agent shall have been appointed by the Holders as aforesaid, the Corporation by a duly executed written instrument signed by an Authorized Officer of the Corporation shall forthwith appoint a Trustee and/or Paying Agent to fill such vacancy until a successor Trustee and/or Paying Agent shall be appointed by the Holders as authorized in this Section. The Trustee and/or Paying Agent shall mail a copy of the notice of any such appointment, postage prepaid, to the Holders of any Bonds, at their last addresses appearing on the registry books or, in the case of a Bond Insurer, at such Bond Insurer's last known address. Any successor Trustee and/or Paying Agent appointed by the Corporation shall, immediately and without further act, be superseded by a Trustee and/or Paying Agent appointed by the Holders of a Quarter in Interest of the Outstanding Bonds.

If in a proper case no appointment of a successor shall be made within forty—five (45) days after the giving of written notice in accordance with Section 8.08 hereof or after the occurrence of any other event requiring or authorizing such appointment, the Trustee and/or Paying Agent or any Holder may apply, at the expense of the Corporation, to any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of such a successor, and such court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as such court may deem proper, appoint such successor. Any successor appointed under the provisions of this Section shall be a bank having trust powers, a trust company or national banking association, in each case located in the State of New York and having a capital and surplus aggregating at least

\$50,000,000, if there be such a bank having trust powers or trust company or national banking association willing and able to accept the appointment on reasonable and customary terms and authorized by law to perform all the duties required hereby and by each Supplemental Indenture.

Neither the Corporation, the Commonwealth, any Government Entity nor any public corporation, agency or instrumentality of the foregoing nor any entity or person affiliated with the foregoing may be appointed as Trustee or Paying Agent hereunder.

Section 8.11 Transfer of Rights and Property to Successor Trustee. Any successor appointed under the provisions of Section 8.10 hereof shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor, and also to the Corporation, an instrument accepting such appointment, and thereupon such successor, without any further act, deed or conveyance shall become fully vested with all money, estates, properties, rights, powers, duties and obligations of its predecessor hereunder and under each Supplemental Indenture, with like effect as if originally appointed as Trustee. However, the Trustee then ceasing to act shall nevertheless, on request by the Corporation or of such successor, and upon payment of all amounts owed to it hereunder, execute, acknowledge and deliver such instruments of conveyance and further assurance and do such other things as may reasonably be required for more fully and certainly vesting and confirming in such successor all the right, title and interest of such Trustee in and to any property held by it hereunder, and shall pay over, assign and deliver to such successor any money or other properties subject to the trusts and conditions set forth herein. Should any deed, conveyance or instrument in writing from the Corporation be required by such successor for more fully and certainly vesting in and confirming to it any such money, estates, properties, rights, powers, duties or obligations, any and all such deeds, conveyances and instruments in writing shall, on request, and so far as may be authorized by law, be executed, acknowledged and delivered by the Corporation.

Section 8.12 Merger or Consolidation of the Trustee. Any company into which the Trustee may be merged or with which it may be consolidated or any company resulting from any merger or consolidation to which it shall be a party or any company to which such Trustee may sell or transfer all or substantially all of its corporate trust business, provided such company shall be a bank having trust powers or trust company or national banking association qualified to be a successor to such Trustee under the provisions of Section 8.10 hereof, shall be the successor to such Trustee, without any further act, deed or conveyance. In the event that such entity is not so qualified, such entity shall nevertheless continue to serve as Trustee until a successor Trustee is appointed by the Holders of a Quarter in Interest of the Outstanding Bonds.

Section 8.13 Ancillary Agreements. The Trustee is authorized to enter into and perform its obligations under the Instructions Agreement and any other Ancillary Agreements.

ARTICLE IX.

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES

Section 9.01 Modification and Amendment without Consent. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Article IX or Article X hereof, the Corporation and the Trustee may, subject to the rights of the Secretary of Treasury in Article X hereof, execute and deliver at any time or

from time to time Supplemental Indentures for any one or more of the following purposes, and each such Supplemental Indenture shall become effective in accordance with its terms:

- (a) To provide for the issuance of a Series of Bonds under and in accordance with (and, for the avoidance of doubt, not in any way contrary to or inconsistent with) the provisions hereof and to prescribe the terms and conditions pursuant to which such Bonds may be issued, paid or redeemed;
- (b) To add additional covenants and agreements of the Corporation for the purpose of further securing the payment of the Bonds, provided such additional covenants and agreements are not contrary to or inconsistent with the covenants and agreements of the Corporation or the Commonwealth contained herein, in the Ancillary Agreements or in the Act; provided that such additional covenants and agreements shall be for the equal benefit and security of all Bonds, without discrimination or preference;
- (c) To prescribe further limitations and restrictions upon the issuance of Refunding Bonds and Subordinated Lien Bonds by the Corporation which are not contrary to or inconsistent with the limitations and restrictions thereon theretofore in effect including the limitations and restrictions set forth in the Act, the Plan of Adjustment and the legislation enacted relating to the issuance of Subordinated Lien Bonds;
- (d) To surrender any right, power or privilege reserved to or conferred upon the Corporation by the terms hereof, provided that the surrender of such right, power or privilege is not contrary to or inconsistent with the covenants and agreements of the Corporation or the Commonwealth contained herein, in the Ancillary Agreements or in the Act; provided that same shall be for the equal benefit and security of all Bonds, without discrimination or preference;
- (e) To confirm, as further assurance, the Statutory Lien, and the subjection to the Statutory Lien, of the Corporation's right title and interest in the Pledged Sales Taxes, or any other money, investments thereof or funds, provided that such further assurance shall be for the equal benefit and security of all Bonds, without discrimination or preference;
- (f) To modify any of the provisions hereof or of any previously adopted Supplemental Indenture in any other respects, provided that such modifications shall not be effective until after all Bonds of any Series of Bonds Outstanding as of the effective date of such Supplemental Indenture shall cease to be Outstanding, and all Bonds issued under such Supplemental Indentures shall contain a specific reference to the modifications contained in such subsequent Supplemental Indenture;
- (g) With the consent of the Trustee, to cure any ambiguity or defect or inconsistent provision herein or to insert such provisions clarifying matters or questions arising hereunder as are necessary or desirable, provided that such modification shall not, in the opinion of Transaction Counsel to be provided in accordance with the last paragraph of this Section 9.01, adversely affect the interests of the Bondholders in any respect.
- (h) To modify any of the provisions hereof or of any previously adopted Supplemental Indenture in any other respects, provided that such modifications shall not be effective unless there has been delivered to the Trustee (i) a Rating Confirmation on the Outstanding Bonds and (ii) an

opinion of Transaction Counsel to the effect that the same is not inconsistent with this Indenture and will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on any Tax Exempt Bond from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation, *provided, however*, this clause (h) shall be inapplicable unless the Outstanding Bonds are rated at least Baa3/BBB- (or equivalent) by at least two Rating Services (with one such Rating Service being S&P or Moody's).

Notwithstanding the above, no Supplemental Indenture authorized by this Section 9.01 shall be effective unless and until it is executed by both the Trustee and the Corporation and the Corporation has delivered to the Trustee an opinion of Transaction Counsel to the effect that the execution of the Supplemental Indenture will not adversely affect: (i) the excludability of interest on the Tax Exempt Bonds from gross income of the Holders for federal income tax purposes, and (ii) with respect to a modification or amendment made pursuant to paragraphs (b) - (g) above, the rights of the Holders of the Bonds in any other materially adverse respect.

For the avoidance of doubt, no Supplemental Indenture shall be permitted pursuant to this Section 9.01 to the extent it would effectuate a modification or amendment that is only permitted under Section 10.01 with the consent of each affected Holder.

Section 9.02 Supplemental Indentures Effective with Consent of Bondholders. The provisions hereof may also be modified or amended at any time or from time to time by a Supplemental Indenture, subject to the written consent of the Bondholders and the rights of the Secretary of Treasury in accordance with and subject to the provisions of Article X hereof, such Supplemental Indenture to become effective upon the filing with the Trustee of a copy thereof certified by an Authorized Officer of the Corporation.

Section 9.03 General Provisions Relating to Supplemental Indentures. The Indenture shall not be modified or amended in any respect except in accordance with and subject to the provisions of this Article IX, Article X or Section 7.04 hereof. Nothing contained in this Article IX or Article X hereof shall affect or limit the rights or obligations of the Corporation to make, do, execute or deliver any Supplemental Indenture, act or other instrument pursuant to the provisions of Section 7.04 hereof or the right or obligation of the Corporation to execute and deliver to the Trustee or any Paying Agent any instrument elsewhere herein provided or permitted to be delivered to the Trustee or any Paying Agent.

A copy of every Supplemental Indenture, when filed with the Trustee for the Trustee's execution, shall be accompanied by the opinion of Transaction Counsel required by Section 9.01, the Rating Confirmation, if any is required by Section 9.01(h), and an opinion of Transaction Counsel stating that such Supplemental Indenture has been duly and lawfully adopted in accordance with the provisions hereof, is authorized or permitted hereby and is valid and binding upon the Corporation and enforceable in accordance with its terms. The Trustee shall be fully protected in relying on such an opinion of Transaction Counsel.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, no Supplemental Indenture shall become effective without the written consent of the Trustee.

The Corporation, as soon as practicable after a Supplemental Indenture changing, amending or modifying any provisions of this Indenture has become effective, shall give written

notice thereof to each Rating Service then providing a rating on the Outstanding Bonds at the request of the Corporation and shall post a copy of such Supplemental Indenture on the Corporation's website and EMMA under the CUSIPs for the Outstanding Bonds.

ARTICLE X.

AMENDMENTS OF INDENTURE

Section 10.01 Powers of Amendment. Except as provided in Section 9.01 hereof, any modification or amendment hereof and of the rights and obligations of the Corporation and of the Holders of the Bonds hereunder may only be made by a Supplemental Indenture, with the written consent given as hereinafter provided in Section 10.02 hereof, (i) of the Holders of at least a Majority in Interest of the Bonds Outstanding at the time such consent is given, or (ii) in case less than all of the several Series of Bonds then Outstanding are affected by the modification or amendment, of the Holders of at least a Majority in Interest of the Bonds of each Series so affected and Outstanding at the time such consent is given; provided, however, that if such modification or amendment will, by its terms, not take effect so long as any Bonds of any specified like Series, maturity and tenor remain Outstanding, the consent of the Holders of such Bonds shall not be required and such Bonds shall not be deemed to be Outstanding for the purpose of any calculation of Outstanding Bonds under this Section. No such modification or amendment shall, without the prior written consent of the Holder of such Bond, permit a change in the provisions related to the timing or amount of any payment on the Bonds, including, without limitation, any change in the currency to be used to pay Principal of and interest on the Bonds, any change in the amount or date of any Sinking Fund Installment, payment of Principal or any other payment, the terms of redemption or maturity of the principal of any Outstanding Bond or of any installment of interest thereon or a reduction in the principal amount or the Redemption Price thereof or in the rate of interest thereon. Further, no such modification or amendment shall, without the prior written consent of the Holder of such Bond, reduce the percentages or otherwise affect the classes of Bonds the consent of the Holders of which is required to effect any such modification or amendment. For the purposes of this Section, a Series shall be deemed to be affected by a modification or amendment hereof if the same adversely affects or diminishes the rights of the Holders of Bonds of such Series in any respect. The Trustee may in its discretion reasonably determine whether or not, in accordance with the foregoing provisions, the Bonds of any particular Series or maturity would be affected by any modification or amendment hereof and any such determination shall be binding and conclusive on the Corporation and all Holders of Bonds. If the Trustee does not make such a determination, the Trustee shall obtain an opinion of Transaction Counsel as to whether the Bonds of any particular Series or maturity would be so affected by any such modification or amendment hereof, which such opinion shall be binding and conclusive on the Corporation and all Holders of Bonds.

In addition, no Supplemental Indenture shall be approved by the Corporation without the prior written consent of the Secretary of Treasury if such Supplement Indenture would amend or modify the last paragraph of Section 2.01, Section 2.02, 2.04, 5.02(d), 5.02(e), 5.05, 5.06, 7.07, 7.13, 7.14, 9.01(b), 9.01(c) or 10.01 of this Indenture, or the last sentence of Section 14.06 of this Indenture. Further, no Supplemental Indenture shall be approved by the Corporation without the prior written consent of the Secretary of Treasury if such Supplemental Indenture would materially impair the Commonwealth's right to receive COFINA Receipts in accordance with Sections 5.10,

12.01(a) or 12.01(b) of this Indenture. The Trustee and the Corporation shall be entitled to rely on an opinion of Transaction Counsel to the effect that such modification or amendment would not materially impair the Commonwealth's right to receive the COFINA Receipts in accordance with Section 5.10, 12.01(a) or 12.01(b) of this Indenture. The Corporation shall inform the Trustee if no qualified Transaction Counsel is able to deliver such opinion.

Section 10.02 Consent of Bondholders. The Corporation may at any time execute and deliver a Supplemental Indenture making a modification or amendment permitted by the provisions of Section 10.01 hereof to take effect when and as provided in this Section. Upon the adoption of such Supplemental Indenture, a copy thereof, certified by an Authorized Officer of the Corporation shall be filed with the Trustee for the inspection of the Holders of Bonds. A copy of such Supplemental Indenture (or summary thereof or reference thereto in form approved in writing by the Trustee) together with a request to Holders of Bonds for their consent thereto in form satisfactory to the Trustee, shall be mailed or distributed by Electronic Means by the Corporation to each affected Holder of Bonds. Such Supplemental Indenture shall not become effective until (a) there shall have been filed with the Trustee (i) the written consent of the Holders of the percentages of Outstanding Bonds specified in Section 10.01 hereof and (ii) the opinions of Transaction Counsel required by Section 9.03 and (b) a notice shall have been mailed or distributed by Electronic Means as hereinafter in this Section provided. Any such consent shall be binding upon the Holder of the Bonds giving such consent and on any subsequent Holder of such Bonds (whether or not such subsequent Holder has notice thereof). At any time after the Holders of the required percentages of Bonds shall have filed their consent to the Supplemental Indenture, notice, stating in substance that the Supplemental Indenture has been consented to by the Holders of the required percentages of Bonds and will be effective as provided in this Section, shall be given to the Bondholders by mailing such notice to Bondholders or by Electronic Means. The Corporation shall file with the Trustee proof of giving such notice. Such Supplemental Indenture shall be deemed conclusively binding upon the Corporation and the Holders of all Bonds at the expiration of sixty (60) days after the filing with the Trustee of the proof of the giving of such notice, except in the event of a final decree of a court of competent jurisdiction setting aside such consent in legal action or equitable proceeding commenced for such purpose within such sixty day period; **provided, however**, that the Corporation during such sixty day period and any such further period during which any such action or proceeding may be pending shall be entitled in its absolute discretion to take such action, or to refrain from taking such action, with respect to such Supplemental Indenture as it may deem expedient.

Section 10.03 Modifications by Unanimous Consent. The terms and provisions hereof and the rights and obligations of the Corporation and of the Holders of the Bonds may be modified or amended in any respect upon the execution, delivery and filing with the Trustee by the Corporation of a copy of a Supplemental Indenture certified by an Authorized Officer of the Corporation and the consent of the Holders of all of the Bonds then Outstanding, such consent to be given as provided in Section 10.02.

Section 10.04 Mailing. Any provision in this Article X for the mailing of a notice or other document to Bondholders shall be fully complied with if it is mailed postage prepaid or distributed by Electronic Means only (a) to each registered owner of Bonds then Outstanding at such person's address, if any, appearing upon the registry books of the Corporation, (b) to the Trustee, and (c) to the Bond Insurer at its last known address.

Section 10.05 Exclusion of Bonds. Bonds owned or held by or for the account of the Corporation shall not be deemed Outstanding for the purpose of consent or other action provided for herein, and the Corporation shall not be entitled with respect to such Bonds to give any consent or take any other action provided for herein. At the time of any consent or other action taken hereunder, the Corporation shall furnish the Trustee a certificate of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation, upon which the Trustee may rely, describing all Bonds so to be excluded.

Section 10.06 Notation on Bonds. Bonds delivered after the effective date of any action taken as provided in Article IX hereof or this Article X may, and if the Trustee so determines, shall, bear a notation by endorsement or otherwise in form approved by the Corporation and the Trustee as to such action, and in that case upon demand of the Holder of any Bond Outstanding at such effective date and upon presentation of his Bond for such purpose at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee suitable notation shall be made on such Bond by the Trustee as to any such action. If the Corporation or the Trustee shall so determine, new Bonds so modified as, in the opinion of the Trustee and the Corporation, conform to such action shall be prepared and delivered, and upon demand of the Holder of any Bond then Outstanding shall be exchanged, without cost to such Bondholder, for Bonds of the same Series and maturity then Outstanding, upon surrender of such Bonds.

ARTICLE XI.

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

Section 11.01 Events of Default. An Event of Default shall exist hereunder and under each Supplemental Indenture (herein called "Event of Default") if:

- (a) Payment of the Principal or Redemption Price of any Bond shall not be made by the Corporation when the same shall become due and payable, either at maturity or by proceedings for redemption or otherwise; or
- (b) Payment of an installment of interest on any Bond shall not be made by the Corporation when the same shall become due and payable; or
- (c) The Corporation shall default in the due and punctual performance of any of the covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions contained herein or in the Bonds or in any Supplemental Indenture on the part of the Corporation to be performed and such default shall continue for sixty (60) days after written notice specifying such default and requiring same to be remedied shall have been given to the Corporation by the Trustee, which may give such notice in its discretion and shall give such notice at the written request of the Holders of not less than a Quarter in Interest of the Outstanding Bonds, unless, if such default is capable of being cured but is not capable of being cured within sixty (60) days, the Corporation has commenced to cure such default within sixty (60) days and does cure such default within ninety (90) days of the date the default initially occurred; or
- (d) The Corporation, pursuant to or within the meaning of any U.S., federal or Commonwealth insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization, restructuring receivership or any other

form of debtor relief law, including without limitation, PROMESA (collectively, "Bankruptcy Laws"):

- (i) commences proceedings to be adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent;
- (ii) consents to the institution of bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings against it;
- (iii) files, or consents to the filing of, a petition or answer or consent seeking an arrangement of debt, reorganization, dissolution, winding up or relief under applicable Bankruptcy Law;
- (iv) consents to the appointment of a receiver, interim receiver, receiver and manager, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator or other similar official of it or for all or any substantial part of its property;
- (v) makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors;
- (vi) takes any corporate or similar action in furtherance of any of the foregoing; or
- (e) a court of competent jurisdiction enters an order or decree under any Bankruptcy Law that:
 - (i) is for relief against the Corporation in a proceeding in which the Corporation is to be adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent;
 - (ii) approves as properly filed a petition seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition of or in respect of the Corporation under any Bankruptcy Law;
 - (iii) appoints a receiver, interim receiver, receiver and manager, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator or other similar official of the Corporation for all or any substantial part of the property of the Corporation;
 - (iv) orders the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation and the order or decree remains unstayed and in effect for 60 consecutive days; or
- (f) the Commonwealth defaults in the due and punctual performance of any of the covenants of the Commonwealth contained in Section 7.14 hereof; or
- (g) the Corporation permits the validity or effectiveness of this Indenture or the Bonds to be impaired, and such impairment affects the enforceability of or payments on the Bonds, or any person to be released from any covenants or obligations with respect to the Bonds; or
- (h) the Corporation shall default in the due and punctual performance of any of its covenants contained in Sections 7.02 and 7.06 hereof; or

(i) the Corporation shall take any action or engage in any activity prohibited by Article 2 6 of the Act

Section 11.02 No Acceleration with Respect to the Bonds. There shall be no right of acceleration with respect to the Bonds.

Section 11.03 Enforcement of Remedies.

- (a) If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee shall make payments in accordance with Section 11.04 below.
- (b) If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may, and upon written request of Holders holding not less than a Quarter in Interest of the Outstanding Bonds shall, proceed to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the Holders by such of the following remedies as the Trustee shall deem most effective to protect and enforce such rights or such of the following remedies as Holders holding not less than a Quarter in Interest of the Outstanding Bonds shall instruct:
 - (i) initiation of Proceedings to (A) collect all amounts due in respect of the Bonds limited, upon recovery thereunder, to the Trust Estate; (B) enforce any and all rights of the Holders, (C) enforce any covenant or agreement in this Indenture, or (D) enforce any other remedy or legal or equitable right vested in the Trustee or the Holders by this Indenture, the Act or other applicable law;
 - (ii) enforcement of the Statutory Lien and enforcement of the Corporation's rights or remedies in respect of the Trust Estate to the same extent as the Corporation; or
 - (iii) by action or suit in law or in equity to enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in violation of the rights of the Bondholders.
- (c) In any Proceedings brought by the Trustee (and also any Proceedings involving the interpretation of any provision of this Indenture to which the Trustee shall be a party), the Trustee shall be held to represent all the Holders, and it shall not be necessary to make any Holder a party to any such Proceedings.
- (d) Subject to Article VIII hereof, if an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers under this Indenture at the request or direction of any of the Holders if the Trustee reasonably believes it will not be adequately indemnified against the costs, expenses and liabilities which might be incurred by it in complying with such request.

In the enforcement of any remedy hereunder and under each Supplemental Indenture the Trustee shall be entitled to sue for, enforce payment of, and receive any and all amounts then, or during any default becoming, and at any time remaining, due from the Corporation for Principal or interest or otherwise under any of the provisions of the Indenture or of any Supplemental Indenture or of the Bonds, with interest on overdue payments of the Principal of or interest on the

Bonds at the rate or rates of interest specified in such Bonds, together with any and all costs and expenses of collection and of all proceedings hereunder and under any Supplemental Indenture and under such Bonds, including the fees and expenses of the Trustee and its attorneys and other agents, without prejudice to any other right or remedy of the Trustee or of the Holders of such Bonds, and to recover and enforce judgment or decree against the Corporation but solely as provided herein, in any Supplemental Indenture and in such Bonds, for any portion of such amounts remaining unpaid, with interest, costs and expenses, and to collect in any manner provided by law, the money adjudged or decreed to be payable.

Section 11.04 Priority of Payments after Default. If (i) an Event of Default shall occur or be continuing or (ii) at any time the money held by the Trustee hereunder and under each Supplemental Indenture shall not be sufficient to pay the Principal of and interest on the Bonds as the same become due and payable, the money held by the Trustee hereunder and under each Supplemental Indenture together with any money then available or thereafter becoming available to pay the Principal of and interest on the Bonds, whether through exercise of the remedies provided for in this Article XI or otherwise, shall be applied as follows:

First: To the payment of amounts due to the Trustee and Paying Agents under Section 8.06;

Second, *Pro rata*:

- (A) To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest then due in the order of the maturity of the installments of such interest, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any installment, then to the payment thereof ratably, according to the amounts due on such installment, to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference; and
- (B) To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid Principal or Redemption Price of any Bonds which shall have become due whether at maturity or by call for redemption in the order of their due dates and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full all such amounts due on any date, then to the payment thereof ratably, according to the amount of Principal or Redemption Price due on such date, to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference.

Third: To be applied by the Trustee to fund the deposits in the priority set forth in Section 5.06 above.

Whenever money is to be applied by the Trustee pursuant to the provisions of this Section, such money shall be applied by the Trustee at such times, and from time to time, as the Trustee in its sole discretion shall determine, having due regard to the amount of such money available for application and the likelihood of additional money becoming available for such application in the future. The setting aside of such money in trust for application in accordance with the provisions of this Section shall constitute proper application by the Trustee, and the Trustee shall incur no liability whatsoever to the Corporation, to any Holder of Bonds or to any other person for any delay in applying any such money so long as the Trustee acts with reasonable diligence, having due regard to the circumstances, and ultimately applies the same in accordance with such

provisions hereof as may be applicable at the time of application by the Trustee. Whenever the Trustee shall exercise such discretion in applying such money, it shall fix the date (which shall be on an Interest Payment Date unless the Trustee shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to be made, and upon such date interest on the amounts of principal to be paid on such date shall cease to accrue. The Trustee shall give such notice as it may deem appropriate of the fixing of any such date.

Amounts held by the Trustee after payments to be made pursuant to this Section 11.04 have been made and no Bonds are Outstanding and unpaid shall be paid and applied in accordance with Section 5.06 hereof.

Section 11.05 Termination of Proceedings. In case any proceedings commenced by the Trustee on account of any default shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason or shall have been determined adversely to the Trustee, then and in every such case the Corporation, the Trustee and the Bondholders shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, and all rights, remedies, powers and duties of the Trustee shall continue as though no such proceeding had been commenced.

Section 11.06 Bondholders' Direction of Proceedings. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the Holders of a Quarter in Interest of the Outstanding Bonds shall have the right by an instrument in writing executed and delivered to the Trustee, to direct the choice of remedies and the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee hereunder, under each Supplemental Indenture or otherwise, or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the Trustee, including the power to direct or withhold directions with respect to any remedy available pursuant to Section 11.03, provided, (i) such direction shall not be otherwise than in accordance with law and the provisions hereof and of each Supplemental Indenture, (ii) that the Trustee may take any other action deemed proper by the Trustee which is not inconsistent with such direction, and (iii) that the Trustee shall have the right to decline to follow any such direction which in the opinion of the Trustee would be unjustly prejudicial to Bondholders not parties to such direction.

Section 11.07 Control by Holders of Bonds; Limitations. No Holder of any of the Bonds shall have any right to institute any suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law for the execution of any trust hereunder, or for any other remedy hereunder unless such Holder previously shall have given to the Trustee written notice of the Event of Default on account of which such suit, action or proceeding is to be instituted, and unless also the Holders of not less than a Quarter in Interest of the Outstanding Bonds, shall have made written request to the Trustee after the right to exercise such powers or right of action, as the case may be, shall have accrued, and shall have afforded the Trustee a reasonable opportunity either to proceed to exercise the powers granted hereby or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its or their name, and unless, also, there shall have been offered to the Trustee reasonable security and indemnity against the costs, expenses, and liabilities to be incurred therein or thereby, and the Trustee shall have refused or neglected to comply with such request within a reasonable time (and in no event shall a delay of more than thirty (30) days be deemed reasonable for such purposes) after receipt thereof. Such notification, request and offer of indemnity are hereby declared in every such case, at the option of the Trustee, to be conditions precedent to the execution of the powers and trusts hereof or for any other remedy hereunder and in equity or at law. Notwithstanding the right of the Holders to

direct proceedings in accordance with Section 11.06 above, it is understood and intended that no one or more Holders of the Bonds secured hereby shall have any right in any manner whatever by his or their action to affect, disturb or prejudice the security hereof, and that all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted and maintained for the benefit of all Holders of the Outstanding Bonds. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, the Holder of any Bond shall have the right which is absolute and unconditional to receive payment of the Principal of (and premium, if any) and interest on such Bond on the stated maturity expressed in such Bond (or, in the case of redemption, on the redemption date or, in the case of interest, on the Interest Payment Date on which such interest is due) and to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment, and such right shall not be impaired without the consent of such Holder.

Section 11.08 Actions by Trustee; Possession of Bonds by Trustee Not Required. All rights of action hereunder or under any of the Bonds secured hereby and thereby, enforceable by the Trustee, may be enforced by it without the possession of any of such Bonds or the production thereof at the trial or other proceeding relative thereto, and any such suit, action or proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in its name for the benefit of all the Holders of the Bonds to which such action relates, subject to the provisions hereof.

Section 11.09 Waiver and Non–Waiver of Default. No delay or omission of the Trustee or any Bondholder to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or an acquiescence therein. Every power and remedy given by this Article XI to the Trustee and the Bondholders, respectively, may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.

The Trustee may, and upon written request of the Holders of not less than a Quarter in Interest of the Outstanding Bonds, shall waive any default which in its opinion shall have been remedied before the entry of final judgment or decree in any suit, action or proceeding instituted by it under the provisions hereof or before the completion of the enforcement of any other remedy hereunder; *provided, however*, the Trustee may not waive any default if it has received a direction from not less than a Quarter in Interest of the Outstanding Bonds that such default may not be waived by the Trustee; *provided, further*, that no such waiver shall extend to or affect any other existing or any subsequent default or defaults or impair any rights or remedies consequent thereon.

Section 11.10 Notice of Event of Default. The Trustee shall give notice of each Event of Default hereunder known to the Trustee to the Corporation and the Commonwealth, within ten (10) days after knowledge of the occurrence thereof and to the Holders of Bonds within thirty (30) days after knowledge of the occurrence thereof, unless such Event of Default shall have been remedied or cured before the giving of such notice; *provided, however*, that failure to provide notice to the Commonwealth of any Event of Default shall in no way limit the exercise of remedies by the Trustee or Bondholders. In the case of the Holders of the Bonds, each such notice of Event of Default shall be given by the Trustee by mailing written notice thereof to all registered Holders of Bonds, as the names and addresses of such Holders appear on the books for registration and transfer of Bonds as kept by the Trustee and to the Bond Insurer at its last known address.

Section 11.11 Remedies Not Exclusive. No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee or to the Holders is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy and each and every

such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity, by statute or by contract.

ARTICLE XII.

DEFEASANCE

Section 12.01 Defeasance. (a) If the Corporation shall pay or cause to be paid to the Holder of a Bond the Principal or Redemption Price of and interest thereon, at the times and in the manner stipulated therein, herein, and in the applicable Supplemental Indenture, then all rights granted hereby and by the Act to such Bond (including without limitation, the Statutory Lien) shall be discharged and satisfied. In such event, the Trustee shall, upon the request of the Corporation, execute and deliver such documents to evidence such discharge and satisfaction as may be reasonably required by the Corporation, and all money or investments thereof held by it pursuant hereto and to the applicable Supplemental Indenture which are being held for the sole benefit of such Bonds and which are not required for the payment or redemption of Bonds of the same Series as such Bond shall be applied by the Trustee as follows: first, to the Arbitrage Rebate Fund, the amount required to be deposited therein in accordance with the direction of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation, second, to the Debt Service Fund, to the extent the amount then on deposit therein is less than the sum of the Interest Funding Requirement for the then current Fiscal Year and the Principal Funding Requirement for the then current Fiscal Year, and third, to the extent not required to be deposited in the Arbitrage Rebate Fund or the Debt Service Fund, at the direction of the Corporation, shall be transferred to any other fund or account established pursuant hereto.

- (a) Bonds for the payment or redemption of which money shall have been set aside and shall be held in trust by the Trustee (through deposit of money for such payment or redemption or otherwise) at the maturity or redemption date thereof shall be deemed to have been paid within the meaning and with the effect expressed in paragraph (a) of this Section. All Outstanding Bonds of any Series or any maturity within a Series or a portion of a maturity within a Series shall prior to the maturity or redemption date thereof be deemed to have been paid within the meaning and with the effect expressed in paragraph (a) of this Section if:
 - (i) in case any of said Bonds are to be redeemed on any date prior to their maturity, the Corporation shall have given to the Trustee, in form satisfactory to it, irrevocable instructions to give as provided in Article IV hereof notice of redemption on said date of such Bonds; and
 - (ii) there shall have been deposited with the Trustee either money in an amount which shall be sufficient, or Defeasance Securities the principal of and interest on which when due will provide money which, together with the money, if any, deposited with the Trustee at the same time, shall be sufficient in the judgment of a nationally recognized verification agent to pay when due the Principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, and interest due and to become due on said Bonds on and prior to the redemption date or maturity date thereof, as the case may be; and
 - (iii) in the event said Bonds are not by their terms subject to redemption within the next succeeding sixty (60) days, the Corporation shall have given the Trustee, in form

satisfactory to it, irrevocable instructions to give, as soon as practicable, by first class mail, postage prepaid, to the Holders of said Bonds at their last known addresses appearing on the registration books, a notice to the Holders of such Bonds that the deposit required by (ii) above has been made with the Trustee and that said Bonds are deemed to have been paid in accordance with this Section and stating such maturity or redemption date upon which money is to be available for the payment of the Principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, of and interest on said Bonds; and

(iv) the Corporation shall have delivered to the Trustee an opinion of Transaction Counsel to the effect that (A) any Bond having been deemed to have been paid as provided in this Section is no longer Outstanding hereunder and is no longer secured by or entitled to the benefits of this Indenture, (B) such defeasance is in accordance with the terms hereof and (C) with respect to a Tax Exempt Bond, such defeasance will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on such Tax Exempt Bond from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation.

The Corporation shall give written notice to the Trustee of its selection of the Series and maturity payment of which shall be made in accordance with this Section. The Trustee shall select the Bonds of like Series and maturity payment of which shall be made in accordance with this Section in the manner provided in Section 4.04 hereof. Neither the Defeasance Securities nor money deposited with the Trustee pursuant to this Section nor principal or interest payments on any such Defeasance Securities shall be withdrawn or used for any purpose other than, and shall be held in trust for, the payment of the Principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, of and interest on said Bonds; provided, however, that any money received from such principal or interest payments on such Defeasance Securities deposited with the Trustee, if not then needed for such purpose in the judgment of a nationally recognized verification agent, shall, to the extent practicable, be reinvested in Defeasance Securities maturing at times and in amounts sufficient to pay when due the Principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, of and interest to become due on said Bonds on and prior to such redemption date or maturity date hereof, as the case may be. Any income or interest earned by, or increment to, the investment of any such money so deposited, shall, to the extent certified by the Trustee to be in excess of the amounts required hereinabove to pay the Principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, of and interest on such Bonds, as realized, shall be applied by the Trustee as follows: first, to the Arbitrage Rebate Fund, the amount required to be deposited therein in accordance with the direction of an Authorized Officer of the Corporation, second, to the Debt Service Fund, to the extent the amount then on deposit therein is less than the sum of the Interest Funding Requirement for the then current Fiscal Year and the Principal Funding Requirement for the then current Fiscal Year, and third, to the extent not required to be deposited in the Arbitrage Rebate Fund or the Debt Service Fund, at the direction of the Corporation, shall be retained therein or transferred to any other fund or account established pursuant hereto.

(b) Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any money held by the Trustee or a Paying Agent in trust for the payment and discharge of any of the Bonds of a Series or the interest thereon which remain unclaimed for three (3) years after the date when all of the Bonds of such Series have become due and payable, either at their stated maturity dates or by call for earlier redemption, if such money was held by the Trustee or Paying Agent at such date, or for three (3) years after the date of deposit of such money if deposited with the Trustee or Paying

Agent after said date when all of the Bonds of such Series become due and payable, or three (3) years after the date when the Principal or Redemption Price of or interest on the Bonds for which said money is held was due and payable, shall, at the written request of the Corporation, be repaid by the Trustee or Paying Agent to the Corporation as its absolute property and free from trust, and the Trustee or Paying Agent shall thereupon be released and discharged with respect thereto and the Holders of Bonds shall look only to the Corporation for the payment of such Bonds.

ARTICLE XIII.

EXECUTION OF INSTRUMENTS BY BOND HOLDERS AND PROOF OF OWNERSHIP OF BONDS

Section 13.01 Evidence of Signatures of Bondholders and Ownership of Bonds. Any request, consent or other instrument which the Indenture may require or permit to be signed and executed by a Holder or Holders of Bonds may be in one or more instruments of similar tenor, and shall be signed or executed by such Holder or Holders of Bonds in person or by his or their attorneys duly appointed in writing. Proof of the execution of any such instrument, or of an instrument appointing any such attorney, or the holding or owning by any person of such Bonds, shall be sufficient for any purpose hereof (except as otherwise herein expressly provided) if made in the manner set forth below, but the Trustee may nevertheless in its discretion require further or other proof in cases where it deems the same desirable.

The fact and date of the execution by any Bondholder or his attorney of such instrument may be proved by the certificate, which need not be acknowledged or verified, of any officer of a bank or trust company satisfactory to the Trustee or of any notary public or other officer authorized to take acknowledgments of deeds to be recorded in the state in which he purports to act, that the person signing such request or other instrument acknowledged to him the execution thereof, or by an affidavit of a witness of such execution, duly sworn to before such notary public or other officer. The corporation of the person or persons executing any such instrument on behalf of a corporate Bondholder may be established without further proof if such instrument is signed by a person purporting to be the president or a vice—president of such corporation with a corporate seal affixed and attested by a person purporting to be its secretary or an assistant secretary.

The ownership of Bonds and the amount, numbers and other identification, and date of holding or owning the same shall be proved by the registry books. Any request, consent or vote of the owner of any Bond shall bind all future owners of such Bond in respect of anything done or suffered to be done or omitted to be done by the Corporation or the Trustee in accordance therewith. The Corporation or the Trustee may fix a record date in connection with any such request, consent or vote.

ARTICLE XIV.

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 14.01 Preservation and Inspection of Documents. All documents received by the Trustee from the Corporation or from Bondholders under the provisions hereof or of any Supplemental Indenture shall be retained in its possession and shall be subject at all reasonable

times to the inspection of the Corporation any Bondholder and their agents and their representatives, any of whom may make copies thereof; *provided, however*, that with respect to inspection by a Bondholder a written request of such Bondholder must have been received by the Trustee at least five (5) Business Days prior to the date of inspection. The Trustee shall provide to the Corporation account balances and other information reasonably requested by the Corporation.

Section 14.02 Money and Funds Held for Particular Bonds. The amounts held by the Trustee or any Paying Agent for the payment of the Principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds due on any date with respect to particular Bonds shall, pending such payment, be set aside and held in trust by it for the Holders of such Bonds entitled thereto, and for the purposes hereof such Principal or Redemption Price of and interest on such Bonds, due after such date thereof, shall no longer be considered to be unpaid.

Section 14.03 Cancellation of Bonds. The Trustee or any Paying Agent shall forthwith cancel all Bonds which have been redeemed or paid and shall dispose of such Bonds in accordance with its customary procedures. No such Bonds shall be deemed Outstanding Bonds hereunder and no Bonds shall be issued in lieu thereof.

Section 14.04 No Recourse under Indenture or on the Bonds. All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the Corporation contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the Corporation and not of any member, officer or employee of the Corporation, and no recourse shall be had for the payment of the Principal or Redemption Price of or interest on the Bonds or for any claims based thereon, hereon or on the Supplemental Indenture against any member, officer or employee of the Corporation or any person executing the Bonds, all such liability, if any, being expressly waived and released by every Holder of Bonds by the acceptance of the Bonds.

Section 14.05 Severability of Invalid Provision. If any one or more of the covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations provided herein or in any Supplemental Indenture on the part of the Corporation or the Trustee to be performed should be contrary to law, then such covenant or covenants, stipulation or stipulations, promise or promises, agreement or agreements or obligation or obligations shall be null and void, shall be deemed and construed to be severable from the remaining covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations herein contained and shall in no way affect the validity of the other provisions hereof or of such Supplemental Indenture or of the Bonds.

Section 14.06 Parties of Interest. Nothing herein or in any Supplemental Indenture adopted pursuant to the provisions hereof, expressed or implied, is intended to or shall be construed to confer upon or to give to any person or party other than the Corporation, the Trustee, the Paying Agents and the Holders and, to the extent provided in this Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, any Bond Insurer any rights, remedies or claims hereunder or by reason hereof or of any Supplemental Indenture or any covenant, condition or stipulation thereof. All covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements herein or in any Supplemental Indenture contained by or on behalf of the Corporation shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Corporation, the Trustee, the Paying Agents, the Holders and the Bond Insurer. Any Bond Insurer of any Insured Bonds issued under this Indenture is an express third party beneficiary of this Indenture and of any applicable Supplemental Indenture. Notwithstanding anything in this or any other section of the

Indenture, the Commonwealth and the Secretary of Treasury are express third party beneficiaries of the Indenture.

Section 14.07 Certain Provisions Relating to Capital Appreciation Bonds. For the purposes of receiving payment of the Redemption Price if a Capital Appreciation Bond is redeemed prior to maturity, the then current Accreted Value of such Bond shall be deemed to be its principal amount. In computing the principal amount of Bonds held by the registered owner of a Capital Appreciation Bond in giving to the Corporation or the Trustee any notice, consent, request, or demand pursuant hereto for any purpose whatsoever, the Accreted Value of such Bond as at the immediately preceding Valuation Date shall be deemed to be its principal amount. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, the amount payable at any time with respect to the Principal of and interest on any Capital Appreciation Bond be equal to its Accreted Value thereof at such time plus redemption premium, if any.

Section 14.08 Notices. Except as otherwise provided herein, any notices, directions or other instruments required to be given or delivered pursuant hereto or to any Supplemental Indenture shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand against the written receipt therefor or sent by registered or certified mail addressed: in the case of the Corporation, to it to the attention of the Corporation's Executive Director with a copy to the Secretary of the Corporation's board, at Roberto Sanchez Vilella (Minillas) Government Center, de Diego Ave No. 100, San Juan, PR 00907; and in the case of the Trustee, addressed to it at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee at 240 Greenwich Street, 7 East, New York, New York 10286 att.: Corporate Trust; in the case of the Commonwealth or the Secretary of the Treasury, to the attention of the Secretary of Treasury at 10 Paseo Covadonga, San Juan, Puerto Rico, 00901, or, in each case, to such other individual and at such other address as the person to be notified shall have specified by notice to the other persons. Any such communication may also be sent by Electronic Means, receipt of which shall be confirmed.

In the event the Trustee sends a notice to the Holders of any series of Bonds, the Trustee shall also provide such notice in electronic format, accompanied by such identifying information as is prescribed by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, including the CUSIP numbers for the Bonds of the series to the Corporation's dissemination agent for distribution through the EMMA system. The Corporation shall cooperate with the Trustee to the extent necessary to facilitate the foregoing. The Trustee shall not be liable under any circumstances for monetary damages to any person for any breach of the provisions of this paragraph. The sole remedy for failure of the Trustee to perform is specific performance.

Section 14.09 Headings. Any headings preceding the text of the several Articles and Sections hereof, and any table of contents or marginal notes appended to copies hereof, shall be solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part hereof nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect.

Section 14.10 Governing Laws. The Indenture and the Bonds shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York applicable to agreements made in and to be performed wholly within such jurisdiction.

Section 14.11 Retention of Jurisdiction of Title III Court. The Title III Court shall retain jurisdiction from and after the Effective Date of all matters arising from or related to the Plan of Adjustment, including, without limitation, with respect to the payment of the Bonds and the enforcement of the remedies set forth herein to the fullest extent permitted by law. Any disputes, legal action, suit, or proceeding arising from or related to this Indenture or the Bonds (a) shall be brought in accordance with the terms of this Indenture in the Title III Court and any appellate court therefrom, or, in the event such court does not have or accept such jurisdiction, in any federal district court does not have or accept jurisdiction, a Commonwealth court and any appellate court therefrom and (b) the parties shall be deemed to consent to the jurisdiction thereof.

Section 14.12 Signatures and Counterparts. This Indenture and each Supplemental Indenture may be executed and delivered in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

Section 14.13 Successors and Assigns. Whenever in the Indenture the Corporation is named or referred to, it shall be deemed to include its successors and assigns and all the covenants and agreements in the Indenture contained by or on behalf of the Corporation shall bind and inure to the benefit of its successors and assigns whether so expressed or not.

Section 14.14 Conflicts. All resolutions or other proceedings of the Corporation or parts thereof in conflict herewith are repealed insofar as such conflict exists.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Indenture as of the date first written above.

PUERTO RICO SALES TAX FINANCING CORPORATION

By:					
Name:					
Title:					
THE BANK Trustee	OF	NEW	YORK	MELLON,	as
By:					
Name:					
Title:					

EXHIBIT B EXECUTION VERSION OF THE SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE

SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE

by and between

PUERTO RICO SALES TAX FINANCING CORPORATION

and

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, as Trustee

Dated as of February 12, 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>I</u>	Page
ARTICLE I. DEFINIT	TIONS AND AUTHORITY	2
Section 1.01	Definitions	2
Section 1.02	Rules of Construction	
ARTICLE II. THE SE	RIES 2019B BONDS	
Section 2.01	Authorization, Designation and Series	4
Section 2.01	Place of Payment	
Section 2.03	Form, Denominations, Numbers and Letters	
Section 2.04	Dating of Series 2019B Bonds	
Section 2.05	Record Date	
Section 2.06	Paying Agent	
Section 2.07	Book Entry Bond Procedures	5
Section 2.08	CUSIP Numbers	
Section 2.09	Series 2019B Bonds Subject to Mandatory Tender at the Option of th	e
Initial H	Iolder	
Section 2.10	Application of Proceeds	6
ARTICLE III. SERIES	S 2019B CURRENT INTEREST BONDS	7
Section 3.01	Maturity Dates, Principal Amounts and Interest Rates for Series 2019	B-1
Current	Interest Bonds	7
Section 3.02	Maturity Dates, Principal Amounts and Interest Rates for Series 2019 Interest Bonds.	
Section 3.03	Interest Payments	
Section 3.04	Redemption Prices and Terms	
	S 2019B-1 CAPITAL APPRECIATION BONDS	
Section 4.01	Maturity Dates, Initial Principal Amounts, Maturity Values and	11
Section 4.02	on Rates for the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds Interest Accretion	
Section 4.02 Section 4.03	Redemption Prices and Terms	
ARTICLE V. SPECIA	-	16
Section 5.01 Section 5.02	Tax Covenant.	
	Materially Adverse Actions	
ARTICLE VI. BOND	INSURANCE PROVISIONS	
Section 6.01	Applicability of Insurance Provisions	
Section 6.02	Nonpayment by the Issuer	
Section 6.03	Insurance Payment Procedures	
Section 6.04	Subrogation	
Section 6.05	Bond Insurer as Holder	
Section 6.06	Contractual Rights of the Bond Insurer	
Section 6.07	Bond Insurer as Third Party Beneficiary	
Section 6.08	Notices, Etc	20

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

		<u>Page</u>
Section 6.09	Information to the Bond Insurer	20
Section 6.10	Defeasance of Series 2019B Bonds	21
Section 6.11	Applicability of Article VI	21
ARTICLE VII. MISC	ELLANEOUS	21
Section 7.01	Limitation of Rights	21
Section 7.02	Successors and Assigns	21
Section 7.03	Severability	21
Section 7.04	Applicable Law	22
Section 7.05	Signature and Counterparts	22
Section 7.06	Amendments and Supplements	22
Section 7.07	Notice to the Bond Insurer	

EXHIBIT A – FORM OF SERIES 2019B CURRENT INTEREST BONDS

EXHIBIT B – FORM OF SERIES 2019B-1 CAPITAL APPRECIATION BONDS

EXHIBIT C- ACCRETED VALUE TABLE

SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE

THIS SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE, is entered into as of February 12, 2019, by and between PUERTO RICO SALES TAX FINANCING CORPORATION, a public corporation and instrumentality of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, constituting a corporate and political entity independent and separate from the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (together with any successors thereto, the "Corporation"), and THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, as trustee (the "Trustee"), and supplements the Master Trust Indenture, dated as of February 12, 2019, by and between the Corporation and the Trustee (the "Master Indenture").

<u>W I T N E S S E T H:</u>

WHEREAS, the Corporation has determined that it is desirable at this time to authorize the issuance of its Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B in \$114,888,000.00 aggregate principal amount at issuance of Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds (defined below) and \$36,694,099.55 aggregate principal amount at issuance of Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds (defined below); and

WHEREAS, the Series 2019B Bonds are issued under and pursuant to the Master Indenture, and are, therefore, entitled to the security provided thereby (including, without limitation, the Statutory Lien on the Trust Estate) and all protections and covenants contained therein, all of which are incorporated into this Second Supplemental Indenture as if set forth fully herein; and

WHEREAS, this Second Supplemental Indenture is entered into to supplement the Master Indenture to provide for the issuance of the Series 2019B Bonds on a parity with Bonds hereafter issued; and

WHEREAS, the Corporation has taken all necessary action to make the Series 2019B Bonds, when authenticated by the Trustee and issued by the Corporation, valid and binding obligations of the Corporation and to constitute this Second Supplemental Indenture a valid and binding instrument for the authorization of and security for the Series 2019B Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the Title III Court has made binding determinations concerning the Series 2019B Bonds, which determinations are more particularly set forth in the recitals of the Master Indenture

NOW, THEREFORE, WITNESSETH that the Corporation does covenant and agree with the Trustee and with the Holders of the Series 2019B Bonds, as follows:

ARTICLE II.

DEFINITIONS AND AUTHORITY

- **Section 2.01 Definitions.** Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the respective meanings accorded such terms in the Master Indenture. In addition, the following terms shall have the following meanings herein unless the context otherwise requires:
- "Accreted Value Payments" means, with respect to a Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bond, all payments of Accreted Value to be made in accordance with Section 4.03 hereof, including, without limitation, the Sinking Fund Installment payments and the payment at stated maturity.
- **"Authorized Denomination"** means, with respect to the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds, \$1,000 principal amount in Maturity Value, or any integral multiple thereof, and with respect to Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds, \$1,000 in Principal amount or any integral multiple thereof.
- **"Bond Insurer"** means Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp., a New York stock insurance company, or any successor thereto or assignee thereof, to the extent Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. has issued an insurance policy guaranteeing the scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Series 2019B Bonds when due.
 - "Bond Insurer's Fiscal Agent" means any designated agent of the Bond Insurer.
- "Certificate of Determination" means a certificate executed by an Authorized Officer to evidence a determination of the Corporation referenced in Section 2.01 or Section 2.09 hereof.
- "Claim" means any claim or enforcement proceeding arising from or related to a Series 2019B Bond in connection with an Insolvency Proceeding.
- "Indenture" means the Master Indenture, as supplemented by this Supplemental Indenture.
- **"Initial Holder"** means (a) to extent the Series 2019B Bonds are issued as Insured Bonds on the Effective Date, the Bond Insurer, as the initial beneficial holder of the Series 2019 Bonds and (b) to the extent the Series 2019B Bonds are not issued as Insured Bonds on the Effective Date, Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.
- **"Insolvency Proceeding"** means any proceeding or the occurrence of an event described in Section 11.01(d) or (e) of the Master Indenture.
- **"Insurance Policy"** means the insurance policy issued by the Bond Insurer guaranteeing the scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Series 2019B Bonds when due.
 - "Insured Bondholder" means the registered owner of a Series 2019B Bond.

- "Insured Payment Date" means an Interest Payment Date or Principal Payment Date on which the Principal of or interest on the Series 2019B Bonds is payable.
- "Master Indenture" shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Second Supplemental Indenture.
- "Maturity Value" means, with respect to a Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bond, the Accreted Value due at stated maturity if no Accreted Value Payments on such Bond are paid prior to stated maturity.
- **"Policy Payments Account"** shall have the meaning given to such tem in Section 6.03(d) hereof.
- "**Redemption Date**" means each date of redemption specified in Sections 4.03(b) for the redemption of Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds.
 - "Related Documents" means the Indenture or any other transaction document.
- **"Second Supplemental Indenture"** means this Second Supplemental Trust Indenture, which supplements the Master Indenture to authorize the issuance of the Series 2019B Bonds.
- **"Series 2019B Bonds"** means the Corporation's Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B authorized by the Master Indenture and this Second Supplemental Indenture, which may, at the option of the Initial Holder be issued as Insured Bonds insured by the Bond Insurer and consist of, collectively, the Series 2019B-1 Bonds and the Series 2019B-2 Bonds.
- "Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds" means collectively, the Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds and the Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds.
- "Series 2019B-1 Bonds" means the Series 2019B Bonds that are issued as Tax-Exempt Bonds, which consist of, collectively, the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds and the Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds.
- "Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds" means the Series 2019B-1 Bonds issued as Capital Appreciation Bonds, which have stated maturity dates of July 1, 2024, July 1, 2027, July 1, 2029, July 1, 2031, July 1, 2033, July 1, 2046 and July 1, 2051.
- **"Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds"** means the Series 2019B-1 Bonds issued as Current Interest Bonds, which have stated maturity dates of July 1, 2034, July 1, 2040, July 1, 2053 and July 1, 2058.
- "Series 2019B-2 Bonds" means the Series 2019B Bonds that are not issued as Tax-Exempt Bonds, which consist of the Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds.
- "Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds" means the Series 2019B-2 Bonds issued as Current Interest Bonds, which have stated maturity dates of July 1, 2040, July 1, 2053 and July 1, 2058.

"Tax Certificate" means the Tax Certificate dated the date of the original delivery of the Series 2019B-1 Bonds relating to the requirements of certain provisions of the Code, as such certificate may from time to time be modified or supplemented in accordance with the terms thereof.

"Verification" has the meaning provided in Section 6.10 herein.

Section 2.02 Rules of Construction. Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders. Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, words importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa, and words importing persons shall include firms, associations and corporations, including public bodies as well as natural persons.

The words "include", "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without limitation". The terms "hereby," "hereof," "hereto," "herein," "hereunder," and any similar terms, as used in the Second Supplemental Indenture, refer to the Second Supplemental Indenture. All references to Articles and Sections in this Second Supplemental Indenture refer to the Articles and Sections hereof unless otherwise expressly stated. All references to articles and sections of other documents or statutes shall use the numbers of the applicable articles or sections in effect as of the date hereof.

"\$" and "dollars" each refer to United States dollars, or such other money of the United States of America that at the time of payment is legal tender for payment of public and private debts

ARTICLE III.

THE SERIES 2019B BONDS

Section 3.01 Authorization, Designation and Series. The Series 2019B Bonds are hereby to be issued in two subseries (i) the Series 2019B-1 Bonds, consisting of (A) \$69,318,000 aggregate principal amount of the Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds and (B) \$135,854,000 aggregate principal amount in Maturity Value of Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds and (ii) the Series 2019B-2 Bonds, consisting of the \$45,570,000 aggregate principal amount of the Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds. The Series 2019B Bonds are issued under the Master Indenture and this Second Supplemental Indenture and secured by the Master Indenture, this Second Supplemental Indenture and the Trust Estate (including, particularly, the Statutory Lien described within the Master Indenture). Each maturity of the Series 2019B Bonds is hereby designated as a Term Bond. The Series 2019B-1 Bonds are Tax Exempt Bonds and are hereby designated "Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B-2".

The Corporation is hereby authorized, upon the request of a Holder, to combine one or more subseries of Series 2019B Bonds into a single Series or subseries or to divide a Series or subseries of the Series 2019B Bonds into two or more subseries and to determine the principal amount of such subseries; **provided**, **however**, that (i) no combination or division shall permit or result in a change to the aggregate Principal amount, the applicable maturity date, the applicable

interest rate or accretion rate, or the redemption periods, Redemption Dates or amounts due at redemption of the Outstanding Bonds of any Series or subseries subject to such combination or division, and (ii) prior to combining or dividing any such Series or subseries of Tax-Exempt Bonds, the Corporation and the Trustee shall have received an opinion of Transaction Counsel that such combination or division will not cause interest on the Tax Exempt Bonds to become includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes.

Section 3.02 Place of Payment. The Series 2019B Bonds shall be payable at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee. Interest on the Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds will be payable by the Trustee as provided in Section 3.01 of the Master Indenture, or at the option of any owner of \$1,000,000 or more in aggregate Principal amount of the Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such bank in the continental United States as such owner requests in writing.

Section 3.03 Form, Denominations, Numbers and Letters. The Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds shall be issued as fully registered Bonds in Authorized Denominations. The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds shall be issued as fully registered bonds with Maturity Values in Authorized Denominations.

Unless the Corporation shall otherwise direct, the Series 2019B-1 Bonds shall be numbered and lettered "19B-1-R–", followed by the number of the Bond and the Series 2019B-2 Bonds shall be numbered and lettered "19B-2-R–", followed by the number of the Bond. The Series 2019B-1 Bonds and the Series 2019B-2 Bonds shall, in each case, be numbered consecutively from one (1) upward.

Subject to the provisions of the Master Indenture, the form of the Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds and of the Trustee's Certificate of Authentication shall be substantially in the form annexed hereto as Exhibit A. Subject to the provisions of the Master Indenture, the form of the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds and of the Trustee's Certificate of Authentication shall be substantially in the form annexed hereto as Exhibit B.

- **Section 3.04 Dating of Series 2019B Bonds**. The Series 2019B Bonds issued prior to the first Interest Payment Date shall be dated August 1, 2018. Each Series 2019B Bond issued on or after the first Interest Payment Date or first Valuation Date, as applicable, shall be dated as provided in Section 3.01 of the Master Indenture.
- **Section 3.05 Record Date**. The Record Date for the Series 2019B Bonds shall be the fifteenth (15th) day (whether or not a Business Day) of the calendar month next preceding the applicable Valuation Date, Interest Payment Date or Principal Payment Date. The Record Date for the payment of interest on the Effective Date shall be the Effective Date.
- **Section 3.06 Paying Agent**. The Trustee is hereby appointed Paying Agent for the Series 2019B Bonds, such appointment to be effective immediately upon the filing of this Second Supplemental Indenture with the Trustee.
- **Section 3.07 Book Entry Bond Procedures**. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Second Supplemental Indenture to the contrary, so long as any Series 2019B Bond is registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of the Depository, all payments on such Series 2019B

Bond, and all deliveries to be made and notices to be delivered with respect to such Series 2019B Bond, shall be made and given pursuant to the Depository's rules and procedures then in effect.

Section 3.08 CUSIP Numbers. Neither the Corporation nor the Trustee shall be liable for any defect or inaccuracy in the CUSIP number as it appears on any Series 2019B Bond or in any notice of redemption. The Corporation shall promptly notify the Trustee of any change in the CUSIP numbers assigned to any Series 2019B Bond of which the Corporation has knowledge.

Section 3.09 Series 2019B Bonds Subject to Mandatory Tender at the Option of the **Initial Holder**. In addition to being subject to mandatory and optional redemption as set forth herein, the Series 2019B Bonds shall be subject to a mandatory tender for purchase by the Corporation, at the option of the Initial Holder and remarketing thereof in accordance with the Plan of Adjustment. The purchase price of the Series 2019B Bonds so tendered shall be payable solely from the proceeds of a remarketing of such Series 2019B Bonds. At the option of the Initial Holder, the Corporation agrees to remarket the Series 2019B Bonds as Insured Bonds with the principal amounts, maturities and interest rates, based on determinations of the applicable underwriter(s), such that the interest rates on the remarketed Series 2019A Bonds are the lowest interest rates necessary for such Series 2019B Bonds to be remarketed at their adjusted par amounts and the adjusted terms otherwise result in the Series 2019B Bonds being remarketed at the lowest aggregate yield; provided, however, that (a) the sum of the Principal Funding Requirement and Interest Funding Requirement on the remarketed Series 2019B Bonds due in any Fiscal Year shall not be greater than the sum of the Principal Funding Requirement and Interest Funding Requirement due in such Fiscal Year on such Series 2019B Bonds prior to such remarketing and (b) the remarketed Series 2019B Bonds may mature later than the Series 2019B Bonds prior to the remarketing, but in no event later than FY2058; provided, further, that such remarketed Series 2019B Bonds shall be subject to optional redemption at the same times and at the same redemption prices set forth in Section 3.04(a), in the case of Series 2019B Bonds remarketed as Current Interest Bonds and Section 4.03(a), in the case of Series 2019B Bonds remarketed as Capital Appreciation Bond. The principal amount, maturities and mandatory redemption provisions of and interest rates on the remarketed Series 2019B Bonds shall be evidenced by a Certificate of Determination signed by an Authorized Officer of the Corporation.

Section 3.10 Application of Proceeds. No deposit of proceeds shall be made in connection with the issuance of the Series 2019B Bonds on the Effective Date; provided, however, that there shall be deposited in a segregated account at Banco Popular (the "Cost of Underwriting Account"), funds of the Commonwealth to be used to pay certain Costs of Issuance anticipated to be incurred by the Corporation in connection with the remarketing of the Series 2019B Bonds in accordance with Section 2.09 above. In the event that no remarketing of the Series 2019B Bonds occurs, the deposit to the Cost of Underwriting Account shall be returned to the Commonwealth. Additionally, upon the remarketing of the Series 2019B Bonds, any funds remaining in the Cost of Underwriting Account after the payment of all Costs of Issuance shall be returned to the Commonwealth. No portion of the COFINA Receipts will be applied to the payment of any such Costs of Issuance. The proceeds from the remarketing of the Series 2019B Bonds in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.09 above shall be paid to the Initial Holder.

ARTICLE IV.

SERIES 2019B CURRENT INTEREST BONDS

Section 4.01 Maturity Dates, Principal Amounts and Interest Rates for Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds. The Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds shall bear interest at such rates and shall mature (subject to the provisions of this Second Supplemental Indenture providing for optional and mandatory redemption) on July 1 of each year and in the amounts set forth below:

Year	Principal Amount	Interest Rate
2034	\$ 4,743,000	4.500%
2040	2,402,000	4.550
2053	17,619,000	4.750
2058	44,554,000	5.000

Section 4.02 Maturity Dates, Principal Amounts and Interest Rates for Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds. The Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds shall bear interest at such rates and shall mature (subject to the provisions of this Second Supplemental Indenture providing for optional and mandatory redemption) on July 1 of each year and in the amounts set forth below:

Year	Principal Amount	Interest Rate
2040	\$35,156,000	4.550%
2053	723,000	4.750
2058	9,691,000	5.000

Section 4.03 Interest Payments. The Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds shall bear interest from the dated date thereof until paid (whether at maturity, prior redemption or after maturity following payment default by the Corporation), payable on the Effective Date and semiannually thereafter on each Interest Payment Date, at the rates provided above. Interest on the Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Interest shall accrue on overdue interest and Principal at the rates provided above, and shall compound on each Interest Payment Date. All overdue interest and Principal (and any interest accruing thereon) shall remain due and payable until paid. The Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds shall be issued as fully registered bonds in Authorized Denominations. If any such Interest Payment Date or Principal Payment Date is not a Business Day, any action to be taken on such date need not be taken on such date but may be taken on the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as if taken on such date, with no additional interest accruing in respect of such delay.

Section 4.04 Redemption Prices and Terms. The Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity as provided in this Section 3.04.

(a) <u>Optional Redemption</u>. The Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds maturing on July 1, 2034 are subject to redemption prior to maturity on and after July 1, 2025, at the election or direction of the Corporation, in whole or in part (and, if in part, in an Authorized Denomination) on any Business Day, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption.

The Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds maturing on July 1, 2040, July 1, 2053 and July 1, 2058 are subject to redemption prior to maturity on and after July 1, 2028, at the election or direction of the Corporation, in whole or in part (and, if in part, in an Authorized Denomination) on any Business Day, at a redemption price equal to the Principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption.

(b) <u>Mandatory Redemption of the Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds</u>. The Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds shall be subject to mandatory redemption, in part, through application of Sinking Fund Installments, as herein provided, upon notice given as prescribed in Article IV of the Master Indenture, at the Redemption Price of one hundred per centum (100%) of the Principal amount of each Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bond or portion thereof to be redeemed, plus accrued interest, if any, to the date of redemption. Unless none of the Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds of a maturity to be so redeemed shall then be Outstanding and, subject to the provisions of Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture and of Section 3.04(d) hereof permitting amounts to be credited to part or all of any one or more Sinking Fund Installments or the payment due at stated maturity, there shall be due and the Corporation shall be required to pay for the retirement of the Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds maturing on July 1 of the years set forth below on July 1 of each of the years set forth in the following table, the amount set forth opposite such year in said table, and the said amount to be paid on each such date is hereby established as and each payment prior to stated maturity shall constitute a Sinking Fund Installment for retirement of such Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds:

\$4,743,000 Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds maturing July 1, 2034

Year	Amount	
$2033 \ 2034^{\dagger}$	\$ 670,000 4,073,000	

[†] Stated maturity.

\$2,402,000 Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds maturing July 1, 2040

	U , ,
Year	Amount
2035	\$294,000
2036	333,000
2037	374,000
2038	418,000
2039	466,000
2040^{\dagger}	517,000

[†] Stated maturity.

\$17,619,000 Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds maturing July 1, 2053

Year	Amount	
2052	\$8,605,000	
2053 [†]	9,014,000	

[†] Stated maturity.

\$44,554,000 Series 2019B-1 Current Interest Bonds maturing July 1, 2058

Year	Amount
2054	\$ 8,063,000
2055	8,466,000
2056	8,890,000
2057	9,334,000
2058^{\dagger}	9,801,000

[†] Stated maturity.

(c) <u>Mandatory Redemption of the Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds</u>. The Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds shall be subject to mandatory redemption, in part, through application of Sinking Fund Installments, as herein provided, upon notice given as prescribed in Article IV of the Master Indenture, at the Redemption Price of one hundred per centum (100%) of the Principal amount of each Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bond or portion thereof to be redeemed, plus accrued interest, if any, to the date of redemption. Unless none of the Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds of a maturity to be so redeemed shall then be Outstanding and, subject to the provisions of Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture and of Section 3.04(d) hereof permitting amounts to be credited to part or all of any one or more Sinking Fund Installments or the payment due at stated maturity, there shall be due and the Corporation shall be required to pay

for the retirement of the Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds maturing on July 1 of the years set forth below on July 1 of each of the years set forth in the following table, the amount set forth opposite such year in said table, and the said amount to be paid on each such date is hereby established as and each payment prior to stated maturity shall constitute a Sinking Fund Installment for retirement of such Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds:

\$35,156,000 Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds maturing July 1, 2040

Year	Amount
2035	\$4,305,000
2036	4,870,000
2037	5,476,000
2038	6,125,000
2039	6,819,000
2040^{\dagger}	7,561,000

[†] Stated maturity.

\$723,000 Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds maturing July 1, 2053

Year	Amount
2052	\$353,000
2053 [†]	370,000

[†] Stated maturity.

\$9,691,000 Series 2019B-2 Current Interest Bonds maturing July 1, 2058

Year	Amount
2054	\$1,754,000
2055	1,841,000
2056	1,933,000
2057	2,030,000
2058^{\dagger}	2,133,000

[†] Stated maturity.

⁽d) <u>Credit Against Sinking Fund Installments</u>. There shall be credited against and in satisfaction of the Sinking Fund Installments or the payment due at stated maturity payable on a Series 2019B Current Interest Bond entitled, as applicable, to the payment of such Sinking Fund Installments and the payment due at stated maturity an amount equal to the Principal amount of

such Series 2019B Current Interest Bond (A) purchased by the Corporation with moneys in the Debt Service Fund pursuant to Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture, (B) redeemed at the option of the Corporation pursuant to paragraph (a) of this Section, (C) purchased by the Corporation and delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, and (D) deemed to have been paid in accordance with Section 12.01 of the Master Indenture. Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds purchased pursuant to Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture shall be applied in satisfaction of a Sinking Fund Installment in accordance with such Section. Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds redeemed at the option of the Corporation, purchased by the Corporation (other than pursuant to Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture), or deemed to have been paid in accordance with Section 12.01 of the Master Indenture shall be applied in satisfaction, in whole or in part, of one or more Sinking Fund Installments payable on such dates as the Corporation shall specify in a written direction of the Corporation delivered to the Trustee at least thirty-five (35) days prior to the earliest date on which notice of redemption of the Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds entitled to such Sinking Fund Installment may be given by the Trustee and the Sinking Fund Installment payable on each date specified in such direction shall be reduced by the Principal amount of the Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds (or portions thereof) so purchased, redeemed or deemed to have been paid in accordance with Section 12.01 of the Master Indenture to be applied in satisfaction of such Sinking Fund Installment as set forth in such direction.

ARTICLE V.

SERIES 2019B-1 CAPITAL APPRECIATION BONDS

Section 5.01 Maturity Dates, Initial Principal Amounts, Maturity Values and Accretion Rates for the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds. The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds shall accrue and accrete interest at such rates and shall mature (subject to the provisions of this Second Supplemental Indenture providing for optional and mandatory redemption) on July 1 of each year and in the Maturity Value set forth below:

Maturity	Initial Accreted Value	Maturity Value [†]	Accrual/Accretion Rate
2024	\$ 2,109,895.26	\$ 2,706,000.00	4.250%
2027	3,114,981.06	4,582,000.00	4.375
2029	2,784,372.36	4,466,000.00	4.375
2031	3,238,971.55	5,755,000.00	4.500
2033	3,334,877.76	6,477,000.00	4.500
2046	14,023,070.56	61,648,000.00	5.375
2051	8,087,931.00	50,220,000.00	5.625

[†] "Maturity Value" reflects Accreted Value at maturity if no Accreted Value Payments are made prior to stated maturity.

Section 5.02 Interest Accretion. Interest on the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds shall accrue and accrete from their dated dates until paid (whether at maturity, prior redemption or after maturity following payment default by the Corporation). Interest on the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds will not be paid on a current basis, but will be added to the Principal thereof in the form of accretion on the Effective Date and semiannually thereafter on

each Valuation Date, and will be treated as if accruing on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months between Valuation Dates, until paid (whether at stated maturity, prior redemption or after maturity following payment default by the Corporation). See "Exhibit C - Table of Accreted Value for the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds" for the Accreted Values for Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds on each Valuation Date, assuming that no Accreted Value Payments will be made prior to stated maturity.

Section 5.03 Redemption Prices and Terms. The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds shall be subject to redemption prior to stated maturity as provided in this Section 4.03.

(a) <u>Optional Redemption</u>. The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing on July 1, 2024 and on July 1, 2027 are not subject to optional redemption prior to stated maturity.

The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2029 are subject to redemption prior to stated maturity, at the election or direction of the Corporation, in whole or in part (and, if in part, in an Authorized Denomination) on any Business Day from July 1, 2028 through and including June 30, 2029 at a Redemption Price equal to 103% of the Accreted Value thereof on the date fixed for redemption.

The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2031 are subject to redemption prior to stated maturity, at the election or direction of the Corporation, in whole or in part (and, if in part, in an Authorized Denomination) on any Business Day on or after July 1, 2028 during the periods and at the Redemption Prices set forth below:

Redemption Period	Redemption Price	
July 1, 2028 through June 30, 2029	105% of Accreted Value	
July 1, 2029 through June 30, 2031	103% of Accreted Value	

The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2033 are subject to redemption prior to stated maturity, at the election or direction of the Corporation, in whole or in part (and, if in part, in an Authorized Denomination) on any Business Day on or after July 1, 2028 during the periods and at the Redemption Prices set forth below:

Redemption Period	Redemption Price
July 1, 2028 through June 30, 2031	107.5% of Accreted Value
July 1, 2031 through June 30, 2032	105% of Accreted Value
July 1, 2032 through June 30, 2033	103% of Accreted Value

The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2046 and July 1, 2051 are subject to redemption prior to stated maturity, at the election or direction of the Corporation, in whole or in part (and, if in part, in an Authorized Denomination) on any Business Day on or after July 1, 2028 during the periods and at the Redemption Prices set forth below:

Redemption Period	Redemption Price
July 1, 2028 through June 30, 2033	107.5% of Accreted Value
July 1, 2033 through June 30, 2038	105% of Accreted Value
July 1, 2038 through June 30, 2043	103% of Accreted Value
On or after July 1, 2043	100% of Accreted Value

(b) Mandatory Redemption for the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds. The Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds shall be subject to redemption, in part, through application of Sinking Fund Installments as herein provided, upon notice given as prescribed in Article IV of the Master Indenture, at the Redemption Price of one hundred per centum (100%) of the Accreted Value calculated to the Redemption Date of each Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bond or portion thereof to be redeemed. Unless none of the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds of a maturity to be so redeemed shall then be Outstanding and, subject to the provisions of Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture and of Section 4.03(c) hereof permitting amounts to be credited to part or all of any one or more Accreted Value Payments, there shall be due and the Corporation shall be required to pay for the retirement of the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing on July 1 of the years set forth below on July 1 of each of the years set forth in the following table, the amount set forth opposite such year in said table, and the said amount to be paid on each such date is hereby established as and each payment prior to stated maturity shall constitute a Sinking Fund Installment for retirement of such Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds:

\$2,706,000 Maturity Value Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2024

Year	Initial Accreted Value	Accreted Value at Redemption Date*	Maturity Value**
2019	\$238,591.26	\$247,970.16	\$306,000.00
2020	_	_	_
2021	195,707.21	221,248.97	251,000.00
2022	382,057.90	450,471.70	490,000.00
2023	561,391.20	690,343.20	720,000.00
$2024^{\dagger\dagger}$	732,147.69	939,000.00	939,000.00

^{*} Equals the original principal amount, plus interest accreted to the stated Redemption Date.

^{**} Equals the total Accreted Value that would be represented by the portion of the capital appreciation term bond being redeemed if it were held to maturity.

^{††} Stated Maturity.

\$4,582,000 Maturity Value Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2027

Year	Initial Accreted Value	Accreted Value at Redemption Date*	Maturity Value**
2025	\$ 887,178.15	\$1,196,789.40	\$1,305,000.00
2026	1,040,819.73	1,466,146.84	1,531,000.00
2027††	1,186,983.18	1,746,000.00	1,746,000.00

^{*} Equals the original principal amount, plus interest accreted to the stated Redemption Date.

\$4,466,000 Maturity Value Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2029

Year	Initial Accreted Value	Accreted Value at Redemption Date*	Maturity Value**
2028	\$1,326,099.42	\$2,036,900.28	\$2,127,000.00
2029 ^{††}	1,458,272.94	2,339,000.00	2,339,000.00

^{*} Equals the original principal amount, plus interest accreted to the stated Redemption Date.

\$5,755,000 Maturity Value Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2031

	Initial Accreted	Accreted Value at	
<u>Year</u>	Value	Redemption Date*	Maturity Value**
2030	\$1,561,234.94	\$2,653,247.78	\$2,774,000.00
$2031^{\dagger\dagger}$	1,677,736.61	2,981,000.00	2,981,000.00

^{*} Equals the original principal amount, plus interest accreted to the stated Redemption Date.

^{**} Equals the total Accreted Value that would be represented by the portion of the capital appreciation term bond being redeemed if it were held to maturity.

^{††} Stated Maturity.

^{**} Equals the total Accreted Value that would be represented by the portion of the capital appreciation term bond being redeemed if it were held to maturity.

^{††} Stated Maturity.

^{**} Equals the total Accreted Value that would be represented by the portion of the capital appreciation term bond being redeemed if it were held to maturity.

^{††} Stated Maturity.

\$6,477,000 Maturity Value Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2033

Year	Initial Accreted Value	Accreted Value at Redemption Date*	Maturity Value**
2032	\$1,787,663.36	\$3,320,863.84	\$3,472,000.00
2033 ^{††}	1,547,214.40	3,005,000.00	3,005,000.00

^{*} Equals the original principal amount, plus interest accreted to the stated Redemption Date.

\$61,648,000 Maturity Value Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2046

Year	Initial Accreted Value	Accreted Value at Redemption Date*	Maturity Value**
2041	\$2,657,532.01	\$8,961,445.15	\$11,683,000.00
2042	2,520,367.60	8,961,836.40	11,080,000.00
2043	2,390,254.76	8,962,168.12	10,508,000.00
2044	2,266,738.55	8,962,022.75	9,965,000.00
2045	2,149,591.50	8,961,813.00	9,450,000.00
2046††	2,038,586.14	8,962,000.00	8,962,000.00

^{*} Equals the original principal amount, plus interest accreted to the stated Redemption Date.

\$50,220,000 Maturity Value Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing July 1, 2051

Year	Initial Accreted Value	Accreted Value at Redemption Date*	Maturity Value**
2047	\$1,801,827.40	\$8,961,588.00	\$11,188,000.00
2048	1,704,553.20	8,961,366.96	10,584,000.00
2049	1,612,593.65	8,961,434.74	10,013,000.00
2050	1,525,626.65	8,961,742.19	9,473,000.00
$2051^{\dagger\dagger}$	1,443,330.10	8,962,000.00	8,962,000.00

^{*} Equals the original principal amount, plus interest accreted to the stated Redemption Date.

^{**} Equals the total Accreted Value that would be represented by the portion of the capital appreciation term bond being redeemed if it were held to maturity.

^{††} Stated Maturity.

^{**} Equals the total Accreted Value that would be represented by the portion of the capital appreciation term bond being redeemed if it were held to maturity.

^{††} Stated Maturity.

^{**} Equals the total Accreted Value that would be represented by the portion of the capital appreciation term bond being redeemed if it were held to maturity.

^{††} Stated Maturity.

Credit Against Sinking Fund Installments. There shall be credited against and in satisfaction of the Accreted Value Payments payable on a Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bond entitled to the payment of such Accreted Value Payments an amount equal to the Accreted Value calculated to the Redemption Date of such Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bond (A) purchased by the Corporation with moneys in the Debt Service Fund pursuant to Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture, (B) redeemed at the option of the Corporation pursuant to paragraph (a) of this Section, (C) purchased by the Corporation and delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, and (D) deemed to have been paid in accordance with Section 12.01 of the Master Indenture. Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds purchased pursuant to Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture shall be applied in satisfaction of a Sinking Fund Installment in accordance with such Section. Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds redeemed at the option of the Corporation, purchased by the Corporation (other than pursuant to Section 5.07(b) of the Master Indenture) and delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, or deemed to have been paid in accordance with Section 12.01 of the Master Indenture shall be applied in satisfaction, in whole or in part of one or more Accreted Value Payments payable on such dates as the Corporation shall specify in a written direction of the Corporation delivered to the Trustee, together with a revised redemption schedule, which must be certified to as correct by a Qualified Municipal Advisor Firm, for the affected maturity of Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds, at least thirty-five (35) days prior to the earliest date on which notice of redemption of the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds entitled to such Accreted Value Payments may be given by the Trustee and the Accreted Value Payment due on each date specified in such direction shall be reduced by the Accreted Value on the Redemption Date of the Series 2019B-1 Capital Appreciation Bonds so purchased, redeemed or deemed to have been paid in accordance with Section 12.01 of the Master Indenture to be applied in satisfaction of such Accreted Value Payments as set forth in such direction

ARTICLE VI.

SPECIAL COVENANTS

Section 6.01 Tax Covenant.

- (a) <u>Tax Compliance</u>. In order to maintain the exclusion from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation of interest on the Series 2019B-1 Bonds, the Corporation shall comply with the provisions of the Code applicable to the Series 2019B-1 Bonds necessary to maintain such exclusion, including without limitation the provisions of the Code which prescribe yield and other limits within which proceeds of the Series 2019B-1 Bonds are to be invested, and which, in certain circumstances, require the rebate of certain earnings on such amounts to the Department of the Treasury of the United States of America in accordance with Section 148(f) of the Code. In furtherance of the foregoing, the Corporation shall comply with the Tax Certificate relating to the Series 2019B-1 Bonds.
- (b) <u>No Arbitrage Covenant</u>. The Corporation shall not take any action or fail to take any action which would cause the Series 2019B-1 Bonds to be "arbitrage bonds" within the meaning of Section 148(a) of the Code; nor shall any part of the proceeds of Series 2019B-1 Bonds or any other funds of the Corporation be used directly or indirectly to acquire any

investment property the acquisition of which would cause any Series 2019B-1 Bonds to be "arbitrage bonds" within the meaning of Section 148(a) of the Code.

- (c) <u>No Private Use or Private Loans</u>. The Corporation shall not use any part of the proceeds of the Series 2019B-1 Bonds in a manner which would cause such Series 2019B-1 Bonds to be "private activity bonds" within the meaning of Section 141(a) of the Code.
- (d) <u>Survival</u>. Notwithstanding any provision of this Second Supplemental Indenture to the contrary, the obligation of the Corporation to comply with the requirements of this Section and Section 7.12 of the Master Indenture shall survive the payment, redemption or defeasance of any and all Series 2019B-1 Bonds.
- **Section 6.02 Materially Adverse Actions.** The Corporation and Trustee shall not enter into any agreement or take any action by which the rights of the Bond Insurer may be materially adversely impaired except upon obtaining the prior written consent of the Bond Insurer.

ARTICLE VII.

BOND INSURANCE PROVISIONS

- **Section 7.01 Applicability of Insurance Provisions**. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Indenture, the provisions of this Article VI shall govern with respect to all Series 2019B Bonds.
- **Section 7.02 Nonpayment by the Issuer**. The Bond Insurer shall be entitled to pay Principal or interest on the Series 2019B Bonds that become Due for Payment (as such term is defined in the Insurance Policy) but shall be unpaid by reason of Nonpayment by the Corporation (as such term is defined in the Insurance Policy) whether or not the Bond Insurer has received a Notice of Nonpayment (as such term is defined in the Insurance Policy) or a claim upon the Insurance Policy.
- **Section 7.03 Insurance Payment Procedures**. As long as the Insurance Policy shall be in full force and effect, the Corporation and the Trustee agree to comply with the following provisions:
- (a) If, on the third Business Day prior to an Insured Payment Date, there is not on deposit in the Debt Service Fund, after making all transfers and deposits required under the Indenture, moneys sufficient to pay the Principal of and interest on the Series 2019B Bonds due on such Insured Payment Date, the Trustee shall give notice thereof to the Bond Insurer and to the Bond Insurer's Fiscal Agent by telephone or telecopy of the amount of such deficiency by 12:00 noon, New York City time, on such Business Day. If, by 12:00 noon New York City time on the second Business Day prior to the related Insured Payment Date, there continues to be a deficiency in the amount available to pay the Principal of and interest on the Series 2019B Bonds due on such Insured Payment Date, the Trustee shall make a claim under the Insurance Policy by 5:00 p.m. New York City time, and give notice to the Bond Insurer and the Bond Insurer's Fiscal Agent of the allocation of such deficiency between the amount required to pay interest on the Series 2019B Bonds and the amount required to pay the Principal of Series 2019B Bonds, by filing the form of Notice of Claim and Certificate delivered with the Insurance Policy; provided, however, that the

Bond Insurer will not be required to make any payment to the extent that on the Insured Payment Date such deficiency of funds no longer exists.

- (b) The Trustee shall designate any portion of payment of Principal on Series 2019B Bonds paid by the Bond Insurer, whether by virtue of mandatory sinking fund redemption or maturity, on its books as a reduction in the Principal amount of Series 2019B Bonds registered to the then current Holder, whether DTC, its nominee or otherwise, and shall issue a replacement Bond to the Bond Insurer, registered in the name of Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp., in a Principal amount equal to the amount of Principal so paid (without regard to authorized denominations); provided, however, that failure by the Trustee to so designate any payment or issue any replacement Bond shall have no effect on the amount of Principal or interest payable by the Corporation on any Series 2019B Bond or the subrogation rights of the Bond Insurer.
- (c) The Trustee shall keep a complete and accurate record of all funds deposited by the Bond Insurer into the Policy Payments Account (as defined below) and the allocation of such funds to payment of interest on and Principal of any Series 2019B Bond. The Bond Insurer shall have the right to inspect such records at reasonable times upon reasonable notice to the Trustee.
- establish a separate special purpose trust account for the benefit of Insured Bondholders, which account shall be referred to herein as the "Policy Payments Account," over which the Trustee shall have exclusive control and sole right of withdrawal. The Trustee shall receive any amount paid under the Insurance Policy in trust on behalf of the Insured Bondholders and shall deposit any such amount in the Policy Payments Account and distribute such amount only for purposes of making the payments for which a claim was made. Such amounts shall be disbursed by the Trustee to the Insured Bondholders in the same manner as Principal and interest payments are to be made with respect to the Series 2019B Bonds. It shall not be necessary for such payments to be made by check or wire transfers separate from the check or wire transfer used to pay the Principal and interest with other funds available to make such payments. The Bond Insurer shall be entitled to receive the overdue interest that is payable on the Series 2019B Bonds, following the payment of any claims under the Insurance Policy.
- (e) Funds held in the Policy Payments Account shall not be invested by the Trustee and may not be applied to satisfy any costs, expenses or liabilities of the Trustee. Any funds remaining in the Policy Payments Account following an Insured Payment Date shall promptly be remitted to the Bond Insurer.
- Section 7.04 Subrogation. Amounts paid by the Bond Insurer under the Insurance Policy shall not be deemed paid pursuant to Section 12.01 of the Indenture or any other provision thereof or hereof or of the Series 2019B Bonds and the Series 2019B Bonds relating to such payments shall remain Outstanding and continue to be due and owing until paid by the Corporation in accordance with the Indenture. The Indenture shall not be discharged unless all amounts due or to become due to the Bond Insurer have been paid in full or duly provided for. In the event that the Bond Insurer makes any payment of Principal or interest on the Series 2019B Bonds, the Bond Insurer shall become subrogated to the rights of the recipients of such payments in accordance with the terms of the Insurance Policy (which subrogation rights shall also include the rights of

any such recipients in connection with any Insolvency Proceeding). Each obligation of the Corporation to the Bond Insurer under the Indenture shall the survive discharge or termination thereof

Section 7.05 Bond Insurer as Holder. The Bond Insurer is deemed to be (i) the sole Holder of the Series 2019B Bonds for the purpose of consenting to any modification or amendment, exercising any voting right or privilege, giving any consent or direction, or taking any action that the Holders of such Series 2019B Bonds are entitled to take pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture pertaining to defaults and remedies and the duties and obligations of the Trustee, and (ii) an additional Holder of the Series 2019B Bonds for purposes of receiving any notices or exercising any rights to inspect documents provided for under the Indenture. In furtherance thereof and as a term of the Indenture and each Series 2019B Bond, the Trustee and each Insured Bondholder appoint the Bond Insurer as their agent and attorney-in-fact with respect to the Series 2019B Bonds and agree that the Bond Insurer may at any time during the continuation of any Insolvency Proceeding direct all matters relating to the Series 2019B Bonds in such Insolvency Proceeding, including without limitation, (A) all matters relating to any Claim, (B) the direction of any appeal of any order relating to any Claim, (C) the posting of any surety, supersedeas or performance bond pending any such appeal, and (D) the right to vote to accept or reject any plan of adjustment with respect to any Claim. In addition, with respect to the Series 2019B Bonds, the Trustee and each Insured Bondholder delegate and assign to the Bond Insurer, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the rights of the Trustee and each Insured Bondholder in the conduct of any Insolvency Proceeding, including, without limitation, all rights to act as a party to an adversary proceeding or action with respect to any court order issued in connection with any such Insolvency Proceeding as it relates to the Series 2019B Bonds. Remedies granted to the Bondholders shall expressly include a writ of mandamus.

Section 7.06 Contractual Rights of the Bond Insurer. The Corporation and the Trustee acknowledge and agree that:

- (a) the rights granted to the Bond Insurer under the Indenture, this Second Supplemental Indenture, or any other Related Document to request, consent to or direct any action are rights granted to the Bond Insurer in consideration of its issuance of the Insurance Policy;
- (b) any exercise by the Bond Insurer of such rights is merely an exercise of the Bond Insurer's contractual rights and shall not be construed or deemed to be taken for the benefit, or on behalf, of the Insured Bondholders and such action does not evidence any position of the Bond Insurer, affirmative or negative, as to whether the consent of any other person is required in addition to the consent of the Bond Insurer; and
- (c) in determining whether any amendment, consent, waiver or other action to be taken, or any failure to take action hereunder or under the Indenture would adversely affect the security for the Series 2019B Bonds or the rights of the related Holders, the Trustee and Transaction Counsel shall consider the effect of any such amendment, consent, waiver, action or inaction as if there were no Insurance Policy.

- **Section 7.07 Bond Insurer as Third Party Beneficiary**. To the extent that this Second Supplemental Indenture confers upon or gives or grants to the Bond Insurer any right, remedy or claim hereunder or under the Indenture, the Bond Insurer is intended to be and is hereby explicitly recognized as being a third–party beneficiary of such right, remedy or claim and may enforce any such right, remedy or claim conferred, given or granted hereunder or thereunder.
- **Section 7.08 Notices, Etc.** While the Insurance Policy is in effect, the Bond Insurer will be provided with copies of any notices to be provided by the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture. The Trustee shall notify the Bond Insurer of any failure of the Corporation to provide notices, certificates and other information under the Indenture.

Section 7.09 Information to the Bond Insurer.

- (a) In addition to other notices required under the Indenture, the Bond Insurer shall be provided with the following information by the Corporation or Trustee, as the case may be:
 - (i) by the Trustee, prior notice of the advance refunding or redemption of any of the Series 2019B Bonds, including the principal amount, maturities and CUSIP numbers thereof;
 - (ii) by the Trustee, notice of the resignation or removal of the Trustee and bond registrar and the appointment of, and acceptance of duties by, any successor thereto;
 - (iii) by the Corporation, notice of the commencement of an Insolvency Proceeding;
 - (iv) by the Corporation, a full original transcript of all proceedings relating to the execution of any amendment, supplement, or waiver to the Related Documents;
 - (v) by the Trustee, all reports, notices and correspondence to be delivered to Bondholders under the terms of the Related Documents; and
 - (vi) by the Corporation, to the extent that the Corporation has entered into a continuing disclosure agreement, covenant or undertaking with respect to the Series 2019B Bonds, all information required to be furnished pursuant to such agreements.
- (b) The Bond Insurer shall have the right at its expenses to receive such additional information as it may reasonably request from the Corporation or the Trustee.
- (c) The Corporation shall permit the Bond Insurer to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Corporation or any information the Bond Insurer may reasonably request regarding the security for the Series 2019B Bonds with appropriate officers of the Corporation and will use commercially reasonable efforts to enable the Bond Insurer to have access to the facilities, books and records of the Corporation on any Business Day upon reasonable prior notice

(d) In no event shall a delay or failure by the Corporation to provide a notice required hereunder be an Event of Default under the Master Indenture. The Trustee shall notify the Bond Insurer of any failure of the Corporation to provide notices, certificates and other information under the Indenture or other Related Documents. In the event of any breach of the covenants contained in this Section 6.09, the Bond Insurer shall be entitled to specific performance of this Section 6.09.

Section 7.10 Defeasance of Series 2019B Bonds. Notwithstanding anything in the Indenture (including Article XII thereof) to the contrary, unless the Bond Insurer otherwise approves, to accomplish defeasance of Series 2019B Bonds, the Corporation shall cause to be delivered (i) a report of an independent firm of nationally recognized verification agent or such other accountant as shall be acceptable to the Bond Insurer verifying the sufficiency of the escrow established to pay the Insured Bonds in full on the maturity or redemption date ("Verification"), (ii) an escrow deposit agreement (the form of which shall be acceptable to the Bond Insurer), (iii) an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that the Insured Bonds are no longer "Outstanding" under the Indenture and (iv) a certificate of discharge of the Trustee with respect to the Insured Bonds; each Verification and defeasance opinion shall be addressed to the Corporation, Trustee and Bond Insurer. The Bond Insurer shall be provided with final drafts of the above-referenced documentation not less than three Business Days prior to the funding of the escrow. Insured Bonds shall be deemed "Outstanding" under the Indenture unless and until they are in fact paid and retired or the above criteria are met.

Section 7.11 Applicability of Article VI. The provisions of this Article VI shall govern notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Indenture.

ARTICLE VIII.

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 8.01 Limitation of Rights. Nothing in this Second Supplemental Indenture expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon, or to give or grant to, any person or party, other than the Corporation, the Trustee, the Paying Agent, the Bond Insurer and the registered owners of the Series 2019B Bonds, any rights, remedies or claims under or by reason hereof or of the Master Indenture or any covenant, condition or stipulation hereof or of the Master Indenture. All covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements in this Second Supplemental Indenture or the Master Indenture contained by and on behalf of the Corporation shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Corporation, the Trustee, the Paying Agent, the Bond Insurer and the registered owners of the Series 2019B Bonds.

Section 8.02 Successors and Assigns. This Second Supplemental Indenture shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 8.03 Severability. If any one or more of the covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations provided herein on the part of the Corporation or the Trustee to be performed should be contrary to law, then such covenant or covenants, stipulation or stipulations, promise or promises, agreement or agreements or obligation or obligations shall be null and void,

shall be deemed and construed to be severable from the remaining covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations herein contained and shall in no way affect the validity of the other provisions of the Master Indenture or of this Supplemental Indenture or of the Series 2019B Bonds.

Section 8.04 Applicable Law. This Second Supplemental Indenture shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York applicable to agreements made in and to be performed wholly within such jurisdiction. Any disputes, legal action, suit, or proceeding arising from or related to the Indenture or the Bonds (a) shall be brought in accordance herewith in the Title III Court and any appellate court therefrom, or, in the event such court does not have or accept jurisdiction, in any federal district court sitting in the Commonwealth and any appellate court therefrom or, in the event such federal district court does not have or accept jurisdiction, a Commonwealth court and any appellate court therefrom and (b) the parties shall be deemed to consent to the jurisdiction thereof.

Section 8.05 Signature and Counterparts. This Second Supplemental Indenture may be executed and delivered in any number counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

Section 8.06 Amendments and Supplements. This Second Supplemental Indenture may only be amended or supplemented in accordance with the provisions of Articles IX and X of the Master Indenture.

Section 8.07 Notice to the Bond Insurer. The notice address of the Bond Insurer is: Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp., 1633 Broadway, New York, New York 10019, Attention: Managing Director – Surveillance, Telephone: (212) 974-0100; Telecopier: (212) 339-3556. In each case in which notice or other communication refers to an Event of Default, then a copy of such notice or other communication shall also be sent to the attention of the General Counsel and shall be marked to indicate "URGENT MATERIAL ENCLOSED."

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation and the Trustee have caused this Second Supplemental Indenture to be executed in their respective corporate names by their duly authorized officers, all as of the date first above written.

PUERTO RICO SALES TAX FINANCING CORPORATION

Ву:
Name:
Title:
THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, as
Trustee
Tubeco
_
By:
Name:
Title:

EXHIBIT A

FORM OF SERIES 2019B CURRENT INTEREST BONDS

[ADD STATEMENT OF INSURANCE]

DETERMINED BY THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO TO BE VALID, LEGALLY BINDING, AND ENFORCEABLE PURSUANT TO THE JUDGMENT AND CONFIRMATION ORDER, ENTERED ON THE 5^{TH} DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2019.

AS PROVIDED IN THE INDENTURE REFERRED TO HEREIN, UNTIL THE TERMINATION OF REGISTERED OWNERSHIP OF ALL OF THE BONDS THROUGH THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY (TOGETHER WITH ANY SUCCESSOR SECURITIES DEPOSITORY APPOINTED PURSUANT TO THE INDENTURE, "DTC"), AND NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION OF THE INDENTURE TO THE CONTRARY, THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OUTSTANDING UNDER THIS BOND MAY BE PAID OR REDEEMED WITHOUT SURRENDER HEREOF TO THE TRUSTEE. DTC OR A TRANSFEREE OR ASSIGNEE OF DTC AS OWNER OF THIS BOND MAY NOT RELY UPON THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT INDICATED HEREON AS THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT HEREOF OUTSTANDING AND TO BE PAID. THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OUTSTANDING AND TO BE PAID ON THIS BOND SHALL FOR ALL PURPOSES BE THE AMOUNT INDICATED ON THE BOOKS OF THE TRUSTEE.

UNLESS THIS BOND IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC TO THE TRUSTEE FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE OR PAYMENT, AND ANY BOND ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER NAME AS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC AND ANY PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO., ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL SINCE THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN.

Number: 19BR	_		\$
PUE	UNITED STATES O COMMONWEALTH O RTO RICO SALES TAX FIN RESTRUCTURED SAL [SERIES 2019B-1][SE	F PUERTO RICO ANCING CORPORA ES TAX BONDS,	TION
INTEREST RATE %	MATURITY DATE	DATED DATE	CUSIP NO.
	CEDE & CO.	August 1, 2018	
Principal Amount:	DO	LLARS	

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, PUERTO RICO SALES TAX FINANCING **CORPORATION** (the "Corporation"), a public corporation and instrumentality of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (the "Commonwealth"), constituting a corporate and political entity independent and separate from the Commonwealth, hereby promises to pay, but solely in the manner and from the revenues and sources hereinafter provided, to the REGISTERED OWNER named above, or registered assigns, the PRINCIPAL AMOUNT stated above on the MATURITY DATE stated above (except to the extent that such Principal Amount due on the Maturity Date is reduced by prior redemption as provided in the Indenture), upon the presentation and surrender hereof at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee hereinafter mentioned, and to pay to the registered owner interest on such Principal Amount from the DATED DATE stated above at the **INTEREST RATE** per annum stated above until the Principal Amount is paid, payable on the Effective Date and semiannually thereafter on each January 1 and July 1 (each, an "Interest Payment Date"). Interest shall accrue on overdue interest and Principal at the rate provided above, and shall compound on each Interest Payment Date. Principal and Redemption Price of this bond shall be payable at the principal corporate trust office of **THE BANK OF NEW** YORK MELLON, as trustee (together with any successor in such capacity, the "Trustee"), in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts. Payment of the interest hereon shall be payable by the Trustee as provided in Section 3.01 of the Master Indenture, or at the option of any owner of \$1,000,000 or more in aggregate Principal amount of the Series 2019B Current Interest Bonds, by wire transfer to such registered owner at the wire transfer address in the continental United States to which such registered owner has not later than the Record Date immediately preceding such Interest Payment Date directed the Trustee to wire such interest payment. The Record Date is the fifteenth (15th) day (whether or not a Business Day) of the calendar month next preceding the applicable Interest Payment Date; provided, however, that the Record Date for the interest payable on the Effective Date is the Effective Date. All overdue interest and Principal (and any interest accruing on such overdue amounts) shall remain due and payable until paid.

THE INDENTURE (HEREINAFTER DEFINED) PROVIDES THAT THE BONDS, INCLUDING THIS BOND, SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE TRUST ESTATE PROVIDED FOR SUCH PAYMENT. THE BONDS DO NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT, OBLIGATION OR PLEDGE OF THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT AND TAXING POWER OF THE COMMONWEALTH OR ANY OF ITS MUNICIPALITIES OR POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS OR OF INSTRUMENTALITIES (OTHER THAN THE CORPORATION), AND NEITHER THE COMMONWEALTH NOR ANY OF ITS MUNICIPALITIES OR POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS NOR INSTRUMENTALITIES (OTHER THAN THE CORPORATION) SHALL BE LIABLE FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF.

THIS BOND IS A SPECIAL OBLIGATION OF THE CORPORATION, PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE TRUST ESTATE, WHICH TRUST ESTATE IS SECURED BY A STATUTORY LIEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ACT. The Corporation does not have the power to pledge the credit, the revenues or the taxing power of the Commonwealth, and except as described in the preceding sentence, neither the credit, the revenues nor the taxing power of the Commonwealth or any subdivision thereof is pledged to the payment of any of the Bonds. The Corporation has no taxing power.

This bond is one of a duly authorized issue of bonds of the Corporation designated as "Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, [Series 2019B-1][Series 2019B-2]" (herein called the "Series 2019B Bonds. The Series 2019B Bonds are issued pursuant to a Master Trust Indenture by and between the Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (the "Trustee), dated as of February 12, 2019 (the "Master Indenture"), including as supplemented by a Second Supplemental Trust Indenture, by and between the Corporation and the Trustee, dated as of February 12, 2019 (the "Second Supplemental Indenture", and together with the Master Indenture, collectively referred to herein as the "Indenture"). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Indenture.

This Series 2019B Bond is part of a duly authorized issue of bonds issued and to be issued under the Act and under and pursuant to the Master Indenture for the purposes set forth in the Indenture.

The Series 2019B Bonds are subject to mandatory and optional redemption prior to maturity as provided in the Indenture. Notice of redemption shall be given as provided in the Indenture.

The Bonds are special obligations of the Corporation. In accordance with the Act, the payment of the amounts due on the Bonds is secured by a statutory lien on the Trust Estate, as defined and provided in the Indenture.

Copies of the Indenture are on file at the office of the Corporation, and at the corporate trust office of the Trustee, and reference to the Indenture and any and all supplements thereto and amendments thereof and to the Act is made for a description of the Statutory Lien securing the Bonds, the terms and conditions upon which Bonds have been issued and additional Bonds may be issued, the rights and remedies of the registered owners of the Bonds with respect thereto, and to other terms and provisions of the Bonds. To the extent and in the manner permitted by the terms of the Master Indenture and subject to the conditions therein, the provisions of the Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture amendatory thereof or supplemental thereto may be modified or amended.

The Indenture provides that neither the directors of the Corporation nor any person executing Bonds shall be liable personally thereon or be subject to any personal liability solely by reason of the issuance thereof.

It is hereby certified, recited, and declared that all conditions, acts and things required by the statutes of the Commonwealth, the Indenture, the Plan of Adjustment and the Confirmation Order to exist, to have happened or to have been performed prior to or in connection with the issuance of this bond exist, have happened and have been performed in due time, form and manner as required by law and the issue of the Series 2019B Bonds is within every debt and other limit prescribed by law.

The registered owner of this bond shall have no right to enforce the provisions of the Indenture, to institute action to enforce the provisions of the Indenture or to institute, appear in or defend any suit or other proceeding with respect thereto, except as provided in the Indenture.

This bond is transferable, as provided in the Indenture, only upon the books of the Corporation maintained for that purpose at the corporate trust office of the Trustee by the registered owner hereof in person or by his attorney duly authorized in writing, upon surrender of this bond together with a written instrument of transfer duly executed by the registered owner or such registered owner's attorney duly authorized in writing, and thereupon a new fully registered Series 2019B Bond or Bonds in the same aggregate Principal amount, and of the same series, maturity and interest rate, shall be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor as provided in the Master Indenture and upon the payment of the charges, if any, therein prescribed. The Corporation and the Trustee may treat and consider the person in whose name this bond is registered as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payments due on this bond and for all other purposes whatsoever.

This bond shall not be valid until the certificate of authentication hereon shall have been manually signed by the Trustee.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE PUERTO RICO SALES TAX FINANCING CORPORATION has caused this bond to be signed in its name and on its behalf by its Executive Director and attested by its Secretary (the signatures of said officers may be by facsimile), and said officials by the execution hereof do adopt as and for their own proper signatures the signatures appearing on each of the Series 2019B Bonds, all as of the Dated Date specified above.

TRUSTEE'S CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

This bond is one of the Bonds described in the within mentioned Indenture and is one of the Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B, of the Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation.

		THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, as Trustee
		By:Authorized Signatory
Date of authentication:	, 2019	

ASSIGNMENT

FOR VALUE RECEIVED:

(Please print or typewrite n	name of undersigned transferor)
hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto	
(Please insert Social Security or other	er tax identifying number of Transferee)
	Please print or typewrite name and address, including zip code, of transferee
	eby irrevocably constitutes and appoints, attorney-in-fact, to transfer the same on the as registrar, with full power of substitution in the
Dated:	NOTE: The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as written on the within Bond in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any change whatsoever.
	Signature Guaranteed:

EXHIBIT B

FORM OF SERIES 2019B-1 CAPITAL APPRECIATION BONDS [ADD STATEMENT OF INSURANCE]

DETERMINED BY THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO TO BE VALID, LEGALLY BINDING, AND ENFORCEABLE PURSUANT TO THE JUDGMENT AND CONFIRMATION ORDER, ENTERED ON THE 5TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2019.

AS PROVIDED IN THE INDENTURE REFERRED TO HEREIN, UNTIL THE TERMINATION OF REGISTERED OWNERSHIP OF ALL OF THE BONDS THROUGH THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY (TOGETHER WITH ANY SUCCESSOR SECURITIES DEPOSITORY APPOINTED PURSUANT TO THE INDENTURE, "DTC"), AND NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION OF THE INDENTURE TO THE CONTRARY, THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OUTSTANDING UNDER THIS BOND MAY BE PAID OR REDEEMED WITHOUT SURRENDER HEREOF TO THE TRUSTEE. DTC OR A TRANSFEREE OR ASSIGNEE OF DTC AS OWNER OF THIS BOND MAY NOT RELY UPON THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT INDICATED HEREON AS THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT HEREOF OUTSTANDING AND TO BE PAID. THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OUTSTANDING AND TO BE PAID ON THIS BOND SHALL FOR ALL PURPOSES BE THE AMOUNT INDICATED ON THE BOOKS OF THE TRUSTEE.

UNLESS THIS BOND IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC TO THE TRUSTEE FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE OR PAYMENT, AND ANY BOND ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER NAME AS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC AND ANY PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO., ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL SINCE THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN.

Number: 19BR	\$
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA	
COMMONWEALTH OF PUERTO RICO	
PUERTO RICO SALES TAX FINANCING CORPORATION RESTRUCTURED SALES TAX BONDS, SERIES 2019B-1	
ACCRETION RATE MATURITY DATE DATED DATE ———————————————————————————————————	CUSIP NO
Registered Owner: CEDE & CO.	
Principal Amount at Issuance: DOLLARS	

Maturity Value ² :	DOLLARS

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, PUERTO RICO SALES TAX FINANCING **CORPORATION** (the "Corporation"), a public corporation and instrumentality of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (the "Commonwealth"), constituting a corporate and political entity independent and separate from the Commonwealth, hereby promises to pay, but solely in the manner and from the revenues and sources hereinafter provided, to the REGISTERED OWNER named above, or registered assigns, the MATURITY VALUE stated above on the MATURITY DATE stated above (except to the extent that such Maturity Value due on the Maturity Date is reduced by prior redemption as provided in the Indenture), upon the presentation and surrender hereof at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee hereinafter mentioned. Interest on this bond shall accrete at the ACCRETION RATE set forth above and shall not be payable on a current basis but shall be compounded, and added to Principal, on the Effective Date and on each January 1 and July 1 (each, a "Valuation Date") such that the PRINCIPAL AMOUNT AT ISSUANCE specified above shall accrete to equal the MATURITY VALUE specified above on the MATURITY DATE stated above (except to the extent that such Maturity Value due on the Maturity Date is reduced by prior redemption as provided in the Indenture). Interest shall accrete on overdue interest and Principal at the rate provided above, and shall compound on each Valuation Date. Principal and Redemption Price of this bond shall be payable at the principal corporate trust office of THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, as trustee (together with any successor in such capacity, the "Trustee"), in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts. All overdue Principal (and any interest accruing thereon) shall remain due and payable until paid.

THE INDENTURE (HEREINAFTER DEFINED) PROVIDES THAT THE BONDS, INCLUDING THIS BOND, SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE TRUST ESTATE PROVIDED FOR SUCH PAYMENT. THE BONDS DO NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT, OBLIGATION OR PLEDGE OF THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT AND TAXING POWER OF THE COMMONWEALTH OR ANY OF ITS MUNICIPALITIES OR POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS OR OF INSTRUMENTALITIES (OTHER THAN THE CORPORATION), AND NEITHER THE COMMONWEALTH NOR ANY OF ITS MUNICIPALITIES OR POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS NOR INSTRUMENTALITIES (OTHER THAN THE CORPORATION) SHALL BE LIABLE FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF.

THIS BOND IS A SPECIAL OBLIGATION OF THE CORPORATION, PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE TRUST ESTATE, WHICH TRUST ESTATE IS SECURED BY A STATUTORY LIEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ACT. The Corporation does not have the power to pledge the credit, the revenues or the taxing power of the Commonwealth, and except as described in the preceding sentence, neither the credit, the revenues nor the taxing power of the Commonwealth or any subdivision thereof is pledged to the payment of any of the Bonds. The Corporation has no taxing power.

This bond is one of a duly authorized issue of bonds of the Corporation designated as "Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B-1" (herein called the "Series 2019B Bonds"). The

² Reflects Accreted Value at maturity if no Accreted Value Payments are made prior to stated maturity.

Series 2019B Bonds are issued pursuant to a Master Trust Indenture by and between the Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (the "Trustee), dated as of February 12, 2019 (the "Master Indenture"), including as supplemented by a Second Supplemental Trust Indenture, by and between the Corporation and the Trustee, dated as of February 12, 2019 (the "Second Supplemental Indenture", and together with the Master Indenture, collectively referred to herein as the "Indenture"). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Indenture.

This Series 2019B Bond is part of a duly authorized issue of bonds issued and to be issued under the Act and under and pursuant to the Master Indenture for the purposes set forth in the Indenture.

The Series 2019B Bonds are subject to mandatory and optional redemption prior to maturity as provided in the Indenture. Notice of redemption shall be given as provided in the Indenture.

The Bonds are special obligations of the Corporation. In accordance with the Act, the payment of the amounts due on the Bonds is secured by a statutory lien on the Trust Estate, as defined and provided in the Indenture.

Copies of the Indenture are on file at the office of the Corporation, and at the corporate trust office of the Trustee, and reference to the Indenture and any and all supplements thereto and amendments thereof and to the Act is made for a description of the Statutory Lien securing the Bonds, the terms and conditions upon which Bonds have been issued and additional Bonds may be issued, the rights and remedies of the registered owners of the Bonds with respect thereto, and to other terms and provisions of the Bonds. To the extent and in the manner permitted by the terms of the Master Indenture and subject to the conditions therein, the provisions of the Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture amendatory thereof or supplemental thereto may be modified or amended.

The Indenture provides that neither the directors of the Corporation nor any person executing Bonds shall be liable personally thereon or be subject to any personal liability solely by reason of the issuance thereof.

It is hereby certified, recited, and declared that all conditions, acts and things required by the statutes of the Commonwealth, the Indenture, the Plan of Adjustment and the Confirmation Order to exist, to have happened or to have been performed prior to or in connection with the issuance of this bond exist, have happened and have been performed in due time, form and manner as required by law and the issue of the Series 2019B Bonds is within every debt and other limit prescribed by law.

The registered owner of this bond shall have no right to enforce the provisions of the Indenture, to institute action to enforce the provisions of the Indenture or to institute, appear in or defend any suit or other proceeding with respect thereto, except as provided in the Indenture.

This bond is transferable, as provided in the Indenture, only upon the books of the Corporation maintained for that purpose at the corporate trust office of the Trustee by the registered owner hereof in person or by his attorney duly authorized in writing, upon surrender of

this bond together with a written instrument of transfer duly executed by the registered owner or such registered owner's attorney duly authorized in writing, and thereupon a new fully registered Series 2019B Bond or Bonds in the same aggregate Accreted Value, and of the same series, maturity and accretion rate, shall be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor as provided in the Master Indenture and upon the payment of the charges, if any, therein prescribed. The Corporation and the Trustee may treat and consider the person in whose name this bond is registered as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payments due on this bond and for all other purposes whatsoever.

This bond shall not be valid until the certificate of authentication hereon shall have been manually signed by the Trustee.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE PUERTO RICO SALES TAX FINANCING CORPORATION has caused this bond to be signed in its name and on its behalf by its Executive Director and attested by its Secretary (the signatures of said officers may be by facsimile), and said officials by the execution hereof do adopt as and for their own proper signatures the signatures appearing on each of the Series 2019B Bonds, all as of the Dated Date specified above.

PUERTO RICO SALES TAX FINANCING CORPORATION

	By:	
	Name:	
	Title:	
ATTEST:		
By:Name:		
Name:		
Title:		

TRUSTEE'S CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

This bond is one of the Bonds described in the within mentioned Indenture and is one of the Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B, of the Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation.

•		THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON as Trustee
		By:Authorized Signatory
Date of authentication:	, 2019	

ASSIGNMENT

FOR VALUE RECEIVED:

(Please print or typewrite n	ame of undersigned transferor)
hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto	
(Please insert Social Security or other	er tax identifying number of Transferee)
	Please print or typewrite name and address, including zip code, of transferee
	eby irrevocably constitutes and appoints, attorney-in-fact, to transfer the same on the as registrar, with full power of substitution in the
Dated:	NOTE: The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as written on the within Bond in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any change whatsoever.
	Signature Guaranteed:

EXHIBIT C ACCRETED VALUE TABLE

Maturity	7/1/2024	7/1/2027	7/1/2029	7/1/2031	7/1/2033	7/1/2046	7/1/2051
Yield 8/1/18	4.250% 3,898.55	4.375% 3,399.15	4.375% 3,117.30	4.500% 2,814.05	4.500%	5.375% 1,137.35	5.625% 805.25
1/1/19	3,898.55	3,461.00	3,174.05	2,866.70	2,574.40 2,622.60	1,162.75	824.10
7/1/19	4,051.80	3,536.75	3,243.50	2,931.20	2,681.60	1,194.00	847.25
1/1/20	4,137.90	3,614.10	3,314.45	2,997.15	2,741.95	1,226.10	871.10
7/1/20	4,225.80	3,693.15	3,386.95	3,064.60	2,803.60	1,259.05	895.60
1/1/21	4,315.60	3,773.95	3,461.00	3,133.55	2,866.70	1,292.90	920.80
7/1/21	4,407.35	3,856.50	3,536.75	3,204.05	2,931.20	1,327.65	946.70
1/1/22	4,501.00	3,940.85	3,614.10	3,276.15	2,997.15	1,363.35	973.30
7/1/22	4,596.65	4,027.05	3,693.15	3,349.85	3,064.60	1,399.95	1,000.70
1/1/23	4,694.30	4,115.15	3.773.95	3,425.25	3,133.55	1,437.60	1,028.85
7/1/23	4,794.05	4,205.20	3,856.50	3,502.30	3,204.05	1,476.25	1,057.75
1/1/24	4,895.95	4,297.20	3,940.85	3,581.10	3,276.15	1,515.90	1,087.50
7/1/24	5,000.00	4,391.20	4,027.05	3,661.70	3,349.85	1,556.65	1,118.10
1/1/25	-	4,487.25	4,115.15	3,744.05	3,425.25	1,598.50	1,149.55
7/1/25	-	4,585.40	4,205.20	3,828.30	3,502.30	1,641.45	1,181.90
1/1/26	-	4,685.70	4,297.20	3,914.45	3,581.10	1,685.55	1,215.10
7/1/26	-	4,788.20	4,391.20	4,002.55	3,661.70	1,730.85	1,249.30
1/1/27	-	4,892.95	4,487.25	4,092.60	3,744.05	1,777.35	1,284.45
7/1/27	-	5,000.00	4,585.40	4,184.65	3,828.30	1,825.15	1,320.55
1/1/28	-	-	4,685.70	4,278.80	3,914.45	1,874.20	1,357.70
7/1/28	-	-	4,788.20	4,375.10	4,002.55	1,924.55	1,395.90
1/1/29	-	-	4,892.95	4,473.55	4,092.60	1,976.30	1,435.15
7/1/29	-	-	5,000.00	4,574.20	4,184.65	2,029.40	1,475.50
1/1/30	-	-	-	4,677.10	4,278.80	2,083.95	1,517.00
7/1/30	-	-	-	4,782.35	4,375.10	2,139.95	1,559.70
1/1/31	-	-	-	4,889.95	4,473.55	2,197.45	1,603.55
7/1/31	-	-	-	5,000.00	4,574.20	2,256.50	1,648.65
1/1/32	-	-	-	-	4,677.10	2,317.15	1,695.00
7/1/32	-	-	-	-	4,782.35	2,379.45	1,742.70
1/1/33	-	=	-	-	4,889.95	2,443.40	1,791.70
7/1/33	-	-	-	-	5,000.00	2,509.05	1,842.10
1/1/34	-	-	-	-	-	2,576.50	1,893.90
7/1/34	<u> </u>					2,645.70	1,947.15 2,001.95
7/1/35	-	-	-	-	-	2,716.80 2,789.85	2,001.95
1/1/36	-	-	-	-	-	2,864.80	2,116.15
7/1/36	_	_	_	_	_	2,941.80	2,175.65
1/1/37						3,020.85	2,236.85
7/1/37	_	-	_	-	-	3,102.05	2,299.75
1/1/38	-	-	_	_	-	3,185.45	2.364.45
7/1/38	_	_	-	-	-	3,271.05	2,430.95
1/1/39	-	-	-	-	-	3,358.95	2,499.30
7/1/39	-	-	-	-	-	3,449.20	2,569.60
1/1/40	-	-	-	-	-	3,541.90	2,641.85
7/1/40	-	-	-	-	-	3,637.10	2,716.15
1/1/41	-	-	-	-	-	3,734.85	2,792.55
7/1/41	-	-	-	-	-	3,835.25	2,871.10
1/1/42	-	-	-	-	-	3,938.30	2,951.85
7/1/42	-	-	-	-	-	4,044.15	3,034.85
1/1/43	-	-	-	-	-	4,152.85	3,120.20
7/1/43	-	-	-	-	-	4,264.45	3,208.00
1/1/44	-	-	-	-	-	4,379.05	3,298.20
7/1/44	-	=	-	=	=	4,496.75	3,390.95
1/1/45	-	-	-	-	-	4,617.60	3,486.35
7/1/45	-	-	-	-	-	4,741.70	3,584.40
1/1/46	-	-	-	-	-	4,869.10	3,685.20
7/1/46	-	-	-	-	-	5,000.00	3,788.85
1/1/47	-	-	-	-	-	-	3,895.40
7/1/47	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,005.00
1/1/48	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,117.60
7/1/48	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,233.45
1/1/49	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,352.50
7/1/49	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,474.90
1/1/50 7/1/50	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,600.75 4,730.15
1/1/51	-	-	-	-	<u> </u>		4,863.20
7/1/51	-	-	-	- -	- -	-	5,000.00
// 1/ 3 1	-	<u> </u>			-	<u> </u>	5,000.00

EXHIBIT C FORM OF APPROVING OPINION OF NIXON PEABODY LLP

February 12, 2019

Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation San Juan, Puerto Rico

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have examined a record of proceedings relating to the issuance by the Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation (the "Corporation"), an independent public corporation and instrumentality of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (the "Commonwealth"), constituting an entity separate from the Commonwealth and any other instrumentality of the Commonwealth, created pursuant to Act No. 91-2006, as amended, including as amended by Act No. 241, approved November 15, 2018 (as amended, "Act 91"), of its (a) \$8,277,930,717.80 aggregate principal amount at issuance of Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019A-1 (the "Series 2019A-1 Bonds"); (b) \$3,591,809,000 aggregate principal amount of Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019A-2 (the "Series 2019A-2 Bonds", and together with the Series 2019A-1 Bonds, the "Series 2019A Bonds"); (c) \$106,012,099.55 aggregate principal amount at issuance of Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B-1 (the "Series 2019B-1 Bonds"); and (d) \$45,570,000 aggregate principal amount of Restructured Sales Tax Bonds, Series 2019B-2 (the "Series 2019B-2 Bonds", and together with the Series 2019B-1 Bonds, the "Series 2019B Bonds"). The Series 2019A Bonds and the Series 2019B Bonds are collectively referred to herein as the "Series 2019 Bonds". The Series 2019 Bonds and any additional bonds authorized by the Master Trust Indenture (as such term is defined below) to be issued by the Corporation are collectively referred to herein as the "Bonds".

The Series 2019 Bonds are being issued under and secured by the Master Trust Indenture, dated as of the date hereof (the "Master Trust Indenture"), by and between the Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (the "Trustee"), as supplemented by the First Supplemental Trust Indenture, dated as of the date hereof, by and between the Corporation and the Trustee (the "First Supplemental Trust Indenture") and the Second Supplemental Trust Indenture, dated as of the date hereof, by and between the Corporation and the Trustee (the "Second Supplemental Trust Indenture", and together with the First Supplemental Trust Indenture and the Master Trust Indenture, the "Indentures"). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Indentures.

On May 5, 2017, the Financial Oversight and Management Board for Puerto Rico (the "Oversight Board"), established pursuant to the provisions of the Puerto Rico Oversight, Management, and Economic Stability Act ("PROMESA"), filed a voluntary petition for relief for the Corporation pursuant to PROMESA in the United States District Court for the District of Puerto Rico (the "Title III Court").

The Oversight Board subsequently filed with the Title III Court a *Third Amended Title III Plan of Adjustment of Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation* dated January 9, 2019 (such plan, in the form approved in the *Amended Order and Judgment Confirming the Third Amended Title III Plan of Adjustment of Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation* entered February 5, 2019 (the "Judgment") and as modified pursuant to any revisions made at or subsequent to the Confirmation Hearing and as may have been modified pursuant to Section 313 of PROMESA, the "COFINA Plan of Adjustment"). On February 5, 2019, the Title III Court also issued a *Memorandum of Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in connection with Confirmation of the Third Amended Title III Plan of Adjustment of Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation* containing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of law with respect to the Bonds, and matters relevant to the Bonds, in addition to, and consistent with those of the Judgment (collectively with the Judgment, the "Confirmation Order").

The Series 2019 Bonds are being issued for the purposes set forth in the Indentures. The Series 2019 Bonds are dated, mature, are redeemable prior to maturity, are payable and bear interest or accrete in value in the manner and upon the terms set forth in the Indentures. The Series 2019 Bonds are issuable in the form of fully registered bonds in the denominations set forth in the Indentures and will be initially registered in the name of Cede & Co., as registered owner and nominee for The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, which will act as securities depository for the Series 2019 Bonds.

As Transaction Counsel we have examined (i) Act 91, (ii) certified copies of the proceedings of the Corporation authorizing the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds, (iii) the Indentures, (iv) one Series 2019 Bond, as executed and authenticated, (v) the COFINA Plan of Adjustment, and (vi) the Confirmation Order. We have also examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of such instruments, certificates and documents as we have deemed necessary or appropriate for the purposes of rendering the opinions set forth below.

In such examinations, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, the authenticity of all documents tendered to us as originals and the conformity to original documents of all documents submitted to us as certified or photostatic copies. As to questions of fact material to our opinion we have relied upon the certified proceedings and other certifications of public officials furnished to us without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation.

With respect to opinions set forth below, we have assumed legality of PROMESA and all determinations made, and actions taken, by the Commonwealth, the Oversight Board, the Title III Court and the Corporation pursuant thereto. In addition, with respect to the opinions 1, 2, 3 and 4 below, we have expressly relied upon the determinations of the Title III Court contained in the Confirmation Order, portions of which are also set forth in the Recitals of the Master Trust Indenture.

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code") sets forth certain requirements which must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the Series 2019A-1 Bonds and Series 2019B-1 Bonds for interest thereon to be and remain excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes. Noncompliance with such requirements could cause the interest on the Series 2019A-1 Bonds and Series 2019B-1 Bonds to be included in gross income for Federal income tax purposes retroactive to the date of issue of the Series 2019A-1 Bonds and Series 2019B-1 Bonds.

Pursuant to the Indentures and/or the Tax Certificate as to Arbitrage and the Provisions of Sections 103 and 141-150 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 of even date herewith (the "Tax Certificate"), the Corporation, the Puerto Rico Fiscal Agency and Financial Advisory Authority ("AAFAF") and the Commonwealth have covenanted to comply with the applicable requirements of the Code in order to maintain the exclusion of the interest on the Series 2019A-1 Bonds and Series 2019B-1 Bonds from gross income for Federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Code. In addition, the Corporation, AAFAF and the Commonwealth have made certain representations and certifications in the Indentures and/or Tax Certificate. We have not undertaken to independently verify the accuracy of those certifications and representations.

Based upon the foregoing, and subject to the assumptions, limitations and qualifications set forth herein, we are of the opinion that:

- 1. Act 91 is valid in all respects material to the matters covered in this opinion.
- 2. The Corporation is duly constituted and validly existing as an independent public corporation and instrumentality of the Commonwealth, constituting an entity independent and separate from the Commonwealth and any other instrumentality of the Commonwealth.
- 3. The Indentures have been duly and lawfully authorized, executed and delivered by the Corporation. The Indentures are in full force and effect and are valid and binding upon the Corporation and enforceable in accordance with their respective terms.
- 4. The Corporation is authorized and entitled to issue the Series 2019 Bonds and, upon the execution and delivery thereof and upon authentication by the Trustee, the Series 2019 Bonds will be duly and validly issued and will constitute valid and binding special obligations of the Corporation entitled to the benefits of the Indentures and enforceable in accordance with their respective terms. The Statutory Lien creates the valid pledge and the valid lien upon the right, title and interest of the Corporation in the Trust Estate in favor of the Trustee (for the benefit of the Holders of Bonds) which it purports to create, subject only to the provisions of the Indentures permitting the withdrawal, payment, setting apart or appropriation thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth in the Indentures.
- 5. Under existing law, assuming compliance with the aforementioned tax covenants and the accuracy of the aforementioned representations and certifications, interest (including original issue discount) on the Series 2019A-1 Bonds and the Series 2019B-1 Bonds is excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Code. We are also of the opinion that such interest is not treated as a preference item in calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed under the Code. We express no opinion regarding interest and other amounts with respect to the Series 2019A-1 Bonds and the Series 2019B-1 Bonds that have accrued from the dated date of such bonds to the date hereof.
- 6. Interest on the Series 2019A-1 Bonds and the Series 2019B-1 Bonds is exempt from state, Commonwealth and local income taxation.

Except as stated in paragraphs (5) and (6) above, we express no opinion as to: (a) any other Federal, state, Commonwealth, local or foreign tax consequences of the ownership or disposition of, or the amount, accrual or receipt of interest on, the Series 2019 Bonds, or (b) any transaction that is not expressly referenced in this opinion, or the effect of any such transaction on either (I) the character or treatment of interest on the Series 2019 Bonds for Federal, state, Commonwealth, local or foreign tax purposes, or (II) the amount of interest on the Series 2019 Bonds that will be treated as interest for Federal, state, Commonwealth, local or foreign tax purposes. Furthermore, we express no opinion as to any Federal, state, Commonwealth, local or foreign tax law consequences with respect to the Series 2019 Bonds, or the interest thereon, if any action is taken with respect to the Series 2019 Bonds or the proceeds thereof upon the advice or approval of other counsel.

It is to be understood that the rights of the holders of the Series 2019 Bonds and the enforceability thereof and of the Statutory Lien and the Indentures may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors' rights heretofore or hereafter enacted to the extent constitutionally applicable and that their enforcement may also be subject to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases.

Respectfully submitted,

EXHIBIT D ACCRETED VALUE TABLE

Maturity	7/1/2024	7/1/2027	7/1/2029	7/1/2031	7/1/2033	7/1/2046	7/1/2051
Yield	4.250%	4.375%	4.375%	4.500%	4.500%	5.375%	5.625%
8/1/18	3,898.55	3,399.15	3,117.30	2,814.05	2,574.40	1,137.35	805.25
1/1/19	3,967.50	3,461.00	3,174.05	2,866.70	2,622.60	1,162.75	824.10
7/1/19	4,051.80	3,536.75	3,243.50	2,931.20	2,681.60	1,194.00	847.25
1/1/20	4,137.90	3,614.10	3,314.45	2,997.15	2,741.95	1,226.10	871.10
7/1/20	4,225.80	3,693.15	3,386.95	3,064.60	2,803.60	1,259.05	895.60
1/1/21	4,315.60	3,773.95	3,461.00	3,133.55	2,866.70	1,292.90	920.80
7/1/21	4,407.35	3,856.50	3,536.75	3,204.05	2,931.20	1,327.65	946.70
1/1/22	4,501.00	3,940.85	3,614.10	3,276.15	2,997.15	1,363.35	973.30
7/1/22	4,596.65	4,027.05	3,693.15	3,349.85	3,064.60	1,399.95	1,000.70
1/1/23	4,694.30	4,115.15	3,773.95	3,425.25	3,133.55	1,437.60	1,028.85
7/1/23	4,794.05	4,205.20	3,856.50	3,502.30	3,204.05	1,476.25	1,057.75
1/1/24	4,895.95	4,297.20	3,940.85	3,581.10	3,276.15	1,515.90	1,087.50
7/1/24	5,000.00	4,391.20	4,027.05	3,661.70	3,349.85	1,556.65	1,118.10
1/1/25	-	4,487.25	4,115.15	3,744.05	3,425.25	1,598.50	1,149.55
7/1/25	-	4,585.40	4,205.20	3,828.30	3,502.30	1,641.45	1,181.90
1/1/26	-	4,685.70	4,297.20	3,914.45	3,581.10	1,685.55	1,215.10
7/1/26	-	4,788.20	4,391.20	4,002.55	3,661.70	1,730.85	1,249.30
1/1/27	-	4,892.95	4,487.25	4,092.60	3,744.05	1,777.35	1,284.45
7/1/27	-	5,000.00	4,585.40	4,184.65	3,828.30	1,825.15	1,320.55
1/1/28	-	-	4,685.70	4,278.80	3,914.45	1,874.20	1,357.70
7/1/28	-	-	4,788.20	4,375.10	4,002.55	1,924.55	1,395.90
1/1/29	-	-	4,892.95	4,473.55	4,092.60	1,976.30	1,435.15
7/1/29	-	-	5,000.00	4,574.20	4,184.65	2,029.40	1,475.50
1/1/30	-	-	-	4,677.10	4,278.80	2,083.95	1,517.00
7/1/30	-	-	-	4,782.35	4,375.10	2,139.95	1,559.70
1/1/31	-	-	-	4,889.95	4,473.55	2,197.45	1,603.55
7/1/31	-	-	-	5,000.00	4,574.20	2,256.50	1,648.65
1/1/32	-	-	-	-	4,677.10	2,317.15	1,695.00
7/1/32	-	-	-	-	4,782.35	2,379.45	1,742.70
1/1/33	-	-	-	-	4,889.95	2,443.40	1,791.70
7/1/33	-	-	-	-	5,000.00	2,509.05	1,842.10
1/1/34	-	-	-	-	=	2,576.50	1,893.90
7/1/34	-	-	-	-	-	2,645.70	1,947.15
1/1/35	-	-	-	-	-	2,716.80	2,001.95
7/1/35	-	-	-	-	-	2,789.85	2,058.25
1/1/36	-	-	-	-	-	2,864.80	2,116.15
7/1/36	-	-	-	-	-	2,941.80	2,175.65
1/1/37	-	-	-	-	-	3,020.85	2,236.85
7/1/37	-	-	-	-	-	3,102.05	2,299.75
1/1/38	-	-	-	-	-	3,185.45	2,364.45
7/1/38	-	-	-	-	-	3,271.05	2,430.95
1/1/39	-	-	-	-	-	3,358.95	2,499.30
7/1/39	-	-	-	-	-	3,449.20	2,569.60
1/1/40	-	-	-	-	-	3,541.90	2,641.85
7/1/40	-	-	-	-	-	3,637.10	2,716.15
1/1/41	-	-	-	-	-	3,734.85	2,792.55
7/1/41	-	-	-	-	-	3,835.25	2,871.10
1/1/42	-	-	-	-	-	3,938.30	2,951.85
7/1/42	-	-	-	-	=	4,044.15	3,034.85
1/1/43	-	-	-	-	-	4,152.85	3,120.20
7/1/43	-	-	-	-	-	4,264.45	3,208.00
1/1/44	-	-	-	-	-	4,379.05	3,298.20
7/1/44	-	-	-	-	-	4,496.75	3,390.95
1/1/45	-	-	-	-	-	4,617.60	3,486.35
7/1/45	-	-	-	-	-	4,741.70	3,584.40
1/1/46	-	-	-	-	-	4,869.10	3,685.20
7/1/46	-	-	-	-	-	5,000.00	3,788.85
1/1/47	-	-	-	-	-	-	3,895.40
7/1/47	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,005.00
1/1/48	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,117.60
7/1/48	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,233.45
1/1/49	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,352.50
7/1/49	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,474.90
1/1/50	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,600.75
7/1/50	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,730.15
1/1/51	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,863.20
7/1/51	-	-	-	-	-	-	5,000.00